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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

IR RE

For the year ended 31 December

HZE12A31BLEE

2019 2020 2021

2019%F 20204F 20214

(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)

(AREEFT) (AR®EFT) (AR#F )

Revenue g 812,145 1,402,604 1,541,399

Gross profit EF 422,843 716,004 918,483

Gross profit margin FEH=E 52.1% 51.0% 59.6%
Profit and total comprehensive FREMNREEB AL

income for the year 218,021 345,480 301,770
Adjusted profit and total FREFHE G K2 A BT

comprehensive income

for the year® 218,021 361,552 610,288
Basic earnings per Share (HK cents) &% E Az FI (L) 13.63 21.59 18.86
Dividend per Share (HK cents) SRR B (B 2.5 3.75 3.75
Return on equity (%)@ EmEHmE(FHL)e 18.0% 22.7% 17.1%
Return on total assets (%)® BEENHRER(EHL)O 13.0% 12.9% 9.3%
Net cash from operation KBRS 150,346 492,267 553,428

As at 31 December
M12831H
2019 2020 2021
20194 20204 20214
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AREFT) (AR®ETT) (AR¥FT)
Total assets HEE 1,677,341 2,675,408 3,237,621
of which: He:

Bank balances and cash RITEBR LIRS 243,312 139,603 180,854
Total liabilities waE 467,097 1,156,280 1,469,877

of which: Hep:

Bank borrowings RITIE 211,426 376,864 522,015
Total equity R 1,210,244 1,519,128 1,767,744
Number of shares in issue (million) — ZE{TRMNE B (BEK) 1,600 1,600 1,600
Net assets per Share (RMB) FREEFEARE) 0.756 0.949 1.105
Gearing ratio (%)“ BEABXXR(BEIL)® 17.5% 24.8% 29.5%
Notes: BT
(1) Adjusted profit and total comprehensive income for the year is calculated by (1) FREHEBFNRE2MBABEIIEZFA

mﬂ&f«éﬁ”&l?\i@%’EW?H?Z%KF"“”

profit and total comprehensive income for the year less fair value change on

contingent consideration payables. FTEGH -

@ Return on equity is calculated by profit and total comprehensive income for @) *& B R T F Wim A R 2 E A B
the year over total equity. FRAMBRERS T G o

®3) Return on total assets is calculated by profit and total comprehensive income 3) REERBHRETIEFNEHREEBRALR
for the year over total assets. BRALEETESE -

@) Gearing ratio is calculated by bank borrowings over total equity. (@) B E B BRI RITIE KR A B =T

,wr/ath.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (Continued)
MBRE(E)
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Dear Shareholders,

I would like to express my gratitude for your interest in and support for
Perennial Energy Holdings Limited (“Perennial Energy” or the “Company”).

Despite operating in a complex and volatile business environment in the
past year, the Company maintained our business motto of “safety first,
customers first” while making appropriate adjustments to our development
strategy, resulting in an improved operational performance over last year.
On behalf of the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”), | am
pleased to present to our shareholders the annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the
“year under review”).

Industry Review

China continued to be a global leader in economic development and
pandemic control in 2021. Rapid economic growth increases the usage of
energy, and coal remains the anchor of China’s energy supply. Overcoming
adverse factors such as the pandemic and extreme weather, China’s raw
coal production in 2021 amounted to 4.07 billion tonnes, representing a
growth of 4.7% over last year.

Benefiting from state-wide affirmative economic policies, the Southwest
region of China maintained fast growth in areas such as infrastructure and
industrial investment, resulting in a stable growth in energy demand. In
2021, raw coal production of enterprises above designated size in Guizhou
province (comprising enterprises with annual production of raw coal of
300,000 tonnes or above) amounted to over 131 million tonnes, representing
a growth of 7.6% over last year.

Due to growing imbalance in supply and demand, the coking coal market
both in Southwest China and across China experienced a boom in the past
year. However, state-promulgated industrial regulatory policies as well as
fluctuations in supplies of coking coal imports from the international market
have also led to increasing volatility in coking coal prices.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)
EREHmEE (&)

Business Review

The Group mainly owns and operates three underground coal mines,
namely Hongguo Coal Mine, Baogushan Coal Mine, and Xiejiahegou
Coal Mine, in Panzhou, Guizhou Province, of which the permitted annual
production capacity of each of Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan Coal
Mine is 600,000 tonnes respectively, while the Xiejiahegou Coal Mine is an
asset acquired by the Group on 1 January 2020, with a permitted annual
production capacity of 450,000 tonnes.

During the year under review, raw coal production of the Group was
1,369,544 tonnes, representing a decrease of approximately 16.7%
over 1,643,280 tonnes last year, mainly due to operational constraints
encountered in Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan Coal Mine as a result
of small faults. The Group has been preparing new work faces, hoping to
minimise the disruption on production resulting from the faults in the coming
year. During the year under review, under the impact of the decrease in
production, total sales volume of coal products from the Group’s three
self-operated underground coal mines was 1,065,233 tonnes, representing
a decline of approximately 18.0% over 1,298,928 tonnes last year.

Driven by the strong market prices of coking coal, the annual average
selling price of clean coal of the Group was approximately RMB1,926.85
per tonne, representing a substantial increase of approximately 61.8% over
last year. Such substantial increase in average selling price helped offset
the impact of the decrease in production capacity. The Group recorded
revenue of approximately RMB1,541.4 million during the year under review,
representing an increase of approximately 9.9% over RMB1,402.6 million
last year. Gross profit and gross profit margin was approximately RMB918.5
million and 59.6% respectively, representing an increase of approximately
28.3% and 8.6 percentage points respectively over last year.

S AEI

RN EBHA RCEMIREINE BN =
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TERETEBTIIE - BERFRDETEDRK
NEE - NEBFE  TESTHRAIFE K
SE B &8 =8 T RIEEER IR EREHE
£ 251,065,233 + &K F 7 491,298,928/
TFE%918.0% °

SZEBITE RN AEBERFREEFY
EEBNAENEARY1,926.857T + 8 FF ARG
BRH61.8% - FTHEEHAE LRFEE T E
BETRAOTE  AEERLEEFESGENE
ARBEH15414BET REFZAREBL
1,402.6 5 870 7R 499.9% + EFMEF K5
L AANREEI185H BT 5E9.6% « BREAF
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Prospects

On 26 January 2022, China’s State Council issued the “Opinions of the
State Council on Supporting Guizhou in Breaking a New Path to Large-
scale Development of Western China in the New Era” with a 32-point policy
to support Guizhou’s development in the new era. The policy encourages
the coal industry to “further enhance the energy sector, increase exploration
of coal resources, promote resource integration and optimisation,
accelerate the construction of large-scale coal bases”, which will create
new opportunities for the Company and other major local coal enterprises in
Guizhou.

Looking ahead to 2022, as China’s industrial production activities continue
to recover and grow while supply chain reforms of the coal industry deepen,
it is expected that the coking coal market in Southwest China will maintain a
tight supply-demand balance.

Notably, given the global energy shortage and inflation of raw materials,
China’s regulatory measures on the coal industry will be more flexible,
precise and specific. Generally, coal importing countries will be more
exposed to unpredictable fluctuations in coal exports and price fluctuations
in the coking coal market. With the resilience of China’s economy,
particularly Southwest China where there is continuous growth momentum,
the stable and positive fundamentals of the coal market, particularly the
coking coal market, is unlikely to change.

The Group will remain vigilant and review its business strategy regularly
to actively resolve any complications that may arise in its operations. We
will endeavour to fulfill combined trial operation conditions for expanding
the permitted production capacity of each of Hongguo Coal Mine and
Baogushan Coal Mine from 600,000 tonnes to 1.2 million tonnes in 2022,
which will serve as a foundation for future growth.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)
EREHmEE (&)

Acknowledgement

With generous support from government authorities, long-term trust from
business partners, and the concerted efforts of our entire staff, we will
maintain our business motto of “safety first, customers first”, fulfill our
corporate social responsibilities, and strive for better performance in the
year ahead. | would like to express my utmost appreciation for the support
and assistance from across various sectors that Perennial Energy enjoyed.

Yu Bangping
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 23 March 2022
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

The Company’s directors (the “Directors”) and senior management of the
Group as at the date of this annual report are as follows:

Directors

Mr. Yu Bangping, aged 53, the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
executive Director of the Company, joined the Group in 1990 and is a
founder of the Group. Mr. Yu is also the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”). He is also
a director of & M A Z= # & 82 JR 1 # B R A 7] (Jiutai Bangda Energy
Development Co., Ltd*) (“Jiutai Bangda”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. He is responsible for the overall management and strategic
planning and development of the Group, including day-to-day business
management, overseeing sales and marketing matters as well as managing
external relationships with business partners.

Mr. Yu has more than 30 years of experience in the coal mining industry.
He has acted as the legal representative of both Hongguo Coal Mine and
Baogushan Coal Mine since the acquisition of such mines.

Apart from Mr. Yu's contributions to the Group, he was appointed as the
vice president of the township enterprises association in Liupanshui in 2004,
appointed as a deputy of the National People’s Congress of Pan county in
March 2005, recognised as a “Model Labourer” by the Liupanshui township
in April 2005, recognised as the 2008 outstanding private entrepreneur in
Guizhou Province, recognised as one of the top 10 influential entrepreneurs
in 2009, recognised as the “Guizhou Star of Entrepreneurship” in 2010
and recognised as a “Model Labourer” in Guizhou in April 2010. Mr. Yu
has also been recognised for his social contributions to his community. He
was recognised for his individual support of social welfare in April 2007,
recognised for his outstanding contributions for disaster relief in April 2008
and recognised as the “Moral Model” for helping others in Liupanshui in
November 2010.

Mr. Yu graduated from & /I & ¥ @ 5 H ¥ 2 & (Guizhou Province
Professional Secondary School*) majoring in underground mining. He is the
father of Mr. Yu Zhilong, an executive Director.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS (Continued)

EEhafEREREFE(E)

Mr. Sun Dawei, aged 49, joined the Group in 2008 and was appointed as
executive Director in March 2018. He is also a director of Jiutai Bangda. Mr.
Sun is responsible for the daily business operations of the Group. He has
over 12 years of experience in coal mining industry. Mr. Sun graduated from
Dafang County Vocational High School.

Mr. Wang Shize, aged 53, joined the Group in 2003 and was appointed as
executive Director in March 2018. He is also a director of Jiutai Bangda.
Mr. Wang is responsible for the daily business operations of the Group. He
is also responsible for administration and human resources management
of the Group. Mr. Wang has over 17 years of experience in the coal mining
industry. From June 2011 to November 2017, he was the supervisor of &
M FPEEERFAZEAR AT (Guizhou Bangda Energy Development Co., Ltd.”)
(“Guizhou Bangda”). Mr. Wang holds a diploma in economic management
awarded by Guizhou Provincial Party School.

Mr. Li Xuezhong, aged 53, joined the Group in 2018 and was appointed as
executive Director and the Chief Operating Officer of the Group in March
2018 and April 2019 respectively. Mr. Li assists the Chief Executive Officer
in handling PRC legal matters and the administrative management of the
Group. He has taken senior management roles in different enterprises in
China and possesses years of experience in corporate management. Mr.
Li holds a bachelor’s degree in economics awarded by Shaanxi Institute
of Finance and Economics. He obtained his accountant qualification from
Ministry of Personnel of the People’s Republic of China.

Mr. Lam Chik Shun, Marcus, aged 44, joined the Group in 2017 and was
appointed as executive Director and the Chief Strategy Officer of the Group
in March 2018 and April 2019 respectively. Mr. Lam is also a member
of the remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”). He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
He works closely with the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer as well as the Board to develop corporate strategies and to guide
the business of the Group through detailed strategic planning procedures.
He also focuses on strengthening the Group’s core competency and
identifying future growth organically and externally. Mr. Lam has over 19
years of experience working in the financial industry, focusing on financial
management and investment. Mr. Lam holds a bachelor’s degree in
commerce awarded by the University of British Columbia and a master of
business administration degree awarded by Warwick Business School. He is
a Chartered Financial Analyst charter holder. Mr. Lam was an independent
non-executive director of Great Wall Terroir Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Great Wall Belt & Road Holdings Limited) (stock code: 524), the
shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS (Continued)

Mr. Yu Zhilong, aged 34, was appointed as executive Director in September
2019. Mr. Yu Zhilong acted as the deputy manager of Guizhou Bangda from
August 2011 to April 2016. He was appointed as the manager of &/ A ZEH
ZERLRFE AR AR E S A7 (Guizhou Jiutai Bangda Energy Development
Co., Ltd. Electricity and Machinery Branch®), the branch office of an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, in July 2016. He is also a director
of EMEFHEEAREEMR AR (Guizhou Fu Bangda Consultancy Services
Co., Ltd.") (“Guizhou Fu Bangda”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. Mr. Yu Zhilong was also appointed as the legal representative
of Guizhou Fu Bangda in June 2017. He graduated from Guizhou University
and holds a bachelor’s degree in business management. Mr. Yu Zhilong is
the son of Mr. Yu Bangping, the Chairman of the Company.

Mr. Yu Xiao, aged 39, was appointed as executive Director in September
2019. Mr. Yu Xiao acted as the deputy general manager of Guizhou Bangda
from March 2017 to February 2019. He was appointed as the chief executive
officer of Jiutai Bangda in March 2019. Mr. Yu Xiao was appointed to certain
posts including accounting clerk, account manager and chief accountant
in finance department of & /IR eEFE(LBREE QT (Guizhou Qiangui
Tianneng Coking Co., Ltd.*) from September 2006 to February 2017. Mr.
Yu graduated from Guizhou University and holds a bachelor degree in
management.

Mr. Fong Wai Ho, aged 41, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in November 2018. Mr. Fong is also the chairman
of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) and
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee. He
has 17 years of experience in auditing and business advisory services, he
is the founder and practitioner of UBC & Co., Certified Public Accountants
from March 2013 to present. Mr. Fong was the practicing director of
Andes Glacier CPA Limited from March 2017 to March 2020. He holds a
bachelor’s degree in business administration (Honours) in accountancy
and management information systems awarded by City University of Hong
Kong. Mr. Fong is a practicing Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong,
a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants as well as
a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is a
member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia and
the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada, respectively. He ceased
to be a member of CPA Australia with effect from 1 February 2022.

EEhafEREREFE(E)
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS (Continued)

EEhafEREREFE(E)

Mr. Fong is currently an independent non-executive director of Global
Sweeteners Holdings Limited (stock code: 3889) and Great Wall Terroir
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Great Wall Belt & Road Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 524), the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director of CT
Environmental Group Limited from August 2020 to September 2021, the
shares of which were delisted on the Stock Exchange with effect from 10
September 2021.

Mr. Punnya Niraan De Silva, aged 37, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in November 2018. Mr. De Silva is also a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. He has over
14 years of experience in the financial industry. From November 2017
to present, Mr. De Silva worked as a consultant for Ho Chi Minh City
Development Joint Stock Commercial Bank. He holds a bachelor’s degree
in commerce and economics awarded by Monash University Australia.

Ms. Cheung Suet Ting, Samantha, age 39, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in November 2018. Ms. Cheung is also
a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. She has
over 9 years of experience in private equity investments and mergers and
acquisitions. From November 2017 to May 2019, Ms. Cheung worked as
finance executive at Breakthrough Innovation Lab, a venture builder of many
promising and innovative tech startups. She currently acts as investment
manager of Animoca Brands Corporation Limited (ASX: AB1). Ms. Cheung
holds a bachelor’s degree in Economics and Mathematics awarded by
Brandeis University.

Mr. Wang Xiufeng, aged 64, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in September 2019. Mr. Wang has over 32 years’
experience in coal mining industry. He had worked in & /| % /& & 5% &t
%t B (Guizhou Coal Mine Design and Research Institute®) (“Guizhou Coal
Mine Institute”) and has been the mine design project leader in various
coal mines. Mr. Wang was the chairman of the board of directors and
legal representative of &/ i E T2 AR FE AT (Guizhou Coal Mine
Geological Engineering Co., Ltd.*) from December 2012 to April 2018. He
was also the vice president of Guizhou Coal Mine Institute from March
2003 to April 2018. Mr. Wang was the senior engineer of Guizhou Coal
Mine Institute from March 1997 to April 2018. He obtained a certificate of
Registered Mining Mineral Exploration & Design Engineer from the Ministry
of Construction of the People’s Republic of China.

FARERBREEEZERBR AR (KROR
5% - 3889) REMA NERABRA A (AIEK
W —RERBR AR (BRGHRS - 524))
BB IENITES - ZE A AR A FT
£ o 74202048 A E2021F9 A fEEHE
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RIBL1D 8202149 A10 B R B X FRER K2 ©
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BB -
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FHREBR o R GBI BN & EIR R ATk
(TEMERER ) - WL EREEND RS
HHAEA - THEEB2012F12 A 20184
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS (Continued)

He is currently an independent non-executive director of Feishang
Anthracite Resources Limited (stock code: 1738) which is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. He graduated from Chongging University and
holds a bachelor’s degree in underground coal mining.

Senior Management

Mr. Lau Kai Ming, aged 37, joined the Group in March 2021 and is the
Chief Financial Officer of the Group. Mr. Lau holds a bachelor’s degree
in Commerce awarded by Curtin University of Technology and Master’s
degree in science awarded by City University of Hong Kong and Manchester
Metropolitan University respectively. He is a member of each of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the CPA Australia, the
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute, the Chartered Governance
Institute and the Chartered Institutes of Management Accountant. Mr. Lau
has extensive experience in financial management, auditing and company
secretarial matters. Prior to joining the Group, he served as the Financial
Controller of a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Liu Yongfu, aged 50, joined the Group in 2017 and has been the
Financial Director since April 2017. Mr. Liu is responsible for the financial
management of the Group. From April 2017 to present, he has acted as
financial controller at Jiutai Bangda. Mr. Liu obtained the qualification as
certified public accountant in China. He obtained the qualification as an
intermediate accountant in China. Mr. Liu obtained a diploma in material
management from & M & ¥ & 2 & (Guizhou Materials School*). He
graduated from R E (Central Party School*) with diploma in economic
management.

Mr. Yu Honggang, aged 48, joined the Group in 2008 and has been the
General Manager of the Group since September 2016. Mr. Yu is responsible
for the Group’s production and safety management. From 2015 to
present, He has been the general manager of the Hongguo Coal Mine and
Baogushan Coal Mine. From 2008 to 2015, Mr. Yu worked at Hongguo Coal
Mine during which he acted as chief of Hongguo Coal Mine from 2013 to
2015. Mr. Yu holds a bachelor’s degree in coal mining technology awarded
by Hunan University of Science and Technology. He also graduated from &
N LB B 2 24 (Guizhou Province Professional Secondary School*)
majoring in mining technology.

EEhafEREREFE(E)
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS (Continued)

EEhafEREREFE(E)

Mr. Tong Yu, aged 48, joined the Group in 2017 and has been the Deputy
General Manager since June 2017. Mr. Tong is responsible for the sales and
business development of the Group. He has over 16 years of experience in
the coal mining industry. From June 2017 to present, Mr. Tong has acted
as deputy general manager of Jiutai Bangda. He graduated from Guizhou
University with a diploma in business management. Mr. Tong also obtained
a bachelor’s degree in marketing at Xinan University. He received his
qualification certificate of specialty and technology specializing in business
economics.

Mr. Liu Lizhi, aged 48, joined the Group in 2014 and has been the Deputy
General Manager since 1 September 2016. Mr. Liu is responsible for the
Group’s technical R&D as well as mechanical and electrical management.
He graduated from 8 Z#& %20t (Xiangtan Mining Institute*) (now known as
the Hunan University of Science and Technology) with a bachelor’s degree
in engineering. Mr. Liu was qualified the professional technical position as
senior engineer by the personnel department of Guizhou Province.

Mr. Wan Weiping, aged 59, joined the Group in 2009 and has been the
Chief Engineer and Technical Manager since September 2016. Mr. Wan is
responsible for the technical supervision of the Group. He graduated from jif
EIREEMT (Xiangtan Mining Institute®) (now known as the Hunan University
of Science and Technology) with a bachelor’s degree in engineering. Mr.
Wan was qualified the professional technical position as senior engineer by
the personnel department of Guizhou Province.

Mr. Wang Long, aged 47, joined the Group in 2011 and has been the Chief
Accountant since September 2016. Mr. Wang is responsible for accounting
supervision of the Group. From September 2016 to present, he has worked
in the financial affairs department of Jiutai Bangda as Chief Accountant.
Mr. Wang holds a diploma in economics and bank management. He was
qualified as registered accountant.

* For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Industry Review

China’s economy concluded 2021 with a strong recovery, recording an
8.1% Gross Domestic Product (“GDP”) growth year-on-year (“YoY”). That
was the fastest pace in a decade, narrowly beating the IMF and World Bank
expectations, and well beyond the target set by the central government.
The growth was partially fuelled by the world’s reliance on Chinese goods,
as the country’s successful novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) outbreak
prevention and control methods yielded excellent outcomes and kept its
industry chains operating stably without significant disruptions. China’s
total annual export was valued at nearly US$3.4 trillion during 2021, with
trade surplus increasing by approximately 20.4% when compared to a year
ago. Industrial production grew by approximately 9.6% YoY, contributing to
the economic momentum. Although China’s annual crude steel production
retreated by approximately 3% compared to the levels recorded in 2020, it
remained the largest globally.

Among the various provinces, Guangdong, Jiangsu and Shandong remained
as the largest GDP contributors. After growing at more than doubled the
national average growth rate in 2020, Guizhou continued its robust growth,
with its GDP rising by approximately 8.1% YoY in 2021. The past two-
year average growth rate of Guizhou is also one of the highest among all
provinces. Echoing results were recorded in the neighbouring provinces
of Yunnan and Sichuan, showing the region’s strong momentum and
extraordinary resilience.

In an attempt to strive for a balancing act between the growth and national
carbon neutralisation targets, China’s energy sector experienced a volatile
year in 2021, with a consumption boom in the first half of the year, followed
by actions to lower power consumption in the second half. Despite the
volatility, the overall average prices in 2021 increased by approximately
61.8% YoY.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BERE @RI (E)

Business Review

The Group mainly owns and operates three underground coal mines in
Panzhou City, Guizhou Province, including #2441 R $EAT R H& (Pan County
Hongguo Town Hongguo Coal Mine*) (‘Hongguo Coal Mine”), #& 5441 R %S
AL EHE (Pan County Hongguo Town Baogushan Coal Mine*) (“Baogushan
Coal Mine”) and #3540 SOME K (Pan County Yangchang Village
Xiejiahegou Coal Mine*) (“Xiejiahegou Coal Mine”).

Acquisition of Xiejiahegou Coal Mine

Xiejiahegou Coal Mine was acquired by Jiutai Bangda, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, on 1 January 2020. As stated in the
Company’s announcements dated 5 November 2019, 22 November
2019, 26 November 2019 and 2 January 2020 and the Company’s circular
dated 19 December 2019, the vendors of the Xiejiahegou Coal Mine (the
“Vendors”) guarantee to Jiutai Bangda that each of audited net profit for
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, as well as the year ending
31 December 2022 generated by the Xiejiahegou Coal Mine shall not be
less than RMB150.0 million (the “Profit Guarantee”). In the event of breach
of the Profit Guarantee, the Vendors shall pay the compensation(s) to
Jiutai Bangda, subject to an overall cap of RMB300.0 million. On the other
hand, in the event where any of the audited net profit for the year ended 31
December 2020, 31 December 2021 and year ending 31 December 2022
generated by the Xiejiahegou Coal Mine is greater than RMB150.0 million,
Jiutai Bangda shall pay bonus(es) to the Vendors, subject to an overall cap
of RMB300.0 million.

The audited net profit of the Xiejiahegou Coal Mine for the year ended 31
December 2021 exceeded RMB150 million, meeting the Profit Guarantee for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “year under review”), a fair
value loss of contingent consideration payable of approximately RMB308.5
million is incurred. Driven by strong operational performance and higher coal
market price, the net profit generated from Xiejiahegou Coal Mine exceeded
the Profit Guarantee by over 51.2% for the year ended 31 December 2021,
and the Company expects that outstanding performance Xiejiahegou Coal
Mine would continue in the year ending 31 December 2022. Based on the
valuation of fair value change in contingent consideration payable, a fair
value loss of approximately RMB308.5 million is recognized for the year
under review.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BB @RI (E)

Resource and Reserve ERK B
The following table indicates the resource and reserve data of the three TREATZ(ERENERE RFESEIE -

mines:

Hongguo Baogushan Xiejiahegou
Coal Mine Coal Mine Coal Mine

ALSRIR TR BHLEE  BSOTEERE

Resource data under the JORC Code* RIEJORCR A ENERE

Summary (as at 31 December 2021)’ 25 (FA20215FE128318)!

Measured resources (kt) HEERE(THE) 17,585 10,662 -

Indicated resources (kt) ZHlERE(TRE) 7,800 24,700 15,908

Inferred resources (kt) & R=(Fm) 13,000 7,000 10,350

Reserve data under the JORC Code* RIEJORCRAIMRE N2 E

Summary (as at 31 December 2021)’ % (R20215F12A8318)"

Proved reserves (kt) FERE(THE) 13,115 7,832 -

Probable reserves (kt) BERE A= (FE) 5,910 18,790 10,018

Marketable reserves? A EREE?

— Clean coal (kt)® — fE B (g ) 10,225 14,163 6,480
— Middling coal (kt) —HRE(FmE) 4,688 6,522 975
— Sludge coal (kt) — et (FmE) 41 53 979

Notes: FeE -

(1) The resource and reserve data are estimated by Dr. C.S. Kong of Ravia Global ) éi%é‘ﬁ%&f;ﬁmi%( & Hﬂ\%ﬂ%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ i
Appraisal Advisory Limited (“Ravia”) and have been carried out in accordance AR AR ( [méj )ET SRS T ARE
with the JORC Code. JORC%EEU?&%‘H&E‘I’ °

) The marketable reserves of each of the three final products (clean coal, @ %I;ﬁi%ﬁ)%;éfmﬁ%&ﬁ:jﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁgz
middling coal and sludge coal) of the Hongguo Coal Mine, Baogushan Coal I"E\/Ei'ifgfm\( TR R RIER) & B HA]
Mine and Xiejiahegou Coal Mine were estimated by using the historical iﬁ%ﬁ%§%§@1§ﬁﬁ2021¢1 A1 E\I?fZOZ}E
average recoveries of coal preparation from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 12331 BB E 2 P B A1 AT
2021.

(©)) The clean coal produced from the Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan Coal ) Zl%k%ﬁ)%&ﬁ{e\uﬁ%ﬁ)%ﬁﬁiémﬁﬁxiﬁ
Mine are mostly 1/3 coking coal whereas the clean coal produced from the 7 EI/SE@ MUEESENCER GiEIS
Xiejiahegou Coal Mine are mostly coking coal. RRARED BRI ©

# JORC Code: The Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, ! JORCHRAN - CRANFH|MEBIRER -

Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves. BhEREREARKETA) -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BERE @RI (E)

Production

As at 31 December 2021, each of the Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan
Coal Mine had a permitted annual capacity of 600,000 tonnes, whereas the
Xiejiahegou Coal Mine had a permitted annual capacity of 450,000 tonnes,
with total permitted annual capacity of 1.65 million tonnes. Below sets forth
the actual production and utilisation rate for the Group’s coal mines for the

year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020:

*E

M2021F12A318 » AT REBREAILERE
& B A] F EE 48 £600,0001 5008
PR S ] E EE 68 5450,0000 - 487 A]
BE/31.65 B BIE o TRETINEE2021F K&
2020F 12 A1 HIEFEAEBMEREZ BRE
ERFERE:

2021 2020
Annual Actual Utilisation Actual Utilisation
Capacity production rate  production rate®
FERE ERES fERZEO ERES FAERO
(tonnes) (tonnes) (Percentage) (tonnes)  (Percentage)
(mg) (mg) (ADLL) (W) (Aok)
Hongguo Coal Mine A RENE 600,000 520,549 86.8% 594,936 99.2%
Baogushan Coal Mine BAWEE 600,000 439,228 73.2% 598,934 99.8%
Xiejiahegou Coal Mine EIESER-148 450,000 409,767 91.1% 449,410 99.9%
1,369,544 83.0% 1,643,280 99.6%
Note: MisE -
1) Utilisation rate is calculated by actual production volume over the annual (1) FRRREEAFEEREERUGTIFE

capacity for the relevant year.

For the year under review, the Group’s total raw coal production was
1,369,544 tonnes, of which 520,549 tonnes, 439,228 tonnes and 409,767
tonnes of raw coal were produced by Hongguo Coal Mine, Baogushan Coal
Mine, and Xiejiahegou Coal Mine, respectively, representing a decrease of
approximately 12.5%, 26.7% and 8.8% YoY, respectively. The utilisation
rate of Hongguo Coal Mine, Baogushan Coal Mine, and Xiejiahegou Coal
Mine was approximately 86.8%, 73.2% and 91.1%, respectively, which
decreased by approximately 12.4 percentage points (“ppt”), 26.6 ppt and 8.8
ppt YoY, respectively. In total, all three mines produced 1,369,544 tonnes of
raw coal, which decreased by approximately 16.7% from 1,634,280 tonnes
in 2020. The decrease in the overall production of raw coal is mainly due to
operational constraints encountered in Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan
Coal Mine as a result of small faults during the year under review. The
Company has been preparing new work faces, hoping to minimise the
disruption on production resulting from the faults in the coming year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Coal Processing

The Group operates its own coal preparation plant, #A LB (Songshan
Coal Preparation Plant*) for processing the raw coal extracted from its
coal mines. As at 31 December 2021, the capacity held by Songshan Coal

Preparation Plant is 2.4 million tonnes per annum.

In order to reduce its operation costs of Xiejiahegou Coal Mine, the Group
and BN FBELIRFA AR A R ZE R4 S BT (Guizhou Bangda
Energy Development Company Limited Pan County Yunixiang Changxing
Coal Mine*) (“Changxing Coal Mine”), a connected person of the Company,
entered into the coal washing and processing service agreement on 26
May 2020, pursuant to which the Xiejiahegou Coal Mine commissioned
the Changxing Coal Mine for coal washing and processing services for a
term from 1 June 2020 to 31 December 2022. Details were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 26 May 2020.

During the year under review, a total of 1,356,825 tonnes of raw coal
was processed, of which 1,043,604 tonnes and 313,221 tonnes were
processed by Songshan Coal Preparation Plant and Changxing Coal Mine,
respectively.

In order to lower the coal washing and processing cost and to improve the
coal processing power of the Xiejiahegou Coal Mine in the long run, Jiutai
Bangda intended to build its own coal preparation plant (the “Xiejiahegou
CPP”) near the Xiejiahegou Coal Mine area. During the year under review, 18
B ##Z %M (Project Confirmation Certificate®) from the #& N TR ML E B
(Panzhou City Development and Reform Bureau®) in relation to the
Xiejiahegou CPP has been obtained by the Group. Construction of the
Xiejiahegou CPP commenced in late 2021 and is expected to be completed
in 2022. In addition to a reduction in the coal processing cost, the Company
believes the technological aspect of the Group’s coal preparation quality
will also be improved, and the level of reliance on the coal washing process
from Changxing Coal Mine is expected to be reduced accordingly.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BERE @RI (E)

Sales Volume and Average Selling Price
Below sets forth the sales volumes and average selling prices of the Group’s
coal products for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020:

HERTIIEE
TREIAEEEKEDRREZ2021F &
2020F12 A1 HIEFEMIHE N TFHEE !

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2021 2020

Sales Average Sales Average

Unit volume selling price volume selling price

By HE FIHEE HE THEE

(RMB/unit) (RMB/unit)

(AR¥ E1{1) (AR¥ #h1)

Clean coal - internally TR — NP EE tonne 744,173 1,926.85 1,014,902 1,190.55

produced

Clean coal - externally T — SNEP IR AR tonne M - - 82,349 1,210.00
purchased

Middling coal R tonne 1§ 268,988 364.49 275,120 327.85

Sludge coal MEI tonne M 41,034 70.53 5,595 84.18

Raw coal JRBE tonne I 11,038 314.28 3,311 437.03

The coal market has experienced much volatility during the year under
review. The Group’s average selling price of clean coal increased by
approximately 61.8% YoY to approximately RMB1,926.85/tonne (2020:
approximately RMB1,190.55/tonne). The average selling price of middling
coal increased by approximately 11.2% YoY to approximately RMB364.49/
tonne (2020: approximately RMB327.85/tonne). Due to a continuous
improvement in the domestic economy with the pandemic under control in
Mainland China, the average selling price of our coal has an upward trend
and was in line with the average coal prices in general in the coal market.

The Group’s raw coal is washed and cleaned into clean coal at Songshan
Coal Preparation Plant and Changxing Coal Mine before the coal products
are sold to the customers. During the year under review, the sales volume
of clean coal internally produced dropped by approximately 26.7% YoY
to approximately 744,173 tonnes (2020: 1,014,902 tonnes), the sales
volume of middling coal slightly dropped by approximately 2.2% YoY to
268,988 tonnes (2020: 275,120 tonnes) and the sales volume of sludge coal
increased by approximately 633.4% YoY to approximately 41,034 tonnes
(2020: 5,595 tonnes). The drop in overall sales volume of coal products was
mainly caused by an interruption in production due to small faults resulting
from shifts in the geological structure of the work face at Hongguo Coal
Mine and Baogushan Coal Mine.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BB @RI (E)
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During the year under review, the Group recorded a total revenue of REEFE  NEEEEERIHERBE - F
approximately RMB1,541.4 million (2020: approximately RMB1,402.6 B REREERESNARGRNBARE
million) from the production and sales of clean coal, middling coal, sludge 1,541.4H 87t (2020 F : 49 AR ¥1,402.6
coal, and coalbed methane gas, representing an increase of approximately BET)  ALIEINA.9% - B E20214F K&
9.9% YoY. The revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 2020F12 A1 HIEFERamgitan T

were summarised as follows:

For the year ended 31 December
BZE12B31BLEE

2021 2020

Percentage to Percentage to
RMB’000 total revenue RMB’000 total revenue
e I
ARETT Batk AREEFTT Bt

Sales of coal products HIKEmIHERR
- Clean coal — B 1,433,911 93.0% 1,208,294 86.1%
- Middling coal —F 98,044 6.4% 90,198 6.4%
— Sludge coal — et 2,894 0.2% 471 0.0%
- Raw coal —RE 3,469 0.2% 1,447 0.1%
Sales of methane gas HERHERE 3,081 0.2% 2,553 0.2%
Coal product trading RRERBEE - 0.0% 99,641 71%
1,541,399 100.0% 1,402,604 100.0%
Consistent with the Group’s strategy, clean coal remains the principal EAREEARE 2 BRDASAEB LS
product of the Group and the Group has been adhering to the strategy of Em o NEE—EBFRABEERL AR
increasing the proportion of clean coal products. For the year ended 31 B - B ZE2021F12A31AILFE - HERBKE

December 2021, the proportion of revenue generated from the sale of clean FRTEE A Y EE )38 I = #993.0% (20204F : 49
coal increased to approximately 93.0% (2020: approximately 86.1%). 86.1%) °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BERE @RI (E)

During the year under review, the Group’s sales revenue of clean coal
increased by approximately 18.7% to approximately RMB1,433.9 million
(2020: approximately RMB1,208.3 million), sales revenue of middling
coal increased by approximately 8.7% to approximately RMB98.0 million
(2020: approximately RMB90.2 million), sales revenue of sludge coal
increased by approximately 514.4% to approximately RMB2.9 million
(2020: approximately RMB471,000), sales revenue of raw coal increased
by approximately 139.7% to approximately RMB3.5 million (2020:
approximately RMB1.4 million), sales revenue of coalbed methane gas
increased by approximately 20.7% to approximately RMB3.1 million (2020:
approximately RMB2.6 million). The increase in total revenue during the
year under review was mainly attributable to the growth in the sales of clean
coal, resulting from an increase in average coal selling price.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group recorded an increase in its gross profit from approximately
RMB716.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately
RMB918.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing an
increase of approximately 28.3% YoY. Gross profit margin for the year
ended 31 December 2021 was approximately 59.6% (2020: approximately
51.0%), representing an increase of approximately 8.6 ppt YoY. The
increase in gross profit and gross profit margin was due to the increase
in turnover by approximately 9.9% for the year ended 31 December
2021 as explained above, in which the average selling price of clean coal
increased by approximately 61.8% YoY as well as the Group’s continuing
improvement in cost efficiencies during the year under review.

Other Income

The Group’s other income decreased by approximately 62.3% YoY
to approximately RMB13.3 million during the year under review from
approximately RMB35.3 million for 2020. Such decrease was primarily
attributable to the decrease in government grants in connection with
meeting the production volume target of coal products and safety
requirements from the local government.

REIEFE - NEE B HEE W=IE N
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Fair Value Change of Contingent Consideration Payables

The fair value change of contingent consideration payables is derived
from the change of expected present value of the remaining consideration
payable by the Group in respect of its acquisition of the Xiejiahegou
Coal Mine and the projected performance of the Xiejiahegou Coal Mine
under the Profit Guarantee, which consists of compensation and bonus
using discounted cash flow method. As at 31 December 2021, the
contingent consideration payables in respect of the Profit Guarantee
were approximately RMB631.6 million (31 December 2020: approximately
RMB511.1 million) while a fair value loss on contingent consideration
payable of approximately RMB308.5 million (2020: approximately RMB16.1
million) was recognised in profit or loss during the year under review. A
fair value loss is incurred since the net profit generated from Xiejiahegou
Coal Mine exceeded the Profit Guarantee by over 51.2% for the year
under review and the Company expects that outstanding performance of
Xiejiahegou Coal Mine would continue in the year ending 31 December
2022.

Other Gains and Losses

Other gains and losses primarily comprise gain or loss on disposal/write-off
of property, plant and equipment and net exchange difference. The Group’s
other gains and losses changed from a net loss of approximately RMB2.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to a net gain of approximately
RMB1.9 million for the year under review, which was primarily attributable
to an increase in translation difference arising from the conversion of Hong
Kong Dollar (“HKD”) to RMB.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

The Group’s distribution and selling expenses fell by approximately 45.0%
YoY to approximately RMB58.1 million during the year under review from
approximately RMB105.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.
The decrease was primarily brought by the decrease in transportation cost
incurred by Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan Coal Mine as there was a
decrease in volume of coal transported, and the Group made more sales to
several customers who borne the transportation cost during the year under

review.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased by approximately 7.2% to approximately
RMB129.9 million during the year under review from approximately
RMB121.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The increase was
mainly resulted from the increase in staff social insurances expenses which
was in line with market salary increment during the year under review.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BERE @RI (E)

Other Expenses

The Group’s other expenses increased to approximately RMB2.7 million
during the year under review from approximately RMBO0.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020 primarily because a penalty was incurred
during the year under review, but no such penalty was incurred for the year
ended December 2020. The penalty was ordered by the relevant authority
against the safety measurements of Baogushan Coal Mine and Xiejiahegou
Coal Mine. A series of mitigating measures of safety practices have been
implemented by the Group and the relevant authorities were satisfied with
such mitigating measures during the year under review.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs primarily comprised the interest expenses
on bank and other borrowing and interest expenses on secured bank
borrowings from factoring of bills receivables with full recourse from the
Group’s customers offset by interest capitalised in construction in progress.
Finance costs increased by approximately 8.6% to approximately RMB23.0
million during the year under review from approximately RMB21.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020. The increase was mainly due to the
interest expenses arising from the increase in average bank borrowings
during the year under review.

Profit for the Year

By excluding the impact resulting from the fair value change of contingent
consideration payables on the Profit Guarantee, the Group recorded a net
profit of approximately RMB610.3 million (2020: approximately RMB361.6
million), representing a significant increase of approximately 68.8% YoY.
The increase mainly resulted from the improved sales revenue and gross
profit margin.

Xiejiahegou Coal Mine which was acquired in 2020, has continued its robust
performance for the second consecutive year during the Profit Guarantee
period. Xiejiahegou Coal Mine’s net profit exceeded the Profit Guarantee for
the year ended 31 December 2021 by over 51.2%. In view of the historical
outstanding performance of Xiejiahegou Coal Mine which the Company
expects would continue in the year ending 31 December 2022, a fair value
loss of approximately RMB308.5 million (2020: approximately RMB16.1
million) arising from fair value change of contingent consideration payables,
which is extraordinary in nature, is recognized during the year under review.
In light of the amount of provision made in 2021, the Board expects that
the extent of fair value change of contingent consideration payables arising
from the Profit Guarantee will be limited in future years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

As a result of the foregoing, including the impact from the fair value loss
of contingent consideration payables, profit and total comprehensive
income for the year under review amounted to approximately RMB301.8
million (2020: approximately RMB345.5 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 12.7% YoY.

Prospects

Despite another robust year of economic recovery, the closing months
of 2021 showed China’s slowing growth leading up to 2022. Renewed
domestic COVID-19 outbreaks including the highly transmissible Omicron
variant could lead to significant disruptions in economic activities especially
in domestic consumption and retail markets, which are already showing
signs of a slowdown. The further weakening of the property sector may also
place severe and prolonged downturn pressure on the economy.

According to the China Iron and Steel Association, the investment in real
estate is expected to slow down in 2022 while infrastructure investment is
projected to pick up. As a result, the demand for steel would likely be kept
at the same level as in 2021. In conclusion, the Company is likely to benefit
from the infrastructure investment in the southwest region. Looking ahead
to 2022, the demand for coking coal is expected to remain strong, though
the coal market price may vary.

In the short term, the Group expects this upward trend to continue. The
Group had acquired closure quota from a peer in the province and had been
undergoing expansion plans. When all conditions, including requirements
from the local authority, are met, the permitted annual production capacity
of each of the Hongguo Coal Mine and the Baogushan Coal Mine will be
increased from 600,000 tonnes to 1.2 million tonnes.

Moving forward, the Group shall continue its efforts in mining technology
upgrade and operation refinement while focusing on producing relevantly
environmentally-friendly clean coal products with efficient use of resources.
By staying ahead of industry trends, the Group is confident in maintaining
its profitability and sustainability to create greater value for society,
shareholders and employees.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BERE @RI (E)

Liquidity and Financial Information

Bank Balances and Cash

As at 31 December 2021, bank balances and cash amounted to
approximately RMB180.9 million (31 December 2020: approximately
RMB139.6 million).

Bank and Other Borrowings

As at 31 December 2021, secured bank borrowings from factoring of bills
receivables with full recourse amounted to approximately RMB171.0 million
(31 December 2020: approximately RMB80.9 million). The effective interest
rate on the discounted bills was approximately 1% to 2% per annum during
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: approximately 2% to 3%).

As at 31 December 2021, secured bank borrowings amounted to
approximately RMB351.0 million (31 December 2020: approximately
RMB296.0 million). The effective interest rate on bank borrowings was 5.5%
per annum during the year under review (2020: 5.5%).

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s gearing ratio was approximately 0.30
(2020: approximately 0.25). Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total
bank borrowings divided by the total equity as at the end of the period.
The increased gearing ratio was mainly due to an increase in the bank
borrowings.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group is subject to limited foreign currency exposure as its business
activities mainly take place in China and all sales and most of its costs are
denominated in the functional currency (RMB) of respective group entities.
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is primarily Hong Kong dollars
as certain bank balances, deposits and accrued charges are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

Credit Risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and bills receivables,
deposits and other receivables, restricted bank deposits and bank balances
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. Such risk may cause financial loss to us
due to a failure to discharge obligation by the counterparties.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the top three trade
debtors accounted for approximately 78% and 93% of the Group’s total
trade receivables, respectively. In view of this, the management regularly
visits the customers relating to such trade receivables to understand
their business operations and cash flow position and follows up with the
subsequent settlement from the counterparties. The management delegates
a team of staff responsible for monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the management
considers that such credit concentration risk has been significantly
mitigated. Taking into account the financial condition of the customers,
their historical settlement pattern with no previous default and the forward-
looking information (such as the future coal prices and GDP growth of
China), the management considers that the trade and bills receivables as
low-risk with a low likelihood of default from the counterparties, based on
internal credit rating assessment.

In respect of other receivables, restricted bank deposits, and bank balances,
the management considers that no inherent material credit risk exists based
on the assessment of historical settlement records.

Liquidity Risk

As at 31 December 2021, the Group recorded net current liabilities
of approximately RMB49.7 million, which was mainly attributable to
the contingent consideration payables to the Vendors for the Group’s
acquisition of the Xiejiahegou Coal Mine. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements, the Directors have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity of the Group. The Directors are of the view that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due for the foreseeable future
after taking into consideration of the cash flow forecasts, which assume the
continuity of normal business activity and indicate that the Group will have
sufficient liquidity to meet its operational, existing contractual debts and
capital expenditure requirements for the 12 month period from 31 December
2021.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to lease
liabilities and bank and other borrowings and is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to restricted bank deposits and bank balances.
The Group currently has no interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management closely monitors the Group’s exposure to future cash flow
interest rate risk as a result of changes in market interest rates and will
consider hedging the changes in market interest rates should the need

arise.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BERE @RI (E)

Capital Commitments and Expected Source of Funding

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had capital commitments in respect of
property, plant and equipment and the acquisition of the Xiejiahegou Coal
Mine in Guizhou Province contracted for but not yet incurred in the amount
of approximately RMB17.7 million (31 December 2020: approximately
RMB10.8 million). The Group planned to finance the capital commitments
with internal resources.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, save for the contingent consideration payables
amounted to approximately RMB631.6 million (2020: approximately
RMB511.1 million) set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2020: nil).

Human Resources

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 3,098 employees (31
December 2020: 2,993). During the year under review, staff costs (including
Directors’ remuneration) totalled approximately RMB267.2 million (2020:
approximately RMB236.6 million). All members of the Group are equal
opportunity employers, with the selection, promotion and remuneration
of individual employees based on their suitability to the positions offered.
The Group provides defined contribution to the Mandatory Provident
Fund as retirement benefits for its employees in Hong Kong and provides
its employees in China with various benefit schemes as required by the
applicable laws and regulations in China. All of the Group’s employees are
required to undergo induction trainings before they commence work. In
addition, depending on the work nature, the Group’s employees are also
required to attend training pursuant to applicable laws and regulations.

Material Acquisitions, Disposals And Investment

Projects

On 9 December 2020, Jiutai Bangda and an independent third party (the
“Seller”) entered into a closure quota transfer agreement in respect of
the production quota of Guizhou Chinalco Hengtaihe Mining Co., Ltd.
Shuicheng County Panlong Township Panlong Coal Mine* ( & M & i& 18
ZAETREREAR QA KIK 5 % 52 40 8% 32 L #%), pursuant to which the Seller
has agreed to sell and Jiutai Bangda has agreed to acquire the 900,000
tonnes/year closure quota (the “Closure Quota”) of the Panlong Coal Mine
in Shuicheng County* (7K 3k §% % 5 40 &% 82 /£ 7%) (“Panlong Coal Mine”) at
a total consideration of RMB72,000,000 (tax inclusive). Please refer to
the Company’s announcement published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company on 10 December 2020 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

On 24 May 2021, Jiutai Bangda and the Seller entered into a further closure
quota transfer agreement (the “Transfer Agreement”) in respect of the
production quota of Panlong Coal Mine, pursuant to which the Seller has
agreed to sell and Jiutai Bangda has agreed to acquire 300,000 tonnes/year
closure quota of Panlong Coal Mine (the “Additional Closure Quota”) at a
total consideration of RMB24,000,000 (tax inclusive). With the acquisition of
the Additional Closure Quota, the Company intends to revise its expansion
plan by increasing the annual production capacity of the Baogushan Coal
Mine to 1.2 million tonnes instead (the “Revised Expansion Plan”). It is
expected that upon completion of the Revised Expansion Plan, the annual
production capacity of each of the Hongguo Coal Mine and the Baogushan
Coal Mine will be increased from 600,000 tonnes to 1.2 million tonnes.
Please refer to the Company’s announcement published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company on 24 May 2021 for details. Transfers
of the Closure Quota and Additional Closure Quota were approved by
Guizhou Energy Administration during the year under review. The Group
is in the process of preparing the relevant documents for the application
of Revised Expansion Plan to the relevant authorities. It is expected that
the Revised Expansion Plan will be completed and materialised by the end
of 2022. Save as the aforementioned acquisition of production quota, the
Group had no material acquisitions, disposals, or investment projects for
sale during the year under review.

Asset Charges

As at 31 December 2021, the bank borrowings from factoring of bills
receivables with full recourse amounted to approximately RMB171.0 million
(31 December 2020: approximately RMB80.9 million) and the other bank
borrowings amounted to approximately RMB351.0 million (31 December
2020: approximately RMB296.0 million) were secured by the pledge of the
Group’s bills receivables and the mining right of the Hongguo Coal Mine,
respectively, as set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BERE @RI (E)

Event after the Reporting Period

On 22 February 2022, Xiejiahegou Coal Mine Branch, a branch of Jiutai
Bangda, and Changxing Coal Mine Branch entered into the Electricity
Supply Agreement, pursuant to which Xiejiahegou Coal Mine Branch would
supply electricity to Changxing Coal Mine Branch. The term of the Electricity
Supply Agreement is effective from 22 February 2022 and ending on 31
December 2024 (both days inclusive). The expected highest annual income
for the transactions is RMB28,102,000. Changxing Coal Mine Branch is a
branch of Guizhou Bangda, a company which is owned as to 90% and 10%
by Mr. Yu Bangping and Mr. Yu Bangcheng, respectively. Mr. Yu Bangping is
an executive Director. Also, each of Mr. Yu Bangping and Mr. Yu Bangcheng
is indirectly interested in approximately 48.3% and 7.2% shareholding
interest in Spring Snow Management Limited, a company which owns
53.5% shareholding interest of the Company. Hence, Mr. Yu Bangping
and Mr. Yu Bangcheng are regarded as the controlling shareholders of
the Company. As such, Guizhou Bangda, an entity controlled by Mr. Yu
Bangping and Mr. Yu Bangcheng, is regarded as a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions as
contemplated under the Electricity Supply Agreement constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules and are subject to the reporting, announcement and annual review
requirements. Details are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 22 February 2022.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of
the Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group
is principally engaged in the exploration and mining of coking coal and
coal refinery in the People’s Republic of China. Details of the principal
activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2021, distributable reserves of the Company amounted
to approximately RMB330.1 million (31 December 2020: approximately
RMB383.9 million).

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2021 are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 106 to 108 of this
annual report.

The Board has recommended the distribution of a final dividend of HK3.75
cents (2020: HK3.75 cents) per Share for the year ended 31 December
2021.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFews(R)

Closure of Register of Members

For the purposes of determining shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote
at the 2022 annual general meeting of the Company (the “2022 AGM”) to be
held on Thursday, 26 May 2022, and entitlement to the final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will be closed on the dates as set out
below:

(i) For determining shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the
2022 AGM:

Latest time to lodge transfer documents
for registration with the Company’s
branch share registrar and
transfer officein HongKong. .. .................. At 4:30 p.m.
on Friday, 20 May 2022

Closure of register of members
oftheCompany .................... Monday, 23 May 2022 to
Thursday, 26 May 2022
(both dates inclusive)

(if) For determining shareholders’ entitlement to final dividend:

Ex-dividenddate ....................... Monday, 6 June 2022

Latest time to lodge transfer documents
for registration with the Company’s
branch share registrar and
transfer officein HongKong. .. .................. At 4:30 p.m.
on Tuesday, 7 June 2022

Closure of register of members
oftheCompany ................. Wednesday, 8 June 2022 to

Friday, 10 June 2022
(both dates inclusive)

Recorddate ............................ Friday, 10 June 2022

Expected paymentdate................. Monday, 27 June 2022
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Closure of Register of Members (continued)

During the above closure periods of the register of members of the
Company, no transfer of Shares will be registered. To be eligible to attend
and vote at the 2022 AGM and to qualify for the final dividend, all properly
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration
not later than the aforementioned latest time.

Financial Summary
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on page 209 of this annual report.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 December
2021 including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business are provided in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7 to 10 and pages 17 to
32 respectively of this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year under review using financial key performance indicators is
provided in the Financial Highlights on pages 5 to 6 of this annual report.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Investment Properties

Details of the investment properties held by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year ended
31 December 2021 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFews(R)

Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed Securities
of the Company
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed

or sold any of the listed securities of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2021.

Arrangements for Directors to Purchase Shares or

Debentures

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2021 was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of an acquisition of shares or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate, and neither the Directors nor any
of their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe
for securities of the Company or had exercised such right during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association (the “Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company.

Charitable Donations
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2021 amounted to approximately RMB1.9 million (2020:
approximately RMB5.8 million).

Major Customers and Suppliers

For the year ended 31 December 2021, sales attributable to the largest
customer of the Group amounted to approximately 37.0% of the total sales
and the five largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately
91.2% of the Group’s total sales.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, purchases attributable to the
largest supplier of the Group amounted to approximately 15.4% of the
total purchases and the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for
approximately 42.9% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their close associates or
any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than
5% of the total number of issued Shares) had any interest in the Group’s
five largest customers and suppliers.
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Directors
The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Bangping (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Dawei

Mr. Wang Shize

Mr. Li Xuezhong

Mr. Lam Chik Shun, Marcus

Mr. Yu Zhilong

Mr. Yu Xiao

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fong Wai Ho

Mr. Punnya Niraan De Silva

Ms. Cheung Suet Ting, Samantha

Mr. Wang Xiufeng

Pursuant to Article 16.19 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting
of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to,
but not less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Mr. Yu
Bangping, Mr. Li Xuezhong, Mr. Lam Chik Shun, Marcus and Ms. Cheung
Suet Ting, Samantha will retire by rotation at the 2022 AGM and, being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies
Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 11 to 16 of this annual report.
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Changes in Information of the Directors EEERER
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities REEZMES EMRAN(TEmRA]) S
(the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange, the changes in information of 13 51B()RTARE - ESHFBEEZHNT

the Directors are set out below:

Name of Director

Eoy

Mr. Yu Bangping
RABFRAE

Mr. Sun Dawei

BRIERE

Mr. Wang Shize
FHERE A

Mr. Yu Zhilong
RMBERLE

Mr. Yu Xiao
RWAE

Mr. Fong Wai Ho
TERKE

Details of changes

PEE

His salary was adjusted to RMB903,224 per annum paid by a subsidiary of the
Company with effect from 1 February 2022.

B2022F2 A1 HIE - HHEMRAE RSB FFHARK03,2247T - HARFZHER
AIZAT o

His salary was adjusted to RMB903,224 per annum paid by a subsidiary of the
Company with effect from 1 February 2022.

H2022F2 A1 Bt - EHPEBRAETFFHARK03,2247T - HARRIZMER
BT e

His salary was adjusted to RMB903,224 per annum paid by a subsidiary of the
Company with effect from 1 February 2022.

B2022F2 A1 B - EHPARA/EFFHARKE03,2247T * AR ZIEBA
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His salary was adjusted to RMB403,224 per annum paid by a subsidiary of the
Company with effect from 1 February 2022.

H2022F2 A1 AL - HF AR REFFir ARB403,2247T - HARAIZHME LR
B ft e

His salary was adjusted to RMB403,224 per annum paid by a subsidiary of the
Company with effect from 1 February 2022.

B20225F2 A1 B - EHBER RS FFHARK403,2247T  HARRIZIER
BT o

He resigned as an independent non-executive director of CT Environmental Group
Limited with effect from 15 September 2021, the shares of which were delisted on
the Stock Exchange on 10 September 2021.

R®12021F9 A 15 HBHEF BIRREBBR QAR BLIEATES - RAFNKRN
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He ceased to be a member of CPA Australia with effect from 1 February 2022.
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Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company has in force indemnity provisions as permitted under
the relevant statutes for the benefit of the Directors (including former
Directors) of the Company. The permitted indemnity provisions are provided
for in the Articles and in the Directors and officers liability insurance
maintained for the Group in respect of potential liability and costs associated
with legal proceedings that may be brought against such Directors.

Management Contracts

No contracts, other than employment contracts or appointment letters,
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Company were entered into or
subsisted during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no contract of significance
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2021.

Equity-linked Agreements
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has not entered into
any equity-linked agreement.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2022 AGM has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and

Debentures

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares and underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)),
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which the Directors and chief executive of the Company
were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which
were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register therein, or were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in Shares of the Company:

Capacity/

Name of Director Nature of interest

BEEpE B0/ EmitE

Mr. Yu Bangping Interest in a controlled corporation

RIBFELE (Note 2)
A E R (fHEE2)
Notes:
1. The percentage was calculated based on 1,600,000,000 Shares in issue as at

31 December 2021.

2. These Shares were held by Spring Snow Management Limited. The
issued share capital of Spring Snow Management Limited was held as to
approximately 48.27% by Lucky Street Limited which was wholly owned by
Mr. Yu Bangping. Accordingly, Mr. Yu Bangping was deemed to be interested
in 856,000,000 Shares held by Spring Snow Management Limited for the
purpose of the SFO.

EERE

ko
Sk

% MR R AR

i

2021F12A318 + FERAQBITELAEE
RARB REABEEZE (TR RESRFEK
Bl ([ %5 REAE GG ) EXVE) Mk - 868
R REEFFR  HHRIEESFRBAEKD
FEXVEBET 85 EB/A M E AN 7] K Hh 22 BT Y
B Rk R (BEREFSRIERGINE S
B EEER R AAREERAQBITHREAR
BEMERRAE) « RIREE S RHIE &S
FE 35215 R I FTE B 2 it A e e 2 R
B RIE E AR RIMT SR ATE E W EITAE
FHRITES X HMIRETRI([ZLESFR ) BN
EARAFMERAIOERRABT

RARBRBIER :

Approximate %

Total number of of interests held

Shares held (Note 1)
hEFEER
BAES T
BERGEE (MI7E1)
856,000,000 53.50

P3E -
1. ZE D EN2021F12 A31HH

1,600,000,000/% 2 BT T H -

2. #% % % 17 @ Spring Snow Management

Limited #5 A ° Lucky Street Limited # &
Spring Snow Management Limited & 8517
[i% Z< %) 48.27% - ifi Lucky Street Limited
MRBELEELEHRE - Bt - HFEFH
REEHOMmME  RBTFEERRER
Spring Snow Management Limited$§ 5 £
856,000,000/ i e E A #Eas ©



Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures (continued)

Long positions in the shares of associated corporations:

Name of Director

E=nE

Mr. Yu Bangping
RIBFFRE

Mr. Sun Dawei

BARERE

Mr. Wang Shize

Name of associated
corporation

TRESEE A

Spring Snow
Management Limited

Spring Snow
Management Limited

Spring Snow

Capacity/
Nature of interest

B mitE
Interest in controlled
corporation (Note 2)
A E R (MEE2)
Interest in controlled
corporation (Note 3)

iy rE s (EE3)

Interest in controlled

TR E Management Limited corporation (Note 4)
RPEEE R (54)

Notes:

1. The percentage was calculated based on 10,000,000 issued shares of Spring

Snow Management Limited as at 31 December 2021.

2. Mr. Yu Bangping owned the entire issued share capital of Lucky Street
Limited which owned approximately 48.27% of the issued share capital of
Spring Snow Management Limited. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yu was deemed
to be interested in 4,827,441 shares of Spring Snow Management Limited
held by Lucky Street Limited.
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Total number of

ExeRE(H)

S A e
FRE @)

<

Approximate %
of interests held

shares held (Note 1)
EEERER
BRBED
BEROEH (BE1)
4,827,441 48.27
1,293,140 12.93
287,364 2.87
5T

1. #% B 7 tt & 7 Spring Snow Management
Limited 72021412 A 31 H 910,000,000 %

BEEITRMEE -
2. % FBF 5t 4 A Lucky Street Limited 2

EE BEITHR A+ TLucky Street Limited
4 Spring Snow Management Limited &, 2
TTREAR4948.27%  IRIBZEH REE G -
A EAT AR Lucky Street Limited35 &
#) 4,827,441 Iz Spring Snow Management
Limited % {n /R A # 25 ©
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures (continued)

3. Mr. Sun Dawei owned the entire issued share capital of Black Pearl Limited
which owned approximately 12.93% of the issued share capital of Spring
Snow Management Limited. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Sun was deemed to be
interested in 1,293,140 shares of Spring Snow Management Limited held by
Black Pearl Limited.

4. Mr. Wang Shize owned the entire issued share capital of Seasons In The
Sun Limited which owned approximately 2.87% of the issued share capital
of Spring Snow Management Limited. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Wang was
deemed to be interested in 287,364 shares of Spring Snow Management
Limited held by Seasons In The Sun Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, so far as is known to
the Company, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which the Directors and
chief executive were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFO); or were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
recorded in the register referred to therein; or were required, pursuant to the
Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

3. TR K J& 5% 4 ¥ /A Black Pearl Limited #) &
B # TR A - MBlack Pearl Limited #
A Spring Snow Management Limited & %
TTIRARA12.93% ° IRIRFEF L HE P -
T4 %t & 1 48 B 7 Black Pearl Limited # &
#91,293,140 }% Spring Snow Management
Limitedf& 5 R B xS ©

4. Tttt 2 5 4 # & Seasons In The Sun
Limited ) & & 2 B {7 R 7% - 11 Seasons
In The Sun Limited # 7 Spring Snow
Management Limited 2 % 17 & & %
2.87% ° IRIEFEF KRG KO - TEREW
8 /5 1A Seasons In The Sun Limited 3% &
#) 287,364 X Spring Snow Management
Limited& {5 = #E A i

B EXFTIEEESN - 120214128318 @ &
ANRRFA - EERRARBITHBENAE
AR EAAENEE (T & REFRBEEK
PIZEXVER) BB (D - MBRMD REEETR - %
BEMRIEES RS KR EXVHBETRED
HEMSANF RBIATHERSAR (B
RIEFEH L ENE GO E B ZER &
HEFRITBAIABNERLXE) « R
ﬁisﬁ#&,ﬁﬂiéwﬁu%eszﬂ BB IEFTIE
ErfMAmEmsiAs - SRIRIZESTRIZEN
GARN R KB FTHRRSAE o



Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and
Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2021, the following interests in Shares or underlying
Shares of 5% or more of the issued Shares of the Company were recorded
in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions:

Name of Substantial Shareholder Nature of interest

TERRUE BB =ty

Spring Snow Management Limited Beneficial owner (Note 2)

ExA AE2)

Lucky Street Limited
RynEEER ()

Ms. Qu Liumei

BHIELt

Interest of spouse (Note 3)

o B s (FIRE3)

Notes:

1. The percentage was calculated based on 1,600,000,000 Shares in issue as at
31 December 2021.

2. The issued share capital of Spring Snow Management Limited was held as
to approximately 48.27% by Lucky Street Limited. Accordingly, Lucky Street
Limited was deemed to be interested in 856,000,000 Shares held by Spring
Snow Management Limited by virtue of the SFO.

3. Ms. Qu Liumei is the spouse of Mr. Yu Bangping and was therefore deemed
to be interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Yu Bangping (through Lucky
Street Limited and Spring Snow Management Limited) by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, so far as is known to
the Company, no other person (other than the Directors and chief executive
of the Company whose interests are disclosed in the section headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” above) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO or, which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Interest in controlled corporation (Note 2)
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Approximate %

Total number of of interests held

Shares held (Note 1)
hiFERERE
BHESEH
BERGEH (MF7E1)
856,000,000 53.50
856,000,000 53.50
856,000,000 53.50

MI3E
1. Z AP ER2021 F12 A31 HH

1,600,000,000/% 2 27T AT H ©

2. Lucky Street Limited ¥ & Spring Snow

Management Limited 2 % 17 & & 4
48.27% ° HIft - REBEFHFLBE KO -
Lucky Street Limited 4% /52 Spring Snow
Management Limited 3 /& &) 856,000,000
IR A A o

3. EMELTARBIEENRS - BLtR
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i% 3B Lucky Street Limited X Spring Snow
Management Limited#5 4 & B4 B&(n 7
G o
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Competing Business

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Guizhou Bangda, an associate
of the connected person of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of
the Listing Rules, and owned by Mr. Yu Bangping (Chairman and executive
Director) as to 90% and Mr. Yu Bangcheng (brother of Mr. Yu Bangping)
as to 10%, both being the Controlling Shareholders (as defined in the
prospectus of the Company dated 26 November 2018 (the “Prospectus”)),
was principally engaged in the mining, production and sale of coking coal,
whereas the Group has been principally engaged in the mining, production
and sale of 1/3 coking coal and coking coal. The Directors are of the view
that there is no actual or potential in competition in business between the
Group and Guizhou Bangda and there is a clear delineation of business
between the Group and Guizhou Bangda. The Directors are satisfied that
each of Mr. Yu Bangping, Mr. Sun Dawei and Mr. Wang Shize (who are the
executive Directors and the Controlling Shareholders) are able to perform
their roles in the Company independently. The Directors are also of the view
that the Group is capable of managing its business independently from the
Controlling Shareholders and their respective close associates during the
year under review.

As at 31 December 2021, save as disclosed above, the Directors were
not aware of any business or interest of the Directors or the Controlling
Shareholders and their respective close associates that had competed or
might compete with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of
interests which any such person had or might have with the Group.

o T

REZE2021F12 A31 AL FE - EMFPBZEGR
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ERFHRSA (RS RRNITES RIERRF)
BESB MBI TIREN AR RIETE - EFT
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Non-Competition Undertakings by Controlling
Shareholders

In order to avoid and safeguard any potential competition arising between
the Group and the Directors or the Controlling Shareholders and their
respective close associates, each of the Controlling Shareholders (including
Mr. Yu Bangping, Mr. Sun Dawei and Mr. Wang Shize) and Guizhou Bangda
(the “Covenantors”) has executed a deed of non-competition (“Deed
of Non-Competition”) in favour of the Company. Details of the Deed
of Non-Competition are disclosed in the section headed “Relationship
with Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition Undertakings” in the
Prospectus.

The Covenantors have made an annual confirmation that they have fully
complied with the Undertakings given by them in favour of the Company
pursuant to the Deed of Non-Competition. The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the status of the compliance by the Covenantors
with the Undertakings during the year ended 31 December 2021 and
confirmed that, as far as they can ascertain, there is no breach by any of the
Covenantors of the Undertakings given by them.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements

or Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or any related company
(holding companies, subsidiaries, or fellow subsidiaries) was a party and
in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Remuneration Policy

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their performance, qualifications, competence and
job nature. The remuneration of the Directors is recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and decided by the Board, having regard to
their experience, responsibilities, performance and the time devoted to the
Group’s business. The Company has adopted a Post-IPO share option
scheme on 15 November 2018 (the “Share Option Scheme”) as an incentive
arrangement for eligible employees.

Retirement Benefit Scheme
Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in note 31
to the consolidated financial statements.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, at
least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital is held by the public
under the Listing Rules.

Share Option Scheme
Particulars of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme pursuant to an ordinary
resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company on 15 November
2018 which shall be valid and effective for a period ending on the tenth
anniversary of 12 December 2018, being the date of the listing of the Shares
on the Stock Exchange, subject to early termination by the Company in a
general meeting or by the Board. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to provide an incentive or reward for the grantees for their contribution
or potential contribution to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.
Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may offer to grant an option
to any full-time or part-time employees, potential employees, consultants,
executives or officers (including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive Directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and any
suppliers, customers, consultants, agents and advisers who, in the sole
opinion of the Board has contributed or will contribute to the Group.

The number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company at any time shall
not aggregate exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. The
maximum number of Shares available for issue under options which may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme or other share option scheme
adopted by the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares
in issue immediately following completion of the Share Offer (but taking
no account of any Shares which may be allotted or issued pursuant to the
exercise of the Over-allotment Option (as defined in the Prospectus)), being
160,000,000 Shares. The total number of Shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme to each eligible person in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the number of Shares in issue as at the date of grant unless
approved by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting.
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Share Option Scheme (continued)

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board provided
that it shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the official closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the offer
date, which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the official closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (jii) the
nominal value of a Share.

Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1 to the Company
by way of consideration for the grant. An option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time after
the date upon which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted and
prior to the expiry of 10 years from that date. The period during which an
option may be exercised will be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than 10 years after it
has been granted.

No share options have been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed during
the year ended 31 December 2021 and no share options were outstanding as
at 31 December 2021 under the Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this report, the total number of Shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme was 160,000,000 Shares representing 10%
of the issued shares of the Company.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

On 26 May 2020, & /N A Z= F i 582 & F 45 40 & = )0 )& K & (Guizhou
Jiutai Bangda Pan County Yangchang Village Xiejiahegou Coal Mine*)
(“Xiejiahegou Coal Mine Branch”), a branch of Jiutai Bangda, and
EMNAERIRFAEGR AR BEN L 2 BHIEHE (Guizhou Bangda Energy
Development Company Limited Pan County Yunixiang Changxing Coal
Mine*) (“Changxing Coal Mine Branch”), a branch of Guizhou Bangda,
entered into the coal washing and processing service agreement (“Coal
Washing and Processing Service Agreement”). Guizhou Bangda is
owned as to 90% and 10% by Mr. Yu Bangping and Mr. Yu Bangcheng
respectively. Mr. Yu Bangping is the Chairman and an executive Director.
Also, each of Mr. Yu Bangping and Mr. Yu Bangcheng is indirectly
interested in approximately 48.3% and 7.2% shareholding interest in Spring
Snow Management Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Hence, Mr. Yu Bangping and Mr. Yu Bangcheng are regarded as the
Controlling Shareholders. As such, Guizhou Bangda, an entity controlled
by Mr. Yu Bangping and Mr. Yu Bangcheng, is regarded as an associate
of the connected person of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of
the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions as contemplated under the
Coal Washing and Processing Service Agreement constituted continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details
are disclosed as CCT No. 1 in the table below pursuant to Rule 14A of the
Listing Rules and set out in the announcement of the Company dated 26
May 2020.

On 16 December 2020, the Group entered into several continuing connected
transactions with the connected persons of the Company, namely Guizhou
Bangda, &/ £ #8454 85 JR B B & (£ A & (Guizhou Yue Bang Integrated
Energy Limited Liability Company*) (“Guizhou Yue Bang”) and #& /1| i 4L i 45
A BeRAMR AR (Panzhou Hongda Integrated Energy Co., Ltd.*) (“Panzhou
Hongda”). Guizhou Bangda, as mentioned above, is an associate of the
connected person of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of the
Listing Rules. Guizhou Yue Bang is owned as to 45% and 55% by Guizhou
Bangda and an independent third party of the Company respectively and is
therefore an associate of the connected person of the Company pursuant
to Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of the Listing Rules. Panzhou Hongda is owned by
Guizhou Bangda and an independent third party of the Company, as to 49%
and 51%, respectively and is therefore also an associate of the connected
person of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of the Listing Rules.
These continuing connected transactions are disclosed as CCT No. 2 to 6 in
the table below pursuant to Rule 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of each of
these continuing connected transactions are set out in the announcement
and the supplemental announcement of the Company dated 16 December
2020 and 21 December 2020 respectively.

*  For identification purpose only
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Continuing Connected Transactions (continued) FERERS &)
CCT Name, date and term of the agreements Transaction party Counterparty, nature and Consideration
No. and service fee within the Group description of the transaction Purpose of transaction for 2021
F HELR - BERERIRERE AEERNRSR ReHFL  HERHH pEEL NNERE
RMB'000
AREFT
1 Coal Washing and Processing Service Agreement Xiejiahegou Goal Ming Branch Coal washing and processing Washing and processing raw coal 8,302
signed on 26 May 2020 HFTERBALT services provided by extracted from Xiejiahegou Coal
R200F5ABRETNREZTHENT AR Changxing Coal Mine Branch Mine
EERBAATRE FENIEREHZT
Term: From 1 June 2020 to 31 December 2022 REFENTRE BRENRR
% 52020576 1AZ2022512A317
Coal washing and processing services at cost of
RMB26.5 per tonne (tax exclusive)
REEENIRY BRASEAR%265T
(F2h)
2 QOperations Agreement signed on 16 December 2020 Jiutai Bangda Logistics service provided by For temporarily storage and 3,656
R200F12716BETNEE R ARPE Guizhou Bangda loading of Jiutai Bangda’s coal
HEMBEREMTRS and coal side products on trains
Term: From 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023 for onward transportation at
55 5202151 A18 520035124311 Huajiazhuang Railway Logistics
Centre
Logistics Service at cost of RMBS per tonne EREEARDRNERRERE
WG A RO TR IR RS ERUKERENS DlfiHE

MEZRERMRT LETEE
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BREE)

Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

CCT
No.
5

Name, date and term of the agreements
and service fee

SR - BRARLRRHE

Baogushan Gas Supply Agreement signed on
16 December 2020
R020E12A16B R ME AL RHRERE

Term: From 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023
R - 8002151 A1AF20285124318

Sale of coalbed gas: RMB0.0688 per KWh electricity
generated (tax inclusive)
HERER  Y3ETRBAARK0.06887(27)

Hongguo Gas Supply Agreement signed on
16 December 2020
R200E12 A6 BEFT VAL Rt

Term: From 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023
R - 8002151 A1AF20285124318

Sale of coalbed gas: RMBO.18 per/m® (tax inclusive)

BERES STAKARKOIGT(SR)

*  For identification purpose only

Transaction party Counterparty, nature and
within the Group description of the transaction
AEERNRS S Re4TFH HERHH

ENAR AR RREER
NABBURERALLE Guizhou Yue Bang
(Guizhou Jutiai Bangda Energy ~ FIE M EAEEEER
Development Co., Ltd. Panxian

Coalbed gas supplied to

Hongguo Town Baogushan Coal
Mine’) (Baogushan Coal Mine
Branch”), a branch of Jiutai
Bangda
EMARARERRLERLTR
FORBEAURR(EALE
EA2R ) ARBENARE)

ENARRBERRREER
NABBIREIRERE Panzhou Hongda
(Guizhou Jiutai Bangda Energy ~ FEMNAZHERER
Development Co., Ltd. Panxian

Coalbed gas supplied to

Hongguo Town Hongguo Coal
Mine”) (*Hongguo Coal Mine
Branch”), a branch of Jiutai
Bangda
EMARARERRLERL TR
FIRBURER( 178D
AR (AFARHARA)

?‘J’n\ﬂ%g E_\_% &)

Purpose of transaction
2580

Supply of coalbed gas from
Baogushan Coal Mine for
generating other source of
revenue

FREALRREERMEES
H-WERE

Supply of coalbed gas from
Hongguo Coal Mine for
generating other source of
revenue

FRIREEHERLE
EER-WETE

Consideration
for 2021
WNERE
RMB'000
ARETT

1,088

1,003



Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

CCT Name, date and term of the agreements Transaction party

No. and service fee within the Group

FE GEEE BERARIRERE AEERNRS S

5 Baogushan Electricity Supply Agreement signed on Baogushan Coal Mine Branch
16 December 2020 BALRRALE

R2020E12F 16 EETHAALE NERE

Term: From 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023
R - 5002121 A1AF20285 124318

Purchase of electricity: RMBO.5038 per KWh (tax
inclusive)
BEEN: BTRRARK0508T(2H)

6 Hongguo Electricity Supply Agreement signed on Hongguo Coal Mine Branch
16 December 2020 HREEARA
2020512 A 16F #AT AL RE MR LA

Term: From 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023
65 5000151 A1RZ2028F12731 R

Purchase of electricity: RMB0.5117 per KWh (tax
inclusive)

BEE)  §TRBRARBOSHTL(E2H)
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BEamE(E)
BEREXS @)
Counterparty, nature and Consideration
description of the transaction Purpose of transaction for 2021
Re4TFH HERHH RZEH NNERE
RMB'000
AREFT
Electricity purchased from Purchase of electricity for use in 4,756
Guizhou Yue Bang Baogushan Coal Mine
mENEARER BERNMEALRRRR
Electricity purchased from Purchase of electricity for use in 6,558
Panzhou Hongda Hongguo Coal Mine
mEMERES EESNMMIRERER

All the above continuing connected transactions as referred to CCT No. 1

to 6 are exempt from the circular and independent shareholders’ approval

requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, but are subject to

the reporting, announcement and annual review requirements. None of the

transaction amount of each of the above continuing connected transactions

has exceeded its respective annual cap (on an aggregated basis where

appropriate) for the year ended 31 December 2021.

RIE FTRRE+NE - FillFEAFE1E61A
RHEREXSNMBRERER SR EST
e B R AR E - WEESTRE A
ERFEENHBRTE - REE2021F12A31H
IEFE - FlBERER SN EERERER
SRR SEREROESENFE LRLE
GHEEFE (@A) -
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EFews(R)

Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing
connected transactions of the Company set out above and unanimously
confirmed that these continuing connected transactions were entered
into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on
normal commercial terms or better; and (jii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor of the Company
has issued an unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s
letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions of the Group are set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements. The Company
confirmed that in relation to the related party transactions for the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” of
this report for further details.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group recognises the importance of environmental affairs and
considers business development and environment affairs are highly
related. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group implemented
certain environmental protection measures to save energy and reduce the
consumption of resources. These policies were supported by the staff of the
Group and were implemented effectively.

For more detailed information about the Group’s environmental policies
and performance for this financial year, please refer to the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” on pages 73 to 99 of this annual report.

FERERS &)
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BERS W R - ZEFHERER ST
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Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Group recognises that employees, customers, business associates
and the local community are key stakeholders of the Group’s success.
The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging
employees, providing quality services to customers and collaborating
with business associates (including suppliers and contractors) to deliver
sustainable products and services and support the local community.

For more detailed information, please refer to the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 73 to 99 of this annual report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group is subject to various laws and regulations including the
Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman lIslands, the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Business
Registration Ordinance (Chapter 310 of the Laws of Hong Kong), etc.
The Group has put in place internal controls to ensure compliance of the
same. In addition, as the Group engages business in the People’s Republic
of China, compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular, the mining-related rules
and regulations which have significant impact on the Group. Any changes
in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention
of relevant employees and relevant operation units in the Company and
subsidiaries from time to time.

Relief of Taxation
The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Shares.

Auditor

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been
audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution to re-appoint Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as the independent auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the 2022 AGM.

By order of the Board

Yu Bangping

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 23 March 2022

Annual Report 2021 £ 53

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EFeWE(R)

HEENENERBR
AEMARES - FF - EHHRARS b
HARARRRNEEHNE - AEEARE
HER - MESRGELREREEEHEA
(BIEHEELERE) AN  BHERLEN
AR REATHEERIRE LR
HOALBE o

BEEZHE  B2HAFRETIZE IR
B e REAmE] -

BrEPIRER
REBRETZENER - BREMASES
REPE(IERT) ~ RAMEDI (BB EDIF 622
B)RBEELIED (FEEDIESI0R)SE
REE D RE NEPEIEIEIE - ATERE T RS
ERIRSER 5N - R AEERPEARK
%DI%«%%W WERAAREFERTAE
FREPED] - RAIRER - BRI R REERARE
%’Izli’ilﬁéﬁ%%ﬂﬁiﬁﬁu IR o AREI R
HEBA TE’VFHWEE\&*EF@ B B (U TE /AT
EEERED] - RA BB T

BBRR
AR FLFEEA R TR A B AR T F
EEARBES -

Al

HE2021F12 A1 B IEFEM M B HREE B
EE) SR SETANTTEZ - BRAEIEES)e
BEMR A SRTET AR BB AL AR
RGR2022FRFBF ARG LIRE -

AEZED

RIPF
FEFITHAAH

&% 20223 A23H



54 Perennial Energy Holdings Limited X = #BZaERIERERA T

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERME

Corporate Governance Code

The Company recognises the importance of corporate transparency and
accountability. It is the belief of the Board that the shareholders of the
Company can maximise their benefits from good corporate governance.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2021,
except for certain deviations disclosed herein.

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities

Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company
confirms that the Directors have complied with the required standard set
out in the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership, development
of sound business strategies, availability of adequate capital and managerial
resources to implement the adopted business strategies, adequacy of
systems of financial and internal controls and conduct of business in
conformity with applicable laws and regulations. All Directors have made full
and active contribution to the affairs of the Board and the Board has always
acted in the best interests of the Group.

The executive Directors and the senior management are delegated with
respective levels of authorities with regard to key corporate strategies and
policy and contractual commitments. Senior management is responsible for
the day-to-day operations of the Group with divisional heads responsible for
different aspects of the Group’s business.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the roles of the Chairman of the
Board and the Chief Executive Officer were performed by Mr. Yu Bangping.
Mr. Yu is responsible for the overall management and strategic planning
and business development of the Group as well as day-to-day business
management.

Under code provision A.2.1 (which has been re-numbered as C.2.1 since 1
January 2022) of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
During the year under review, the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer have been held by Mr. Yu Bangping. Mr. Yu Bangping
is the founder of the Group and possesses substantial and valuable
experience in the coal mining industry that is relevant and significant to the
Group’s operation, and therefore the Board believes that vesting the roles
of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer in Mr. Yu
Bangping will provide the Company with strong and consistent leadership
and promote effective and efficient formulation and implementation of
business decisions and strategies. The Board considers that such structure
is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders at this stage.

The Board however will keep reviewing the current structure of the
Group’s management from time to time and should candidate with suitable
knowledge, skill and experience be identified, the Company will make such
nomination as appropriate to ensure that the roles of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer are performed by two separate individuals.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises seven executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu
Bangping, Mr. Sun Dawei, Mr. Wang Shize, Mr. Li Xuezhong, Mr. Lam Chik
Shun, Marcus, Mr. Yu Zhilong and Mr. Yu Xiao and four independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Fong Wai Ho, Mr. Punnya Niraan De Silva,
Ms. Cheung Suet Ting, Samantha and Mr. Wang Xiufeng. Mr. Yu Bangping
(the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company), Mr. Sun
Dawei and Mr. Wang Shize are interested in the Company’s shares through
their interests in Spring Snow Management Limited, the immediate holding
company of the Company. Mr. Yu Bangping is the father of Mr. Yu Zhilong.
Save as disclosed aforesaid, the Directors have no other financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships with one another.
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RERERE (E)

Board Composition (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the number of independent non-
executive Directors represents more than one-third of the Board. As such,
there exists a strong independent element in the Board which can effectively
exercise independent judgement. The Company has complied with the
requirements under Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 11 to 16 of this
annual report.

Independence of Independent Non-executive

Directors

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
each independent non-executive Directors pursuant to the requirements
of the Listing Rules. The Company has assessed their independence and
concluded that all independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the relevant guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

Directors’ Continuing Professional Development

The Company provides regular updates on the business performance
of the Group to the Directors. The Directors are continually updated by
the management of the Company on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory requirements to ensure
compliance and upkeeping of good corporate governance practices.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development courses and seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Directors
participated in continuous professional development by way of attending
trainings and/or seminars organised by professional organisations and
director training webcasts organised by the Stock Exchange and also
reading materials updating new practices, rules and regulations to keep
themselves updated on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company
director.

EESAK @

REZE2021F12 A1 B IEFE - B IEHTT

EZMABBRESEN =S — At ' &
FEBERARNEIITE - RABRULIELE

STHET o RATEIEEST ETARRIZE3 1016 R E

3.10AMRIE THIARE ©

FREENEEFBENAFTHRNEI1E16
"

o

B FPITESAE MM

R EMARARE  ARBE KB SIBLIE
WITEFNFEBLMBRE - RI5 EmRA
FEIABMEMENERIES] - ARFEFHEERE
B YRARMBBIYIFNITESTHEE

-~
VAR

EENHEERER
ARAERETHAEFRHEAREEERR
EIBATIER - EFSAM LTRARE B
EERENBFERSREERTAR - SR
RBTRRH RIFOOEEARR -

RRRSGEESLINEAREEEERNRIZ
RIFETe « LABR ME RS 6 M H &R -
REZE2021F12 A1 B IEFE  EFEBL
BB TR R ST E - B
OB LERESEIUREBETE
] RAIRGERMOBEEN R - 2ESEE R
B EREEREEA LMARESNGTA
- BREE RS -



Annual Report 2021 &%}

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Directors’ Continuing Professional Development

(continued)
According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of trainings
received by the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2021 is as

follows:

Name of Directors

EEnE

HITEF

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Bangping (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Sun Dawei BRRIERE

Mr. Wang Shize FHESAE

Mr. Li Xuezhong FERSEE

Mr. Lam Chik Shun, Marcus MIEERLE

Mr. Yu Zhilong R} BERE

Mr. Yu Xiao RMAEE
Independent non-executive Directors HIPTESE
Mr. Fong Wai Ho FESREE

Mr. Punnya Niraan De Silva
REEL L
IHERE

Ms. Cheung Suet Ting, Samantha
Mr. Wang Xiufeng

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
Each of the executive Directors has entered into an executive director
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years until
terminated by either party by giving to the other not less than one month’s
notice. Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed to
the Board pursuant to his/her respective letter of appointment for a term of
three years until terminated by either party by giving to the other not less
than three months’ notice. The procedures and process of appointment,
re-election and removal of the Directors are governed by the Articles. Each
of the Directors is subject to re-election at the annual general meeting (the
“AGM”) of the Company upon retirement by rotation.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
RERERE (E)

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
(continued)

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at that meeting.

In accordance with Article 16.19 of the Articles, at every AGM of the
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not
less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any newly appointed
Director shall not be taken into account in determining which Directors are
to retire by rotation. A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the
general meeting at which he/she retires and shall be eligible for re-election.
The Company at any AGM at which any Directors retire may fill the vacated
office by electing a like number of persons to be Directors.

Board Process

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the Group. Directors
may participate in meetings either in person or through electronic means of
communications. At least fourteen days’ notice of a regular Board meeting
is normally given to all Directors who are provided with an opportunity
to include matters for discussion in the agenda. According to the current
Board practice, if a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has determined to be material,
the matter will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting
rather than by a written resolution. The Articles also stipulate that save for
the exceptions as provided therein, a Director shall abstain from voting and
not be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving any transaction,
contract or arrangement in which such Director or any of his/her associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) has a material interest.

In addition to Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board met with the
independent non-executive Directors once without the presence of other
executive Directors in 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, four Board meetings were held
and attendance of each Director at the Board meetings is set out in the
section headed “Attendance Record of Meetings” of this report.
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Board Process (continued)
Board and committee minutes are recorded in appropriate detail and
draft minutes are circulated to all Directors and committee members for
comments before being approved.

Board Committees

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee (collectively, the “Board Committees”)
on 15 November 2018. All the Board Committees perform their distinct roles
and functions in accordance with their respective terms of reference which
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expenses.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises three members, all being independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Fong Wai Ho, Mr. Punnya Niraan De Silva
and Ms. Cheung Suet Ting, Samantha. Mr. Fong Wai Ho is the Chairman of
the Audit Committee.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee include, among others,
(i) monitoring the integrity of the Group’s financial statements including
but not limited to the Group’s interim and annual results; (ii) overseeing the
relationship between the Company and its external auditor; (iii) reviewing
the financial reporting system and risk management and internal control
systems of the Group; and (iv) performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision D.3.1 (which has been re-numbered as
A.2.1 since 1 January 2022) of the CG Code.

All members of the Audit Committee possess in-depth experience in
their own profession. At least one of the committee members possesses
appropriate professional qualifications in finance and accounting and meets
the requirements of Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
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Board Committees (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no disagreement
between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection and
appointment of the external auditor. The Audit Committee is mandated to
monitor the independence of the external auditor to ensure true objectivity
in the financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee held two
meetings and performed the following duties:

(@) reviewed, with the management and the external auditor of the
Company, the 2020 annual results and the 2021 interim results of
the Group before their submission to the Board;

(b) monitored the integrity of such financial statements and the
accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group;

(©) oversaw matters concerning the external auditor including making
recommendations to the Board regarding the re-appointment of the
external auditor and approving their fees; and

(d) reviewed the effectiveness of financial controls, risk management
and internal control systems of the Company as well as the
independence of the external auditor.

The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out in the
section headed “Attendance Record of Meetings” of this report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, namely Mr.
Yu Bangping, and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Fong Wai Ho and Ms. Cheung Suet Ting, Samantha. Mr. Yu Bangping is the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition (including without limitation, gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, talents,
skills, knowledge, length of service, experience and other qualities of
Directors) of the Board at least annually and making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors.
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Nomination Committee (continued)

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) with the aim of enhancing the Board’s quality of performance as
well as achieving the Company’s sustainable and balanced development.
Board diversity has been considered from a number of perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge, and
length of service. All Directors’ appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The current Board consists
of a diverse mix of Board members with appropriate skills and experience to
lead and oversee the business of the Company. Depending on the needs of
the Group’s growing business and the availability of competent candidates
to fulfill those needs, suitably qualified individuals will be considered in the
future for membership.

The Board has also adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
to formally set out the criteria, process and procedures for the Nomination
Committee to recommend suitable candidates for directorship. According
to the Nomination Policy, the ultimate responsibility for selection and
appointment of Directors rests with the entire Board or the shareholders
in general meetings, as the case may be. The Board has delegated the
relevant screening and evaluation process to the Nomination Committee,
which identifies suitably qualified Director candidates and recommends
them to the Board. In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
Nomination Committee takes into consideration the expected contribution
of the candidate that would bring to the Board to ensure the Board has
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business, his/her commitment and devoting
sufficient time and attention to the Company’s affairs, fulfiiment of the
independence requirements as set out in the Listing Rules (for independent
non-executive Directors) and diversity on the Board. After reaching
its decision, the Nomination Committee nominates relevant Director
candidates to the Board for approval of appointment and for consideration
and recommendation in respect of the re-election of the retiring Directors.
The Board will make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of Directors at general meetings of the Company.
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Board Committees (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination Committee held
two meetings and performed the following duties:

(@) reviewed the structure, size, composition of the Board;

(b) made recommendations to the Board on re-election of the retiring
Directors;

(c) assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and

(d) reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on renewal of

the executive Directors’ service agreements and the independent
non-executive Directors’ appointment period.

The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in
the section headed “Attendance Record of Meetings” of this report.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises one executive Director, namely
Mr. Lam Chik Shun, Marcus and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Fong Wai Ho and Mr. Punnya Niraan De Silva. Mr. Fong Wai Ho is
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include, among
others, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure
for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies
on such remuneration; (ii) reviewing and approving the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives; and (iii) making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and members of senior
management.
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Board Committees (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee
held two meetings and performed the following duties:

(@) reviewed the remuneration of Directors and senior management
of the Group and recommended the Board to approve their
remuneration; and

(b) reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the proposed
remuneration package of the new senior management of the Group.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is set out
in the section headed “Attendance Record of Meetings” of this report.

Remuneration of the Members of the Senior Management by
Band

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 (which has been revised and re-numbered
as E.1.5 since 1 January 2022) of the CG Code, details of the annual
remuneration of the senior management by band for the year ended 31
December 2021 are as follows:

Remuneration band FrENEE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z751,000,000/E 7T

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 December
2021 are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Attendance Record of Meetings EEEERLELH
Set out below are the individual attendance records of each Director at the INTFESEEEHE AR RNE E2021F12
Board meetings, Board Committees meetings and annual general meeting ABNMALFERTHNEZEEE  LESY
of the Company held during the year ended 31 December 2021: EP L EWN LT s
Attended/Eligible to attend
HiE/ EEREE
Audit Nomination Remuneration Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Directors EEpng Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Exg ERZEE £ P REEEE MREREF
= = =] Lk &
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Yu Bangping RBFLE (FEH

(Chairman and Chief Executive — 77iE#4%)

Officer) 4/4 N/ATE A 2/2 N/ATiE A 1/1*
Mr. Sun Dawei BAREESE 4/4 N/ATE A N/ATiE N/ARiE A 1/1*
Mr. Wang Shize FiEaE 4/4 N/ATE A N/ATE A N/ATRiE A 1/1*
Mr. Li Xuezhong TERLAE 4/4 N/A7 i F N/AR i N/A i F 1/1*
Mr. Lam Chik Shun, Marcus MIEIELE 4/4 N/AT 3 R N/ATE A 212 1/1#
Mr. Yu Zhilong RBEE 4/4 N/ATNE N/ATNE A N/ATNE A 1/1*
Mr. Yu Xiao RXBELE 4/4 N/ATE A N/ATE A N/ATE 1/1*
Independent Non-executive BUHHTEE

Directors
Mr. Fong Wai Ho FRERE 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 1/1*
Mr. Punnya Niraan De Silva Punnya Niraan De Silva

v 4/4 2/2 N/AT i A 2/2 1/1*
Ms. Cheung Suet Ting, Samantha {E &+ 4/4 2/2 2/2 N/ATEFA 1/1*
Mr. Wang Xiufeng IFEERE 4/4 N/ATNE A N/ATE N/AZRiE A 1/1*
* Attended by telephone * BEHE
# Attended in person # HELE

Under code provision E.1.2 (which has been revised and re-numbered as BIECEEATEIFEEN21E(B2022F1 51
F.2.2 since 1 January 2022) of the CG Code, the chairman of the board shall BENREBEF2218) EZCEEEN
attend the annual general meeting. Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, Mr. Yu EREREF RE - MR COVID-19& FIEE -

Bangping, the Chairman of the Board, attended the annual general meeting EESIRAAFRENEFHEARAR
of the Company held on 27 May 2021 (2021 AGM”) by telephone to ensure 202145 427 A RITHIR R B F K& ([2021
that he was also available to answer questions from the shareholders of the FERRBERE]) - UERLERE IO BER
Company. The 2021 AGM was chaired by the executive Director, Mr. Lam EERATIREIRRE - 2021 EREFHEFEKRE
Chik Shun, Marcus. HPTESMEELERETRGERE -
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Auditor’s Remuneration 1% 24 B 357 B

The remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditor, Deloitte RABIEZ AN el ER S FTAITR
Touche Tohmatsu, for services rendered in respect of the year ended 31 B E2021F12 A31 B L FEATIRERBEN
December 2021 is as follows: SEMNBBM ST

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT

Audit services ZERTE 2,117 2,170
Non-audit services Iz ERTE
Other services (Note) H b AR %5 (P3E) 27 1,342

Total it 2,144 3,512

Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2020, other services mainly represented M5t EZE2020F12A831HIEFE - HAREE
the services provided by the Company’s auditor in relation to a potential BIRAR AR BN B — B W AR IR
acquisition of a mining business but the potential acquisition has not been IR ARTS - MERZBEUEE M R TERK ©
completed.

In considering the re-appointment of the external auditor, the Audit ERZEENERERINEZHSMEEERE
Committee has taken into consideration their relationship with the Company Eﬁizﬁ/& a2 ERBEEREREBILE - ﬁ'&f‘q%ﬁﬁ

and their independence. Based on the results of the review and after WEEEAEBEEENER  ERELES
taking into account the opinion of the management of the Group, the Eﬁ%%@ ER BN M EIR T FRTANST
Audit Committee recommended the Board to re-appoint Deloitte Touche BARNBHET —FERINDZEED - AR
Tohmatsu as the external auditor of the Company for the ensuing year, 2022F R BF ARG EARNTIREAAER -

subject to approval by the shareholders of the Company at the 2022 FAEE o Itoh - BEREEERAZEREHTE
AGM. In addition, the Audit Committee is of the view that the auditor’s MR E TR BRI IEER RGBT E -
independence is not affected by the non-audit services rendered.
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Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities in respect
of the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for presenting a clear,
balanced assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects and
preparing the financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
Group on a going-concern basis. The management provides the Board with
the relevant information it needs to discharge these responsibilities. The
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 103 to 105 of this annual report.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the Group’s assets
and the shareholders’ interests. The risk management and internal control
systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
of no material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate
risks of failure in operational systems and achievements of the Group’s

objectives.

Main Features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

Risk Management System

The risk management system comprises risk identification, risk evaluation
and risk management. The management is entrusted with duties to identify
and communicate risks associated with any activity, function or process
within its scope of responsibility and authority. Risks are evaluated by the
Board and management based on the severity of the impact of the risks on
the Company’s financial results and the probability that the risks will occur.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Main Features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems (continued)

Risk Management System (continued)

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company manages the risk as follows:

° Risk mitigation — management will implement risk mitigation plan to
reduce the likelihood and severity of the risk to an acceptable level.

. Risk retention — management will retain the risk if the risk rating is at
acceptable level and no action is required.

° Risk monitoring — management will monitor the level of risk
continuously and will take necessary action to reduce the risk to
acceptable level.

Internal Control System

The Company has put in place an internal control system which enables the
Group to achieve objectives regarding the effectiveness and efficiency of
operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. The main features of the internal control system are
shown as follows:

° Monitoring — ongoing evaluations are conducted to ascertain
whether the internal control system is functioning.

° Risk assessment — a risk management system is established for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Company’s objectives,
forming a basis for determining how risks are managed.

° Information and communication - internal and external
communication are made to provide the Company with information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

Our internal audit department is responsible for assessment of the
effectiveness in the performance of the safety production measures.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Main Features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems (continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

In order to improve the Group’s internal controls and risk management,
the Board has, through the Audit Committee, conducted review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group with the assistance of an independent internal control consultancy
firm, Richard Poon & Partners Risk Management Limited (“Richard Poon”).
Richard Poon has submitted its internal control review and risk assessment
reports of the Group to the Audit Committee and the Board in March 2022.
The review covered the financial, operational and procedural compliance
functions during the year ended 31 December 2021. The review report with
examination results and relevant improvement recommendations were
duly reported to the Audit Committee and the Board for them to assess
the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems of
the Group and any material failings or weaknesses in the internal control
system, and to take appropriate actions to remedy any of these failings
or weaknesses in a timely manner. All remedial actions will be regularly
followed up where necessary to ensure that the failings and weaknesses
have been duly addressed.

The Board considers that the risk management and internal control systems
are effective and adequate and that the Company has complied with code
provisions of the CG Code relating to risk management and internal control.

The Company is aware of its obligation under the SFO, the Listing Rules and
the overriding principle that inside information should be announced on a
timely basis and conducts its affairs in strict compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations. The Company has established disclosure mechanism
regarding the procedures of identifying inside information and preserving its
confidentiality until proper dissemination with the Board’s approval through
the electronic publication systems operated by the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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Procedures and Internal Controls for the Handling
and Dissemination of Inside Information

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Group conducts its affairs with
close attention to the inside information provisions under the SFO and the
Listing Rules. The Directors and senior management are responsible for
determining whether any particular information is inside information and
overseeing and coordinating disclosure of inside information of the Group.
They are also responsible for taking reasonable measures to ensure that
proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement
in relation to the Group from time to time and that disclosures are made
and/or announcements are published on a timely basis in accordance
with the applicable laws and regulations, and before such information is
fully disclosed to the public, they shall ensure the same is kept strictly
confidential. The Directors are also committed to ensuring that information
contained in announcements are not false or misleading as to a material
fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of
presenting information in a clear and balanced way.

Communication with Shareholders and Investor
Relations

The Board communicates with its Company’s shareholders and investors
through various channels. The Board members meet and communicate
with shareholders and investors at AGMs and other general meetings
where shareholders can obtain better understanding of the business and
operating performance of the Group. Corporate communications (such as
interim and annual reports, notices, circulars and announcements) are sent
to shareholders in a timely manner and are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year under review, the 2021 AGM was held on 27 May 2021.
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Dividend Policy

Under the code provision E.1.5 (which has been re-numbered as F.1.1 since
1 January 2022) of the CG Code, the Company should have a policy on
payment of dividends and should disclose it in the annual report.

The Company had not adopted any dividend policy until 29 January 2021.
According to the dividend policy of the Company (“Dividend Policy”)
adopted on 29 January 2021, in deciding whether to propose a dividend
and in determining the dividend amount, the Board takes into account the
following:

(@) The financial results of the Group;

(b) The working capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements
and future expansion plans of the Group;

(¢) The retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company;

(d) The general economic condition, industry cycles of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of the
Group;

(e) Any banking or other funding covenants by which the Company is
bound from time to time;

) Any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s contracting parties;

(9 The shareholders’ and investors’ expectation; and
(h) Any other factors that the Board considers relevant.

The payment of dividends is also subject to compliance with applicable laws
and regulations including the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles.
The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy from time to time
and there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Kwong Leung, Eric was appointed as the company secretary of
the Company on 28 March 2019. Mr. Chan was nominated by an external
service provider in respect of his appointment as the company secretary of
the Company. The primary corporate contact person at the Company was
Mr. Au Yeung Ho Yin, the former Chief Financial Officer of the Group, from
1 January 2021 to 31 March 2021. Mr. Lau Kai Ming, the Chief Financial
Officer of the Group, was appointed the new primary corporate contact
person of the Company with the external service provider effective from 1
April 2021. Mr. Chan has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours
of the relevant professional training during the year ended 31 December
2021.

Shareholders’ Rights

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for the shareholders
to exchange views directly with the Board. Subject to provisions of the
applicable laws in the Cayman Islands and rules and regulations of the
Stock Exchange, an annual general meeting of the Company is held each
year and at the venue as determined by the Board. Each general meeting,
other than an annual general meeting, is called an extraordinary general
meeting (“EGM”).

Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting
Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles, an EGM shall be convened on the
written requisition of any two or more members of the Company, at the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings. Such
requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary
at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong, which
is presently situated at Unit 1003, 10th Floor, Tower 2, Lippo Centre, 89
Queensway, Hong Kong, for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition
and signed by the requisitionist(s). If within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Enquiries by Shareholders to the Board
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the attention
of the company secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong.
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Shareholders’ Rights (continued)

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals by Shareholders at
Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 12.3 of the Articles for putting
forward a resolution at a general meeting. The requirements and procedures
are set out above in the section headed “Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting”.

Significant Changes in Constitutional Documents
No amendment has been made to the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

By order of the Board
Yu Bangping
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 23 March 2022

PR ERER) (@)
BEMNREAZ LIREHEZNER

RBCRAE ERRIEAERR - BIRZAE AR
E12.31% - AR ELEFEN EXBRRA
FBRAFRIAR | —F

ERNMHHNEKREE
HE2021F12A31HIEFE - ARRINER
X EE L SR -

AEFED
EERTHAH
RIF

EFB 0 202293 A23H



Annual Report 2021 &%} 73

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Reporting Principles and Scopes

This environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) report (the “ESG
Report”), following the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” (the “ESG Guide”) under Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, mainly
covers the Group’s principal business and operation from 1 January 2021
to 31 December 2021. To ensure objectivity, the Group appointed an
independent ESG consulting company to facilitate the ESG data collection,
analysis and preparation of the ESG Report, which fully complies with the
ESG Guide and follows HKEX’s ESG Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs and ESG Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs to quantify the Group’s
impacts on these aspects. All original consumption data in the ESG Report
were collected from the Group’s documents and statistics, with full support
from the Group’s management team and the Board. We would like to
express our sincere appreciation to those who facilitated compiling the ESG
Report and refining the Group’s ESG policies.

The Group’s main production facilities are located in Guizhou Province,
China, and mainly engaged in mine development, coal mining as well as
clean coal production and sales, coupled with the sales of other products
generated during the coal preparation or production process, including
middling coal, sludge coal and coalbed methane gas. This ESG Report
mainly covers the Group’s major operations, including Hongguo Coal
Mine, Baogushan Coal Mine, Xiejiahegou Coal Mine, and Songshan Coal
Preparation Plant in Guizhou, and the offices in Guizhou and Hong Kong.
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Stakeholders Communication

The Group’s major stakeholders comprise its shareholders and investors,
government and regulatory bodies, customers, employees, communities,
and media. To ensure this ESG Report reflects their main concerns, the
Group has developed various channels that allow stakeholders to share
their demands and opinions on the Group’s operation and performances
regarding environmental, social and governance aspects. The table below
identifies the major stakeholders’ demands and expectations and outlines
our communication channels with each of them.

Stakeholders Major demands and expectations
BH0E FEERKHE
Shareholders and investors - Profit sustainability

— Corporate governance system

— Production safety

— Prevention of operational risks
PRI EH — RBEEFE

— BEERES

- HERR

— MERLELERMR

Government and regulatory bodies - Compliance to regulations
— Energy consumption and pollutants
emission
- Resources conservation

B K B E — EER
— BEREFER TR
— EHER
Customers — Quality of products and services

— Information security

— Ease of communication
= - EmkRBES

- EAk®

— BBEN
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Main communication channels
FTERBRE

— Company announcements
— General meetings
— Annual report and interim report
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— Supervision and evaluation

- ESG report

— Inspection
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— Business communication
— Customer feedback
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- BEPR#&&



Stakeholders
BE

Employees

7l
0

Communities

=

Media

Annual Report 2021 &%}

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Major demands and expectations
FEERKHE

- Job security

— Workplace safety

— Corporate governance system
- Employee rights and benefits

— Improvement on employee remuneration

and welfare
— Career development
— BERE
- IESMLs
— BEERES
— [EEEN RN
— EEBFH MBI
- BEERE

— Involvement in public welfare activities
— Community investment

— Providing jobs

- ZERRED

- HREKE

— RHsE

— Transparent information
— Sustainable business development
— Production safety

— EFUEH
— ARERBER
- REEE

The Group welcomes feedback on its ESG approach and performances.

Hearing from the stakeholders enables the Group to include all-rounded

opinions when preparing this ESG Report and formulating relevant policies

to address their concerns for the year to come. Should you have any

questions or recommendations on the Group’s ESG matters, please feel

free to enquire via the Company’s website.

RE @ REamE(8)

Main communication channels
FTERRBRE

— Staff meetings and activities
— Staff training

— Workers’ congress

— Recruitment process

— BIgmKEH
— BTz
- BIREKRE

— HERE

Communication with communities and

local government
— Charity activities
— BMR N E TR
- BEEY

— Company’s website

— Company’s advertisements
— Business interviews

— Pressreleases

— AR,

- RAEEE

— BBEHK

— FEEM
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
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Board’s Involvement and Materiality Assessment
The Board of the Company oversees the operation of the Group and
assesses the achievements and shortcomings in terms of environmental
protection, corporate governance, and social involvement. The Board
also guides the preparation and drafting of this ESG Report and provide
necessary support and grant access to relevant materials.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company conducted a
comprehensive internal materiality assessment to identify which ESG-
related aspects concern the Group and its stakeholders the most. Since the
Group’s principal business engages in the extraction of natural resources
and production of coal products, the emission of pollutants and use of
resources are considered top priorities to the stakeholders and the Group.
Meanwhile, the Group’s workforce values employment-related matters and
career development, especially under the prolonged COVID-19 pandemic,
where job security rises as a primary concern for many individuals.

After reviewing this ESG Report, the Board considers it covered all of the
aforementioned major aspects. The board believes that the community
involvement part was the most outstanding during the year under review. It
also recognises the relentless efforts devoted to containing GHG emissions
and air pollutants.
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Environmental Protection

Our General Environmental Policies

Generally speaking, the Group’s mining operation mainly consists of the
following key steps, all of which involve a certain level of environmental
impacts:

Coal Mine Coal

Coal Mining

Development

ad) Preparation
PR3 R

SRR

As our mines and plants are all located in Guizhou Province of the PRC, our
business operations shall comply with the local and national environmental
laws, rules and regulations, including the Environmental Protection Law
of the People’s Republic of China ({ ¥ A R £ A B 1% 35 (R )% )), the
Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People’s Republic of China
(h2E AR L FEEEFET(E %)) and the Administrative Measures for
Inspection and Acceptance on Environmental Protection of Construction
Projects ((3ZRIE B & TIRIB(RE B UE E P55 )). Local authorities also
inspect the Group’s mines from time to time to make sure all onsite
arrangements meet the environmental regulations and safeguard frontline
workers’ health and safety. In case of breach of any of the regulations, the
Group’s mines are at risk of losing their operation permit. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, the overall ecological and environmental risks
are controllable and there are no environmental emergencies nor significant
climate-related issues directly created by the Group so far.

Beyond the regulations, the Group recognises the importance of balancing
its business growth and environmental protection as coal mining is deeply
rooted in nature and affects nature in turn. The Group invests time and
resources to identify the most prominent environmental issues that impact
its operation and its own biggest footprint on the earth. Even though no
particular environmental issue stands out as the most significant impact on
the Group, some aspects do require the most attention and efforts to be
made during the Group’s daily operation, which are: greenhouse gas (“GHG”)
emission, water discharge, and management harmful substances and
wastes. To minimise the environmental impacts caused by our operations
and ensure strict compliance with environmental laws, rules, and regulations,
the Group closely monitors its coal extraction and pollution control measures
and records relevant statistics to compare its performances over the years.
Through site examination, assessment, and planning from time to time, the
Group fully implements sustainable business modal in all major decisions
made and updates the existing procedures if needed.

Transportation
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Waste Management
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Below outlines the major environmental management procedures the Group REEFRKANEZREREBEFBMNT -

Water resources management K& REE
~

The Group has adopted an advanced wastewater treatment solution to minimise the
impact of mining water discharge. Our coal mines are fitted with water treatment
facilities, sewage circulation systems, and recycling pools, which allow us to recycle and
reuse a portion of wastewater when safety protocols are met, and treat the remaining
part till it meets relevant regulatory standards before discharge.
AEEERM—IBEERKEERATRUFTERBLBHEKHTZE o ZMeE
TR A/KERIBERIE » VK BREASR LY - ERARMENALZERENERT
Bl —EB D BERKEEENA - 2 T 800 B RIE LUE BRI B E IR ER YL -

takes:

Solid waste treatment [ g2 FE =) R 12

Coal wastes from Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan Coal Mine are securely loaded
onto trucks and transported to designated areas approximately 2.5 km from each of the
two mines where there’s sufficient capacity to securely contain over 10 years of wastes
produced by these two mines.

REARKEBEREANEBENREREZYH REL2REEH HIBZMIEKEEL2.5
NEMEERIBED - @R AS AR ERE10F A FEEREEY -

Reduction of dust and air pollutants JHA ¥ B R 22 R55 7Y

Low-concentration methane power generators are built in each of our coal mines to
generate electricity from gas while significantly reducing the methane emissions from
our coal mining productivity. We have also installed water sprinklers to control dust and
maintain a safe work environment.

M S EREEZERRER RS - HRENEARESE - ARXERDEM
EREEESFA TS - RPIMBEREREKEEUAENERERS TIERER S -

Noise control 15 3122 4

Our noise control measures include the use of silencers, noise and vibration dampening,
enclosure of noisy equipment, use of insulation materials, and ongoing equipment
maintenance.

BMWREEHTEBEEREEE BRAE BEXNcRIEE  ERREMHR
FEETRBEE

Reclamation activities 1828 &f

We conduct reclamation activities according to the laws and regulations in the PRC,
making our contribution to recovering and preserving damaged farmland, grassland,
and forests so that current and future generations can continue to benefit from these
natural spots.

HAPRIE R BEUA R ROAMETIRRED - B IRENH M - Eith RARIRE R
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GHG Emission Reduction

The Group’s operation involves the emission of GHG. Fuel consumption at
the Group’s mining sites, vehicles used for coal transportation, and waste
treatment procedures directly generate GHG. And purchased energy,
mainly electricity, used to power its machinery and equipment, such as
scraper conveyors and shearers used in coal development, coal mining,
coal preparation, and other production processes, contributes the most to
its indirect GHG emission. To a lower extent, such indirect generation also
comes from power consumption in the Group’s offices in Mainland China
and Hong Kong. An internal audit department assesses and audits the
aforesaid usage of fuel and resources and uses such records as indicators
to determine the effectiveness of Group’s environmental protection
measures. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group is not aware
of any non-compliance incident in relation to air pollutants and greenhouse
gas emissions.

In order to reduce GHG emissions and be a contributing player in the
environmental-friendly movement in today’s coal mining industry, the Group
is committed to modernising its production equipment and techniques.
Burning fossil fuel, by nature, creates a certain amount of carbon
dioxide, the main GHG, and contributes to global warming. By focusing
on producing clean coal, the amount of GHG generated from our final
products could be significantly reduced, leading the industry towards a
more environmentally-friendly path. On the other hand, methane emissions
from coal mining are also one of the major sources of GHG. The Group
has built low-concentration methane gas power plants at each of Hongguo
Coal Mine, Baogushan Coal Mine and Xiejiahegou Mine, which utilises the
methane and prevents it from polluting the air. The Group also carries out
low-carbon and energy-saving projects to encourage every employee to
participate and make their contribution. By taking these steps, the Group
will stay committed to monitoring its resource consumption in the future and
minimising carbon emissions.

Recognising the complexity of business environment of the current times,
in the beginning of the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group targeted
to maintain its carbon emission intensity at a similar level to the previous
year. The Group recorded an increase in the direct GHG emission for the
year ended 31 December 2021, which was attributable to an increase in the
use of energy for both stationed machineries and mobile vehicles, alongside
robust recovery of overall business activities in Mainland China.
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However, inter-city travels were still limited by the anti-epidemic measures,
and the Group’s business trips by air reduced significantly. In addition, our
Hong Kong office undertook periodic flexible working arrangements, which
resulted in a decrease in the use of electricity in Hong Kong. These factors
led to a decrease in the Group’s indirect GHG emissions.

The Group’s GHG emissions in CO, equivalent:

AR RERIRITID BRI HE AR - RSBk
LRI A IERABRD o BEo - A
BB AERITREERIEEE TS - E3R
BRNENERERY - ZERTERAE
EFEORERBYIURD o

AEBEA -SRI E BT ERREREIME
B

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALLFE
2021 2020
20214 2020F

Total Total

emissions emissions
of CO, Key emissions of CO,  Key emissions
equivalent intensity equivalent intensity™

=t =f 4174 Z&AbHR

GHG emissions (kilogram in CO, EEREHHE EEHM EEHM
equivalent) (ZEtmEETR) BEE TEHREE mE FEHHMEEO
(kg) (kg/tonne) (kg) (kg/tonne)
(F%) (F5=,/H) (F=) (F5,/WE)
Direct (Scope 1) B (%EN) 2,678,676 2.51 2,483,631 1.80
Indirect (Scope 2) i (8E2) 70,209,018 65.91 83,633,150 60.55
Total st 72,887,694 68.42 86,116,781 62.35

Note: IE

1) Key emissions intensity is calculated by kg of CO, equivalent emissions per (1) FEREEREHDHERRERNZ

tonne of coal products sold.
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Air Pollution Control RIS RE Hl
The Group’s operation involves the emission of key air pollutants, including REBENSESREEER SRR - £2

primarily Nitrogen Oxide (NO,), Sulphur Oxide (SO,) and Particulate Matters BREAE(Y  ME Y RBFRT - #HE)E
(PM). The use of mobile vehicles contributes the greatest to air pollutant MR RERTAMBERMEREE - Bt -

emission. Thus, the Group set up transportation plans and integrated them AEBOHEERE  SHMAZESF
into its operations to reduce pollution. The Group aims to control its use of PURASRERE - AEEH B ERINARRFME
vehicles and maintain its air pollutants emissions in future years. T A R MR 2 RS R BEUK T o

During the year ended 31 December 2021, as mentioned above, there was a REZE2021F12A31BLFE - W0 EXFT
robust recovery in business activities in Mainland China. Its use of vehicles i PEIKFERE ISR ER - NEEEH

increased significantly compared to a year ago. As a result, the Group’s FREAT—FAEES - At - AEEZ=RS
emission of air pollutants increased. RYNBEREE 2350
The Group’s emissions of key air pollutants: REEMEE RS5O PRSI -

For the year ended 31 December

EZ12A31ALLEE
2021 2020

20214 20204F
Total Key emissions Total  Key emissions
emissions intensity emissions intensity™
Key Air Pollutants FTERRSEY BEHE FEHHZEY mEgrE  EZHREEO
(9) (9/tonne) ) (g/tonne)
() (52/1) (=) (72,/18)
NOy =k 195,982 0.18 114,182 0.08
PM FRFRLT 18,779 0.02 10,941 0.01
SO, maty 326 0.000306 190 0.000137

Note: Btk -

il

o

(1) Key emissions intensity is calculated by gram per tonne of coal products sold. 1) T EP R E IR TNE SR E S
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Hazardous Wastes and Treatment

As an inevitable by-product of the coal washing process, gangue is the main
hazardous waste in the mining industry. If not treated properly, the large
amount of gangue could pose severe impacts to the environment, including
generating toxicity into the air and soil and taking up otherwise fertile fields
or spaces with commercial potential. However, with today’s technology,
qualified companies can sort and clean gangue properly and apply them in
different areas, including power generation and building material production.

The Group engages qualified local village cooperatives to handle the gangue
generated from its production process. A specific field near the mines was
also selected as the Group’s dedicated area to store gangue produced. The
stored gangue is covered with a layer of soil that is suitable for plantation
and has the potential to restore to fertile land.

Since an outsourced service provider cleaned the coal mined from
Xiejiahegou Coal Mine, no gangue was produced onsite. The Group could
not track the amount of gangue produced in its supplier’s facility. Only
Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan Coal Mine contributed to the Group’s
total gangue waste amount during the year under review. Exercising
cautious mining and sorting practices, the Group targeted to reduce its
total hazardous waste amount and maintain the discharge intensity at
a controllable level in future years. With a drop in total coal production,
the Group’s gangue waste fell in both mines. Nonetheless, the Group will
continue its efforts in recovering the maximum potential of reusable material

in its wastes.

BEBRMREERED A
{ERsERIBIRh BAEEMBIEY - AR
BETEEERERY) - WERETE - KEMF
AARERER BT E  aEERSHE
ZERALE - WEARMRALBHEEND
ALz - AT BEE SR AEED
AIATRR M AR EER - ER AL
FER - RERE RN AE -

REBEZEEHWAEENRAFLRIELER
TR FTELMNIT A  NEE TN ESHT R
H— R E R IR E AT AR EMRR - FT A
SNEREBAREMNLIE  BEAMERIEAL
HEE D) ©

AR B8 BRI BR B o e — RSN H AR T 41
ERAENR  HZRRR ST BELRA -
REEEEHEHEHRIEELNIT O EHETT
BHE - REBEFERN  AEBFOEEYE
ERAREARKIRELBAILRE - REER
FRIENIRE RS EME - B ERNARRFR
BMOBEBREMEE  BHIREERFRAE
BIKF - BEERREE TR - AEBRZME
EHRAT R EEEYIGA TR A - REE
BIEEARERERY D IERYHNRNE
o
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A breakdown for gangue generation and intensity by mines: LESE AT ABERE R ZERA

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
Hazardous Hazardous
Gangue waste Gangue waste
generation intensity® generation intensity™
BEEEY BEEEY
HasEHRE ZEO TaERE BEO
(tonne)  (tonne/tonne) (tonne) (tonne/tonne)
() (mg,/Wg) ) (W8,/158)
Hongguo Coal Mine AR 440,294 0.41 575,164 0.42
Baogushan Coal Mine BALERE 403,653 0.38 430,569 0.31
Total wme 843,947 0.79 1,005,733 0.73
Note: PisE
(1) Hazardous waste intensity is calculated by tonne of hazardous waste per (1) EEBEEDTELRSWDHERRERN
tonne of coal products sold. EEREEM(E)TE -

Non-hazardous Wastes and Treatment BEBRZVIREBEREERE
The non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group consist of general REBELANBEEEVRE —MEEEY R
production waste and domestic waste such as waste paper, which are WAZERIR(AREAR) - IRIRED BN HE
sorted at source and then treated by the local government. For the year WA RS —#ETRE - BlE2021F12A
ended 31 December 2021, there was no quantified record of such non- MELFE  HMEFUAEEELLEES
hazardous wastes produced by the Group. The Group continues to BEEYNE(LEEE - NEBEGEESEE T
encourage its staff to recycle at work and home, so as to minimise general THERERSERBAYE  UEERI—K

waste and aim for a greener environment. REY) - BIREBIRE
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Energy Consumption

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s energy consumption
was mainly composed of diesel, unleaded petrol, and electricity. Diesel
consumption comes from onsite power generation, mining fleets, mining
machinery and equipment. Unleaded petrol was mainly used to power
automobiles while electricity was mainly purchased and served as the main
power sources across the Group’s facilities in Guizhou and Hong Kong.

To reduce the use of fossil fuels, the Group always keeps up with the latest
technology trends in the industry to make sure its machinery meets the
energy efficiency standard. As for electricity usage, we convey energy-
saving messages to all employees in our locations. For example, in the back
offices, the Group encourages staff to turn off lighting and other electronic
equipments when not in use, including but not limited to computers,
printers, and fax machines. The Company targets to achieve energy saving
and maintain the energy consumption intensity in future years by exploring
energy-efficient initiatives for a sustainable business.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group aimed to control its use
of energy, and maintain energy consumption intensity as much as possible.
However, with the continued resumption of business activities in China, the
usage of vehicles, fossil fuels and electricity saw an increase. On the other
hand, there was a decrease in total amount of products sold, which was
due to small faults that occurred in Hongguo and Baogushan mines. While
the Group has been working on preparing new work faces to minimise the
impacts of the faults, more energy was devoted to the project.

REREFE
REE2021F12A31 B IEFE - AEBEDER
WELREZ IR - B TAREN - Sh
HERBBISEE « RIBBEE - RS &R
o BT EZANEESASB - MATEEN
Al X ZREAEEENREEZBHEZS
R o

RMDEREARE  ARERKRERAITE
RABIBE - BREMERERERITE - 5l
BENEAME - HARAESLMAREEE
ENRERTLE. B0 - AEEER B AP S TRE
ETEANEREREMEFRE(BERENR
RER - ITEIRREEK) - AEENBERE
ARRERRA AT B TSR R s B8 48
FELNZRENE BER R R RERERERE -

HE2021F12A31BALLFE - AEBMERA
BAORERER  REEFEREETE - A
i - EERBEEEERISERE - AE kA
MBI RENOFERBIIEN - 5—HE * ER
S 8 B AT R0 R B LB L 3R/ N A B
BiEd o AR —E AR TIEmETE
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Diesel and unleaded petrol consumptions and the intensity: Soih R mE ) DRMEE REE

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A1ALEE
2021 2020
20215 20204
Energy Energy
Energy consumption Energy consumption
consumption intensity consumption intensity™
HREE ROREERE0 gREE  BREERE0
(litres) (litres/tonne) (litres) (litres/tonne)
(#) (F+/8) (FH) (F+/18)
Diesel ey 1,001,201 0.94 935,760 0.68
Unleaded petrol ES RN 22,145 0.02 12,902 0.01
Note: MzE -
(1) Energy consumption intensity is calculated by litre of energy consumption per (1) EREETEREWD HEKKE DRI
tonne of coal products sold. REE(FH)HE -
A breakdown of electricity consumption by region: i@ Bl S HFEE SR

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
Electricity Electricity
Electricity consumption Electricity consumption
consumption intensity® consumption intensity™
HEE FEEZEO REE REREO
(kWh) (kWh/tonne) (kWh) (kWh/tonne)
(FRER) (TRE W) (FRE) (TR W)
Mainland China LGN 113,723,000 106.76 98,716,842 71.47
Hong Kong G 12,096 0.01 23,959 0.02
Total HE 113,735,096 106.77 98,740,801 71.49
Note: I3E
(1) Electricity consumption intensity is calculated by kWh of electricity (1) HEREREWEHERRERNEEE

consumption per tonne of coal products sold. (FEF)FE -
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Water Consumption

A reliable water source is vital for the Group’s production process. Each
of the three mines has their production and domestic water supply from
surface and underground sources, and there was no water sourcing
difficulties during the year under review. Underground water from the
Group’s mine was extracted and filtered for using at the coal preparation
plant, fire-safety facilities, and as an anti-dust agent. The remaining filtered
water is then discharged to the Songshan River or for agricultural irrigation
in the local area. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group aimed
to reduce its total water consumption. Though the target was met, the
consumption per tonne of coal products sold saw an increase, as the
amount of products sold was affected by the small faults that occurred in
two of the Group’s mines.

A breakdown of water consumption by workshop:

FEKE
ASKRERAEBLEETFEZHEE - — (@
BB £ R AR KB 2R At FRK i
K - BIREE E R A T RS (T R AR K R E Y
BN - AEBEFEISMM TKERIUBREZ AR
VEIERR - BB R R FAVERR B o FIERIRIAIK
BEEFEAMRILAS AR E R EZEER - &=
202112 A AIEFE - REEBERRD
ks  BEEKBE S IHEEEKE
MEFEKEGATE - TIRRERBESEA
EEMIERERE DR N BN E A -

AT HEI DR KEHA :

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2021 2020
20214 2020
Water Water
Water consumption Water consumption
consumption intensity® consumption intensity™
FKE FXBEO FkE FkBmED
(md) (m%/tonne) (md) (m®/tonne)
(SLFHXK) (SZAK, W) (LK) (SZAK,/ 1)
Hongguo Coal Mine TRER 687,600 0.65 732,000 0.53
Baogushan Coal Mine BALERE 683,500 0.64 735,700 0.53
Xiejiahegou Coal Mine BIENEN=YEL 391,400 0.37 391,400 0.28
Songshan Coal Preparation Plant 2L HE B 118,600 0.11 117,500 0.09
Total st 1,881,100 1.77 1,976,600 1.43
Note: iiEzd
(1) Water consumption intensity is calculated by m?® of water consumption per 1) FREERGWEEHERRERNFEKE

tonne of coal products sold.

(ST K5t -
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Paper Consumption and Packaging Materials

Among the Group’s workplaces, paper is consumed across Hongguo
Coal Mine, Baogushan Coal Mine, Xiejiahegou Coal Mine, Songshan Coal
Preparation Plant, as well as offices in Mainland China and Hong Kong. As
the business activities thrived with the continued recovery from COVID-19
related limitations, the Group’s total paper consumption for the year ended
31 December 2021 increased. However, the Company targets to reduce
paper waste in office in future years by controlling paper usage requirement
and encourages all departments to process information digitally as much as
possible.

Paper consumption and intensity:

Paper consumption (kg) FEHRE(TR)
Paper consumption intensity (kg of paper
consumption per tonne of coal products sold)

(kg/tonne)

Working Environment and Employee Development
Operating in a labour-intensive industry where frontline workers are under
relatively high safety and health risks, human resources work is one of
the top priorities of the Group. Apart from following relevant laws and
regulations, the Group adopts the necessary steps to keep its employees
happy at work to maintain stability, which could help promote workplace
motivation. The Group’s human resources practices will be laid out in the
following sections.

FERZE (T) (IREMEHE
BRIREmNFELRE (T )aH)

RE @ REamE(8)

FERENREEMH
EREENTHESAES  HBRARNESME
FRALRBNE - BAWREE - SI5O0BRE - 7
WSCHERR - AR EIAREREEHPAE - B
ZCOVID-1918RIR B AR - AL EE
PER - AEEREE2021F12A31ALF
EEVEFEARERMIEN - BREEFT TSR
MARREREZEDAREL B S FFIRE N
B AREER - FEARD MR EEELR
RE

REEREE :

For the year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEFE

2021 2020
20214 20204
6,246 4,804
0.006 0.003

THREREEERE

REPHTENTERAEESKRENRIAR
HERRYESN 2 RERERE - MANER
THRAKEERIHZ — - REEREER
ERN ARBEERBUSBEBESEET
TEERRE - MIBEAL » (B TIERIENER
o REBANERERBGRA TR B -
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The table below shows detailed employee statistics of the Group

catagorised by contract, job function, gender, age group, and employment

location:

By job function
Directors of the Company

Administration and management

Accounting and finance
Sales and marketing
Production scheduling
Production safety

Mine production

Coal preparation

Supply and procurement

By gender
Male
Female

By age group
Below 30
31-40

41-50

51-60

Above 60

By employment location

Guizhou
Hong Kong

Total

REEER D
ARAEESE
THER
SR
HHE K H
HEZE
LS

AV INEAT

BRI
S

7

REFERERE D
30B%E AT
31-405%
41-503%
51-607%
60755 A =

BRI{EHEE D
=)

e

TREIAKEIZEL - Biae - 15 - Fied
IR TR E D AR B BE -

Number of employees

BEAE
As at 31 December

128318
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
11 11
299 294
29 30
6 5
27 26
281 297
2,236 2,118
204 207
5 5
2,736 2,644
362 349
582 580
1,036 978
957 929
512 488
11 18
3,087 2,982
11 11
3,098 2,993
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The table below sets out the employee turnover rate by gender, age group
and geographical region:

By gender ZERIE D
Male St
Female 2zt

By age group REwRARNE D
<30 305% AT
31-40 31-405%,
41-50 41-505%,
51-60 51-605%,

> 61 61553k A E
By geographical region ZitEE D
Guizhou M

Hong Kong E

Employment Standards

The Group upholds high ethical standards in its hiring process while strictly
following local and national laws and regulations. All employees of the
Group in Mainland China are covered by the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({7 & A R H£F1B45 &))%)), the Labour Contract Law of
the People’s Republic of China ({1 # A R £ M % 8) & [/ %)), General
Principles of the Civil Law of the People’s Republic of China (£ A R
E R E@AID); while all the employees in Hong Kong are covered by the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the
Laws of Hong Kong).

RE @ REamE(8)

TRHEFIRIER - FheiER MRS D HEER

sk

Employee turnover rate
EEREE
For the year ended 31 December
BZ12B318LEE

2021 2020
20214 20204
30.34% 22.54%
15.47% 14.61%
40.03% 41.03%
32.72% 23.72%
22.05% 14.10%
16.41% 8.81%
172.73% 16.67%
28.70% 21.70%
9.09% 0.00%

EiRZER
AEEEREBAETRESEREENRE
TRER IR B ST 0T R ZOERIER - AEEE
RATAPBEIKRMERE Z(PEARKME S B
E) (PEARKTBEH & RE)R(PEA
RAMBREBRDARE - UANERABEE
BREREBEDESTE(RFBIED) - BB
EDIE 48 BCRBIMEATREF BIGDD R EE
M 25608 F( FAK T & IR BIDPIREE
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Adhering to the relevant local and national laws and regulations, as well as
the Group’s internal guidelines, hiring of the following groups of persons
are strictly prohibited, including under-aged labour, persons on sick leave
or injury leave, those who were prohibited from working in the industry
by law, those who can’t pass the physical examination for the relevant
position, and any other persons who are prevented from employment by
law. Our recruitment decisions are based on the type of work, skills, and
qualifications required by different positions. The general manager of each
subsidiary is responsible for the employment practices of the respective
company and shall be held accountable in case of illegal employment and
termination, inappropriate punishment, incomplete social insurance etc.
Due to strict internal hiring rules, no such cases were found during the year
under review.

Equal Opportunities

The Group’s hiring decisions were made solely based on whether the
candidates’ skillset met the relative requirements of the positions they
applied for. We will not refuse employment due to factors such as
candidates’ ethnicity, age, gender, religious belief, and marital status. During
the year under review, the Group’s staff ranged from all major age groups,
from ones who freshly joined the workforce to those nearing retirement
years. However, as more male individuals were willing to join labour-
intensive frontline positions in Guizhou, the Group employed significantly
more men than women, though no gender-discrimination cases nor any

other unequal hiring standards were spotted during the year under review.

The Group endorses a fair and open competing environment, in which equal
opportunities are provided to our employees. As in our hiring process, the
Group treats all employees equally when considering their remuneration,
benefits, and promotion. Relevant training schemes are also arranged to
cater to the different needs of our employees in various roles. More about
remuneration and on-job training will be explained in the following sections.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not receive any
complaints in relation to unequal employment or workplace discrimination.
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Remuneration and Benefits

As the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance requires,
the Group contributes to all employees’ mandatory provident fund and
retirement benefits scheme. As for Mainland China, we provide retirement
benefit to all eligible employees in accordance with relevant national
laws and regulations including pension insurance, medical insurance,
unemployment insurance, employment injury insurance, maternity
insurance, and housing fund, widely referred to as “Five Insurances and One
Fund” in the region.

All employees are provided with competitive salaries, reasonable working
hours, statutory holidays, paid leaves. The Group’s hiring rules set out clear
guidelines in these aspects.

Occupational Health and Safety

While our Hong Kong employees mainly work in administrative back offices,
with relatively low health and safety risks, our mineworkers in Guizhou are
exposed to relatively high risks; thus, this section mainly covers employees
in Mainland China. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
has complied in all material respects with all applicable laws and regulations
concerning health and safety at our coal mines in China, in particular,
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Work Safety ({1 % A & &7
% & 4 E J% )), the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases Law
of the People’s Republic of China ((# E A & H F1E 8 2% 7 4% )), the
Regulations on the Safety Management of Hazardous Chemicals /&2t 2
mi 2 EIE{%M])) and the Provisions on Fire Control Safety Education and
Training (&8 Z 2B 52338 E ). No fatal accidents occurred at our
coal mines for the three years ended 31 December 2019, 2020, and 2021.
Occupational injuries and lost workdays were kept at reasonable levels.

RE @ REamE(8)

S E R
REEBCRHEREEFERPDORE - K
SESE2EBIREBNEHIMERAES RIEET
B - R EIAR - RPHRZRERNMERX
RIEERAMBNEGENE TIRHBER
% BERR  KERR - THRE - E5R
BUAREFATEE - EAEREZER Ak
_ézj o

AEEREREREHAGFINGS - AETIFR
2ORESTRERE  BFRETE - NEERHE
ERAINZE T ERETEME5

HERREZR
BMNEBEETSNRTHESH TE - 2%
RZ2RBAHEREK  BRMESMNOELIR
BREERAES RS - Bt - RS EFEZREF
BIAPERES - REIE2021F12A31HIEF
B AEEBESFMEERMEPBENEREES
BRRRET2HEBENER - BBEIE
(REARAFMEZZEEE) (PEARKL
MERERPEE) - (ER{EBRE2EIRK
PR B ZEHEEFIRE) - REE
20194 * 20204 K 2021412 A31H |t = fEAF
B AEBEETESMEZEE AR TENR -
TERBRAIEBHRISESIEKYE -



O2 Perennial Energy Holdings Limited X 3332 8R 1= RA R A

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
R g RERHRE ()

The Group upholds the principle of “safety before production”. In

accordance with the latest safety regulations and industry guidelines,

the Group has established a range of standard policies and measures

implemented in its production workshops as follows:

1)

Staff at mines shall comply with safety rules and processes and
wear personal protective equipment, including masks, earmuffs, and
safety caps;

Standard ventilation equipment is established at work, with regular
monitoring of the level of toxic gas in the mine;

Workers shall receive training and obtain qualification proofs before
using the machinery of the mines, including excavators, drills,
explosives and trucks;

Each coal mine has established its production safety management
department with designated heads in charge of safety management,
including inspecting the conditions of the mines to ensure safe
working conditions;

Each coal mine is assigned with over 30 officers from the production
safety management department who have received professional
training and are qualified. They are assigned to different teams and
key activities; and

A meeting will be convened before each team enters the mine,
emphasising that staff shall maintain their safety awareness and
shall be cautious of potential hazards.

On top of the Group’s general health and safety protocols, more health

precautions were taken during Hong Kong’s repeated waves of COVID-19

outbreaks. We provided adequate hygiene products in workplaces and

periodically adopted flexible work arrangements to minimise our employees’

exposure to COVID-19 infection. In Mainland China, all employees must use

Health Code and undertake tests when required by local authorities.
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TERBANEB N 280

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
Number of Number of
Number of ~ working days Number of working days
injuries from lost due to injuries from lost due to
occupational occupational occupational occupational
accidents injuries accidents injuries
ETEBZING EIBGELX FAIEBEIN EIHEE
BYZEAH THEEH SRXEAH T{ER %
Hongguo Coal Mine AR 66 6,425 56 5,990
Baogushan Coal Mine BalEE 53 5,479 38 3,844
Songshan Coal Preparation Plant  ALLIEE R 8 462 9 1,128
Xiejiahegou Coal Mine FEOEETE 44 4,607 47 1,825
Total st 166 16,973 150 12,787
Development and Training ERENRIEY

The Group regularly assesses the work performance of its employees as
the primary indicator for remuneration adjustment and promotion. The
assessment process is fair, transparent, and accountable. We encourage
our employees to take up new challenges and responsibilities to grow their
vocational skills and showcase their capabilities in order to gain career
development.

In terms of training, first and foremost, the Group strictly provides induction
training for recruits according to Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Work Safety, while ordinary workers and special operators shall pass annual
training tests to obtain certifications before starting work. In addition, the
Group offers professional on-the-job training based on the needs of the
different roles such as coal mining, supply and procurement, administration,
and accounting, so that employees can improve their skills in terms of their
specialties and have opportunities for further development.

AEETEHFARENTIERE - PAIERH
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Adequate training courses were provided without discrimination against
age, gender, and ranking. However, as part of regulatory requirements and
our safety protocol, significantly more training was offered to mineworkers,
who are mainly male employees.

The table below shows a breakdown of the number of attendances by

employee type:

2021
021%F

Average

Total training hours

number of completed per

attendances attendances

trained (hours)

BESEIN

EREIN  ESNTE

By categories et EE4% K (/)
By gender fttRIER

Male S 5,510 483

Female ot 9 50
By job categories EE TR

Administration and management hEE 2 50

Accounting and finance e Ri% 12 50

Sales and marketing HEREH 6 50

Mine production BRAE 5475 487

Supply and procurement {ERRE 5 50

PR R SRS -

PR TS S e

Ao A (EREEERRBML 2RI —
o MASHEERTNBEBTRHE T RER

Al o

TREFIRIE B IRRIEI DY HE AR -

For the year ended 31 December

HZ12R31BLEE
The Total
percentage of number of
attendances attendances
trained trained
B BRI
EENEY E5eg
99.84% 4,657
0.16% 13
0.38% 23
0.22% 12
0.11% 5
99.20% 4,625
0.09% 5

2020

0205
Average
training hours
completed per
attendances
(hours)
SfEREn
RS
BE0E)

489
355

50
50
50
490
50

The
percentage of
attendances
trained

Bl
EEHESY

99.72%
0.28%

0.49%
0.26%
0.1%
99.04%
0.11%
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Supply Chain Management

Our suppliers mainly provide the Group with major materials related to coal
mining, coal preparation and construction of coal mines, including water,
electricity, mining materials, parts and components, as well as auxiliary
materials. As water and electricity are mainly sourced from municipal
sources, this section mainly covers suppliers for other materials mentioned
above.

The Group purchases mechanical auxiliary materials from external parties
such as articulated rollers, belt conveyors, bottom rollers, polyester
composite pipes, rubber, curing agents, support steel, fire-resistant belts,
hydraulic supports, anchor nets and lifting boards, which haves significant
impact on the safety of our workshops. Other than necessary qualifications,
the Group also considers suppliers’ environmental impacts and tries to
engage with companies with the same ethical values as ours. Therefore,
the Group imposes stringent requirements on selecting suppliers. As a
ground rule, suppliers shall provide spare parts and accessories that meet
international and national provisions relating to quality, environmental
impacts, and social standards. For large orders, relevant departments shall
first compare at least three suppliers based on quality, price, delivery time
and services. Internal approvals must be obtained before any large orders
are processed.

The Procurement department keeps a record of past supplier contacts so
that the Group can have a reference when deciding on future purchases.
After receiving initial quotes, the Group usually makes one-off procurements
to stay flexible and select suitable suppliers each time.

During the year under review, the Group had 303 suppliers (2020: 298), all
located in Mainland China.
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Product Responsibility

Quality Control

As one of the largest producers of 1/3 coking coal in the Guizhou Province,
we aims to provide our customers with the qualified products. Moreover,
poor quality fossil fuel products could pose a severe threat to the natural
environment and end-users’ working conditions. Thus, the Group adopts
a comprehensive quality control system to ensure the final products
meet requirements by regulations, the customers, and the Group’s own
guidelines. A designated quality control laboratory is set up in our Songshan
Coal Preparation Plant, where the technicians conduct preliminary testing
on our products to determine the quality. The products would be traced and
further studied whenever any abnormal indicators were found.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not violate or
breach any laws and regulations relating to product responsibility and did
not receive any product complaints or claims.

Customer Services and Information Management

We undertake responsibility for the products we sell and require our
sales team to provide thorough customer services, including pre-sales
explanations on product features and after-sales follow-ups on product
quality. The Group’s sales team connects us to our customers, mainly
coking enterprises, iron and steel or chemical manufacturers, power
plants, etc. They negotiate with customers to determine the selling price by
considering production cost, market demand, specification and quality, and
prevailing market rates.

As for customers’ private and sensitive information, the Group strictly
complies with relevant privacy provisions and treats customer privacy with
high alert. Customer information is generally recommended to be stored
digitally, while sales managers oversee the printing of customer documents
and filing of hard copies. Both hard copies and electronic files containing
customer information are only accessible by relevant and authorised staff
while presenting confidential customer information to other individuals or
bringing them outside of workplaces is strictly prohibited. Staff in breach of
the rules above may be subject to fines or termination of employment.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not receive any
reports or customer complaints on violation of the laws and regulations
relating to customer services and information management.

T’EﬁfﬂéﬁS’i@KﬁiE?ﬁZ— HAIA
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Intellectual Property Management

All intellectual works created by our employees to complete work
assignments on behalf of their company and using physical materials
provided by the company are considered company intellectual property.
These properties mainly cover the following: patent rights and confidential
technical information of new products, new techniques, new materials, and
new formulas etc., trademarks of the Group and its subsidiaries, confidential
business information, and copyright of the Group’s product designs and
other documents. Considering the Group’s business nature and operation
methods, the laws and regulations that concern us the most include the
Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China ((FFZE A R LM 1Z)%)),
the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China ({12 A R A E &
#5%)) and the Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China ({2 A RN
BEZEFE)).

Our legal affairs department and offices are in charge of intellectual property
management while other relative departments assign members to assist.
When partnering with outside parties, confidentiality terms may be added to
the engagement contracts to protect the Group’s intellectual properties. On
the other hand, we also respect the intellectual properties of our suppliers
and customers.

No breach of intellectual property laws and regulations was found during
the year under review.

Anti-Corruption

The Group is committed to operating with integrity and pursues business
ethics by following all applicable anti-bribery and corruption laws, including
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong as well as all the relevant
anti-corruption laws in Mainland China. As a listed company, we also
comply with the Corporate Governance Code, set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules, as the basis in formulating the internal rules and regulations
for integrity discipline and clean administration.
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The Group has zero tolerance for bribery, extortion, fraud, and money
laundering. As such, a comprehensive internal manual on anti-corruption
was set up to guide the management team and other employees on this
topic. We also have an independent investigation team and an anonymous
reporting system to receive tips on any suspicious cases. In case of any
breach of internal anti-corruption rules, the progress and results of the
corruption investigation will be submitted directly to the Board. If non-
compliance cases of governing laws were found, we would report to the
authority and hold respective staff accountable. The Group also arranges
regular training sessions for all employees to build a transparent and justice
working environment.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group was not involved in
any corruption litigation and has not received any suspected corruption
report.

The following table shows the number of anti-corruption training sessions
provided by the Group:

B R EISEIIRRIAE
BXREFEIINLEAR

Number of anti-corruption training sessions held
Number of employees receiving anti-corruption
training

Community Investment

The Group ranked the 41st among the top-100 private enterprises in
Guizhou in 2021 and was nominated for Panzhou City’s first Mayor’s Quality
Award. With roots in Guizhou and a base in Hong Kong, we care about the
local communities in both regions and try to give back to society, especially
when COVID-19 brought lasting challenges to many people in need. The
Group focuses on contributing to promoting education and helping lift
people out of poverty, as such areas are strongly needed in Guizhou’s rural
villages.
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During the year ended 31 December
BZ12A1ALLFE

2021 2020
2021 20204
5 5
1,695 1,670
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During the year under review, resources we allocate to community
investment are summarised below:

Donation of RMB130,000 to Red Cross, Panzhou City;

- Tuition and living subsidies of RMB51,900 towards 3 local
impoverished college students in Songshan Village, Panzhou City;

- Donation of RMB668,200 to Songshan Village, Hongguo Street,
Panzhou City to contribute to the Rural Cooperative Medical
Scheme;

- Donation of RMB800,000 to Songshan Village, Hongguo Street,
Panzhou City for removal of garbages;

- Donation of RMB111,600 to Songshan Village, Hongguo Street,
Panzhou City for the construction of local bus station;

- Sponsorship of RMB5,000 to Shangwu Village, Yangchang
Township for activity room water supply;

- Donation of RMB40,000 to the People’s Government of Yangchang
Township to help combat poverty;

- Donation of RMB50,000 to the Workers’ Union of Yangchang
Township;

- Donation of RMB20,000 to the Finance Department of People’s
Government of Yangchang Township; and

- Donation of HK$18,000 to Food Angel to help Hong Kong people in
need.

RE @ REamE(8)

REIEFEA - BMD R T REENERE
FaT

- BEMNTA+F2REEARK130,000
JC s

- AEMNTRILNIR A ERAEETR
2 A R#51,0007CHEE L ETEHRL

- AN REBEDLNBEARE
668,200 T BN B & 1EE B H E 4

E
A

- REMNTARGERUMNBREARE
800,0007C AR EIBAIK

— BERNTARGERILUNBEARE
111,600 T AR ZRR & b /R B Ul

- BESH FFRE B ARES5,0007TH
REEEHIK

- BESBARBITREBE A RE40,000
TLARRE RER

- BESMT 2B A RE50,0007T

- REGBARBFVRRBREARE

20,0007C : &
— BIEREEE18,0008 TTRREDE
BEERMERMMHAL -



1 OO Perennial Energy Holdings Limited A Z=BEaRIZERER QA

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR S

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PERENNIAL ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
AZABERRERERAT
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Deloitte

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Perennial
Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 106 to 208, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter

BsET SR
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R E R EIE (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNERNMEERRETSE

Depreciation of mining structures included in property, plant and equipment and amortisation of mining rights

FTAYF - B R R BRI IR IS Y HIHT B R AR AR AE A 3

We identified the depreciation of mining structures included
in property, plant and equipment and amortisation of mining
rights as a key audit matter due to the involvement of
significant estimation and the management’s judgement in
determining the total proven and probable reserves of the
coal mines.

MR RERHE R ER EE T AERE R A FERER
THE - BEMSEADE - BE R REHREBEYITE R
RUEREMIHE T RS R -

As explained in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group determines depreciation of mining
structures included in property, plant and equipment and
amortisation of mining rights by using the units of production
method based on the actual production volume over the total
proven and probable reserves of the coal mines concerned.
The estimated reserves are the estimates of the quantity of
coal that can be economically and legally extracted from the
Group’s mining properties, which are determined according
to an independent technical review report prepared by an
external specialist with the consideration of recent production
and technical information of each mine. In addition, a
variation on recovery rates or unforeseen geological or
geotechnical perils may cause the management to change
the production plan resulting from a revision to the estimates
of coal reserves.

MINARE SRR M 4RTI - BERERE A EEEEE L
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FREYE AL B GRHT EERRONBEREE - EHT -
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ELRIBEA S B IR ERR K HE M BTG e
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As set out in notes 15 and 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, the amortisation of mining rights and depreciation
of mining structures for the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to RMB35,912,000 (2020: RMB38,238,000) and
RMB17,338,000 (2020: RMB15,071,000), respectively.
BUNER A MIS SRR 15 R13ATAL - HZ=2021F12A31H 1k
FE - IR RIBEBENITE S R A AR%35,912,000
7C (20204 : A KK #38,238,0007T ) & A K # 17,338,000 7T
(20204 : AR¥15,071,0007T) °

Our procedures in relation to the depreciation and
amortisation of mining related assets included:

BN ERRERE B EMITE M HEF B

e Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the external specialist who prepared the independent
technical review report;

o MERHBURMBMARENIIBERNESR  BENRE
mit

e Obtaining an understanding from the external specialist
about the techniques applied in estimation of total proven
and probable reserves of the coal mines, the basis of
calculation, key inputs and data used in the estimation;

o MINPBERBHMAGTREZE LMK ERESIERIR
g~ AEPTAMG EERESE FERABBRKIER

e Assessing the reasonableness of key inputs (i.e. the
actual production volume of coal mines during the year
and estimated total proven and probable reserves of
coal mines) used in the calculation of depreciation and
amortisation of mining related assets; and

o FHMEANFIERBRBEENE M HN E B AZUR (D
FRRENERES A RMTIREEERERERE) NS
Bt R

e Examining the production summary prepared by the
management of the Group and checking the consistency
of estimated production volume throughout the useful
lives of the mines against the estimated coal reserves
based on an independent technical review report
prepared by external specialist.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors of the Company

and those charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Ng Kin Fai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HERmRAMEENER

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021F12A31ALEFE
2021 2020
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
PiEE ARET T ARBFIT
Revenue g 5 1,541,399 1,402,604
Cost of sales SHEE R AR (622,916) (686,600)
Gross profit EF 918,483 716,004
Other income Hob Yz 7 13,296 35,290
Fair value change of contingent ENZARBRATEES
consideration payables (308,518) (16,072)
Other gains and losses Hitlzs &8 7 1,935 (2,475)
Distribution and selling expenses DEREERYT (58,109) (105,626)
Administrative expenses TR (129,921) (121,230)
Other expenses Hibx (2,690) (283)
Finance costs RhE A 8 (23,048) (21,223)
Profit before taxation B F54 Al S A 9 411,428 484,385
Taxation charge FIE H 10 (109,658) (138,905)
Profit and total comprehensive income 4 P Al 2 2 UK A 4258
for the year 301,770 345,480

Earnings per share (RMB cents) BREFMNARES)
Basic HA 12 18.86 21.59
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties

Mining rights

Restricted bank deposits
Rental deposits

Deposits for purchase of property, plant

and equipment

Deposit for acquisition of mining rights

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and bills receivables

Deposits, prepayments and other
receivables

Tax recoverable

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade payables

Other payables and accrued charges

Contract liabilities

Lease liabilities

Tax payable

Bank borrowings

Contingent consideration payables

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

FRBEE

W -~ BB KR
BREME

PRz
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Heme

BEME  BEMRENZS

W SRR RS

REEE

&

B SR R R E

Be  BNRAREMEKIEA

B EEE
RITHEBEIRE
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BHEE

FERTEIR

RITREK

FERTRARKME

REERRBEE

NOTES
i

13
14
15
17
21

21
21

19
20

21

22

23
24
25
26

27
28

ﬁ-{

=
el

FESAR LR

As at 31 December 2021

M2021412H31H

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
1,512,740 1,167,790
51,600 52,700
866,191 902,103
12,740 20,254
494 509
26,520 9,564
90,566 61,200
2,560,851 2,214,120
51,159 29,379
393,003 275,061
20,516 17,245
31,238 -
180,854 139,603
676,770 461,288
81,688 65,518
159,735 100,765
9,197 190
1,251 1,824
- 27,018
221,015 125,864
253,536 185,061
726,422 506,240
(49,652) (44,952)
2,511,199 2,169,168
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

RAEMBHRRARGE)

As at 31 December 2021
#2021F12H31H

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities

Provision for restoration costs
Deferred tax liabilities

Contingent consideration payables
Bank borrowings

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

The consolidated financial statements on pages 106 to 208 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 March 2022 and

signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Yu Bangping
RIFEE
DIRECTOR

BE

FRBEE
HERE

ERR AR R
EIERIRAE
e AARME

RITREFK

BEEFE
BRRHE
A

e

Mg

2021 2020

NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
(s ARETT AREET T
26 2,575 -
29 44,974 43,028
18 16,811 30,001
28 378,095 326,011
27 301,000 251,000
743,455 650,040

1,767,744 1,619,128

31 14,136 14,136
1,753,608 1,504,992

1,767,744 1,519,128

HNE106E 208 E M4 A M ISR R EHRE
EFER2022F3 423 A #Ht A MR HETIEE - Wi
UTALEE :

Mr. Li Xuezhong
ZERESE
DIRECTOR

BE



At 1 January 2020

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year

Dividend recognised as distribution

Transfer to statutory surplus reserve

At 31 December 2020

Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year

Dividend recognised as distribution
(note 11)

Transfer to statutory surplus reserve

At 31 December 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GARBRDE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

EZE20214F12A81BILFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
RORHEE AL
Statutory
Share Share Other surplus Retained
capital premium reserve reserve profits Total
SRR
e kiigE Hitbfitte s REEA Azt

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT  ARETR  ARBTRT  ARETR
(note (i) (note (i)

(REEE()) (P (i)

1202051 A1R 14,136 480,355 212,664 46,026 457,063 1,210,244
ENEFRZERALE

- - - - 345,480 345,480

REDELRE - (36,596) - - - (36,596)

BRRETRRGERE - - - 38,049 (38,049) -

12020512318 14,136 443,759 212,664 84,075 764494 1519,128
R R2ERAEE

- - - - 301,770 301,770
REDERE i)
- (63,154) - - - (53,154)
EREETRHEE - - - 31,350 (31,350) -

20216127317 14,136 390,605 212,664 115,425 1,034,914 1,767,744
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued)
rRE MBI ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

Notes:

(i)

(i)

Other reserve as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 represented the aggregate
amount of (i) the aggregate profit of RMB130,191,000 in respect of operations
of the Mining Business (as defined in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements of the annual report for year ended 31 December 2019) carried out
by Old Operating Entities (as defined in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements of the annual report for year ended 31 December 2019) prior to the
Assets Transfer (as defined in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
of the annual report for year ended 31 December 2019) and the profit was
legally belonged to Old Operating Entities and non-distributable by the Group;
(ii) net credit transfer of RMB39,186,000 prior to 1 January 2018, net debit
transfer of RMB40,102,000 and RMB221,753,000 during the year ended 31
December 2017 and 2018, respectively, from the non-controlling interests
in respect of the change in shareholding of the subsidiaries without losing
control during the Reorganisation (as defined in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements of the annual report for year ended 31 December 2019);
(iii) the credit of RMB5,664,000 arisen from the derecognition of assets and
liabilities of Old Operating Entities during the year ended 31 December 2016;
and (iv) distribution of profits of a subsidiary of RMB145,860,000 to the then
shareholders (except for Hong Kong Resources (as defined in note 2 of
consolidated financial statements for year ended 31 December 2019)) during
the year ended 31 December 2018.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”), before distribution of the net profit each year, the
subsidiaries established in the PRC shall set aside 10% of their net profit after
taxation for the statutory surplus reserve fund (except where the reserve has
reached 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered capital). The statutory reserve
fund can only be used, upon approval by the board of directors of the relevant
subsidiaries and by the relevant authority, to offset accumulated losses or
increase capital.

BiEE

(ii)

720214 % 2020412 A 31 B 00 H (% 45
ATHSHENAMN : ((MELEER(TR
BHZE2019F12 A1 B ILFEREF 247
AUBMERNT2) EEEER(TEERLE
F2019F12 A1 B IEFEHRER 256
R ) ATETHRBEER (EER
HZE2019F12 A1 B L FERE P 245
AR E2) B BN R REARE
130,191,0007C * & m FIfE AR EBRE
EEERE  AKETAHIK: ()REACE
£ B EHE2019F12A31 B I FERE
2R A B TSR ER 2) HAR I 4B K A 4
HIP BB A mIAR A B 8D - 5 BIR201841 A
1HATA R E E20174F % 2018F 12 531 H
IEFEHE RS ETEDFEEEA
K#39,186,000 L AR EEEEFHEAR
#40,102,0007T &2 A R #5221,753,000 7T
(i) =2016F12 A31 B L FE KR ILFERE
CEERNEENRABREEANEEARKE
5,664,0007T ¢ X (iv)&E £20184F12 431 H
HEERERNRR(EEEDER(EE
BHZE2019F12 A1 B ILFEREF 247
& IHRERMIE2)BRIN) IR —FEIF B A R
S I A R #145,860,0007T °

R EARLMNE ([ E ) BEEER
ERETR - REFEDIRANA - KNP E
B SZE B A R ZE B B BR TR AL FIH010%
BRIPAERARRREES (ARBEINEA
Bl & ARH50% ERRIN) o EAEREME A
AESE RAMAPIHER - REERHR
ESERANEHRERIUEINER -



OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Fair value change of investment
properties
Fair value change of contingent
consideration payables
Amortisation of mining rights
Loss on disposal/written off of property,
plant and equipment
Interest income

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

Increase in inventories
Increase in trade and bills receivables
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

KEEE
B A AR A
SLATIRE (EHHFHE
BE A
W% - BERRBITE
BREMEQFER
N SHARERTHEES)

PRUZHEHE 5
HEMEWE - BE RREOEER

A BUA

BEESEHINEEEESRE

BRI
CLLEETE LR

(Increase) decrease in deposits, prepayments &% -+ JBATF0E K EAb e Y3k

and other receivables
Increase in trade payables
Decrease in other payables and accrued
charges
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities
Decrease in amounts due to related parties

Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(S 00) D
CEL P
£ SR R AL

BRAREOEM KD
JRE AN RS 73 SRIBR

REMRBRE
EANEED

KEEBRERE TR

an\ Eﬁa%/)lbi%‘%

For the year ended 31 December 2021

EE2021412831H L5 E
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFIT
411,428 484,385
23,048 21,223
83,307 80,451
1,100 30
308,518 16,072
35,912 38,238
4aM 2,383
(911) (4,946)
862,843 637,836
(21,780) (12,111)
(199,442) (109,845)
(3,256) 73,948
16,170 14,423
70,990 12,204
9,007 (1,557)

- (4,346)
734,532 610,552
(181,104) (118,285)
553,428 492,267
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

mERERERGE)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021F12H31H ILFE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of mining right and related assets
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant

and equipment
Interest received

Deposits paid for purchase of property,

plant and equipment

Increase in deposit paid for acquisition of

mining rights

Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits
Placement of restricted bank deposits

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividend paid

Interest paid on bank borrowings and

lease liabilities
Repayment of lease liabilities
New borrowings raised
Repayment of borrowings

NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE

END OF THE YEAR,

represented by bank balances and cash

REZE

BEYE  BELERE
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HEYE - BB RREMSHR
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FRRETRREZEY

BNRITAERRIRE

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFIT
(428,838) (232,767)
(187,959) (450,000)
1,510 849
911 4,946
(26,520) (9,564)
(29,366) (61,200)
12,030 =
(4,516) (8,962)
(662,748) (756,698)
(53,154) (36,596)
(21,102) (19,362)
(1,824) (3,204)
271,651 376,649
(45,000) (156,765)
150,571 160,722
41,251 (103,709)
139,603 243,312
180,854 139,603
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General Information

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Act Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands on 7 June 2017.
The shares of the Company were listed on the company Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 12 December 2018 and its parent and ultimate
holding company is Spring Snow Management Limited, a limited
liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).
The address of the Company’s registered office and principal
place of business is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and Unit 1003, 10th Floor, Tower 2,
Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 39.

The controlling shareholder of the Company is Mr. Yu Bangping (“Mr.
Yu”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”) which is also the same as the functional currency of the
Company.

Adoption of Amendments to Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Phase 2
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

e ISR AR MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AN
e

BT ERRTRE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE

2.

202112 A1 B ILFE

Adoption of Amendments to Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)

(continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (continued)

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the IFRS
Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the International
Accounting Standards Board issued in June 2021 which clarified
the costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary
to make the sale” when determining the net realisable value of
inventories.

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

Impacts on application of the agenda decision of the Committee —
Cost necessary to sell inventories (HKAS 2 Inventories)

In June 2021, the Committee, through its agenda decision, clarified
the costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary
to make the sale” when determining the net realisable value of
inventories. In particular, whether such costs should be limited to
those that are incremental to the sale. The Committee concluded
that the estimated costs necessary to make the sale should not be
limited to those that are incremental but should also include costs
that an entity must incur to sell its inventories including those that
are not incremental to a particular sale.

The Group’s accounting policy prior to the Committee’s agenda
decision was to determine the net realisable value of inventories
taking into consideration incremental costs only. Upon application of
the Committee’s agenda decision, the Group changed its accounting
policy to determine the net realisable value of inventories taking into
consideration incremental costs and non-incremental costs which
the Group must incur to make the sale. The new accounting policy
has been applied retrospectively.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Adoption of Amendments to Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)

(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments

to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments?®

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)3

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-20202

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AN
e

BT ERRTRE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE

2.

202112 A1 B ILFE

Adoption of Amendments to Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact

on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework

The amendments:

o update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
so that it refers to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework”) instead of Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 issued
in October 2010);

° add a requirement that, for transactions and other events
within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies,
an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of
the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Adoption of Amendments to Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)

(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

o add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise
contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

The Group will apply the amendments prospectively to business
combinations for which the date of acquisition is on or after the
beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2022. The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current
or non-current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met
at the end of the reporting period, even if the lender
does not test compliance until a later date; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

2. Adoption of Amendments to Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (continued)

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the
entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2021
and the related terms and conditions stipulated in the agreements
between the Group and the relevant lenders, the application of
the amendments will not result in reclassification of the Group’s
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Adoption of Amendments to Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it
can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may
be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However,
not all accounting policy information relating to material transactions,
other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to
disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples
are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant
accounting policies. The impacts of application, if any, will be
disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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e

BT ERRTRE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE

2.

202112 A1 B ILFE

Adoption of Amendments to Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such items to
be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed directly
and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity develops
an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by the
accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates involves the use
of judgements or assumptions based on the latest available, reliable
information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is reasonably expected
to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include the applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the going concern basis which assumes the continuity of normal
business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement
of liabilities in the normal course of business. The directors of the
Company have given careful consideration to the future liquidity of
the Group when preparing the consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group generated a net
profit of RMB302 million (2020: net profit of RMB345 million). At 31
December 2021, the Group had total cash and cash equivalents
of RMB181 million (2020: RMB140 million), net current liabilities of
RMB50 million (2020: RMB45 million) and generated net operating
cash inflows of RMB553 million (2020: RMB492 million) and total net
cash inflows of RMB41 million (2020: net cash outflows of RMB104
million), after investing and financing cash flows.

The directors of the Company are of the view that the Group will
be able to meet its debts as and when they fall due after taking into
the consideration of the cash flow forecasts, which assume the
continuity of normal business activity, indicate that the Group will
have sufficient liquidity to meet its operational, existing contractual
debts and capital expenditure requirements for the 12 month period
from 31 December 2021.

Accordingly the consolidated financial statements were prepared on
a going concern basis.

Cash flow forecasts, which assume the continuity of normal
business activity, indicate that the Group will have sufficient liquidity
to meet its operational, existing contractual debt service and capital
expenditure requirements for the 12 month period from the approval
of the consolidated financial statements. Such cash flow forecasts
include expected drawdowns from existing revolving credit facilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties and contingent
consideration payables that are measured at fair values at the end
of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when a company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when a company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when a company loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when a
company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributable to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interest. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if the results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of the subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are

eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets that do not constitute
a business, the Group identifies and recognises the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating the
purchase price on the basis of their relative fair values at the date
of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
bargain purchase gain.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good and service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and the revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is

met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with

an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AN
e

BT ERRTRE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”). In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right
to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

The Group recognises revenue mainly from the sales of coal
products/coalbed methane gas.

Sales of coal products/coalbed methane gas

Revenue from the sales of coal products/coalbed methane gas
are recognised at a point in time when the control of goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been shipped to the
customers’ specific location. A receivable is recognised by the Group
when the goods are delivered to the customers as this represents
the Group’s right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only
the passage of time is required before payment is due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application or arising from business combination, the Group
assesses Whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception or modification date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of leasehold land and buildings that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of
the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property in “property, plant and equipment”,
the same line item within which the corresponding underlying assets
would be presented if they were owned.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications (continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non- lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such
costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term except for investment properties measured under fair
value model.

Rental income of leasing the investment property and subleasing the
leased properties is included in other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as
lease modifications, including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production and
administrative purposes are carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building elements,
the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire

properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets,
other than construction in progress and mining structures, over
their estimated useful lives after taking into account their estimated
residual value, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of the reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate

accounted for on a prospective basis.

The mining structures are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses. Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of the mining
structures using the units of production method based on the actual
production volume over the total proven and probable reserves of
the coal mine concerned. Reserve estimates are reviewed when
information becomes available that indicates a reserve change
is needed, or at a minimum once a year. Any material effect from
changes in estimates is considered in the period the change occurs.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the

carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Mining rights

Mining rights are carried at cost less subsequent accumulated
amortisation and subsequent accumulated impairment loss. Mining
rights include the cost of acquiring mining licenses. Amortisation for
mining rights is provided using the units of production method based
on the actual production volume over the total proven and probable
reserves of the coal mine concerned.

A mining right is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of a mining right, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they

arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Impairment loss on non-financial assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its non-financial assets to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of non-financial assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a
cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Impairment loss on non-financial assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a
cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of
a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated to the assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories are determined on the weighted average cost
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except trade and bills receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL”")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including restricted bank
deposits, trade and bills receivables, deposits and other receivables
and bank balances), which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-months ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and bills
receivables. The lifetime ECL on trade and bills receivables are
assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether the credit risk has increased

significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default; (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment
grade” as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial

Statements and Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(ii) Definition of default
The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable.

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

o information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when the
instrument is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BT ERIF aE (4)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial assets have been occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer of the
borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

° it is becoming probably that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in
the case of trade and bills receivables, when the amounts are
over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice when appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial

Statements and Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount with the exception of trade and bills receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a

loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liabilities is (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (i) held for trading or (jii) it is
designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial
guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging
instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or
contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

o the financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with the Group’s documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire combined
contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities, including trade payables, other payables and
accrued charges, bank borrowings and amounts due to related
parties are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Provision for restoration

A provision for restoration is recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or construction) as a result of exploration,
development and production activities undertaken, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and the amount of the provision can be measured
reliably. The estimated future obligations include the costs of
removing facilities, abandoning sites and restoring the affected

areas.

The amount recognised as the provision for restoration cost is the
best estimate of the present value of the expenditure required to
settle the present restoration obligation at the end of the reporting
period, based on current legal and other requirements. Future
restoration costs are reviewed annually and any changes in the
estimate are reflected in the present value of the provision at the end
of the reporting period.

Changes in the estimation of the restoration provision that result
from changes in the estimated timing or amount of cash flows,
including the effects of revisions to estimated lives of operation or
a change in the discount rate, are added to, or deducted from, the
cost of the related asset in the period it occurred. If a decrease in
liability exceeds the carrying amount of the asset, the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss. Unwinding of the effect of
discounting on the provision is recognised as finance costs.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit scheme and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.

Taxation
Taxation represents the sum of the income tax expense currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

3.

WG EUBRRNELE
REREFTTHE @)

HHEEER

R HMRE BRI E B IR RS A 4 7R
XA EMORBERCEER - 78
RHMEE RN DR /MY - RIFE
SEBRBUBRELENREL
AT ABERARER o

BREZHBH(WIERFEUARSE
BRIRAKEMENEBERRSE

(=
8

o

Bi1g
i TE 45 B BA e A< BT 4 56 Al 2 BRI RE 7Y
TR 4B o

BV HA 5 58 3R T 12 F A FE AR Bt g M =t
B o HREMEFE R E R AFH
W A3 78 32 DA B BB 2R ER Y B T AT 07
HE - ERBENERINGAIER R
Hih 2 as R AT 2 MR AT
A o REBEMBEBRAREIZRE
HRERMKXBEERMNTHEE -

BERBTI GG A M RRPEER
B ERRRE (B S5 B ERTE A 7
HERE BN ERER - ELEH
TR A BRI A AR B B 22 RR A
R o RIETIRE E—RATA R 7R
T ZRER - NE B ERTR
MAT ARG AR MR 28 A
PR o ¥ 2 MER (RIS A BFERSN) — TR
RHBERABMEENERZRET
FEERRVEMNKGFHEN - BIFR
BEMBEERBE/HT TR



Annual Report 2021 £5% 149

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investment
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through sale, except
for freehold land, which is always presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right of use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised due to application
of the initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising
from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement
or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key

Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the management of the Group is required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimates is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the management of the Group have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the management of the Group has reviewed the Group’s
investment properties and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties are held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties,
the management of the Group has determined that the presumption
that the carrying amounts of investment properties measured using
the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted.
Accordingly, deferred taxation in relation to the Group’s investment
properties has been measured in accordance with the general
principles set out in HKAS 12.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)
Deferred taxation on undistributed profits of subsidiaries
At 31 December 2021, the Group provided for deferred tax liabilities
of approximately RMB9,477,000 (2020: RMB9,477,000) in relation to
the earnings expected to be distributed from the certain subsidiaries.
Deferred tax liabilities have not been provided on the distributable
profits of subsidiaries that the Group plans to retain in the respective
entities for their daily operations and future developments. In case
where the actual distribution of profits are larger than expected,
material tax liabilities will arise, which will be recognised in the profit
or loss for the period in which such profits are distributed or the
future development plan of the Group changed, whichever is earlier.
The detail of undistributed profits are set our in note 18.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Depreciation of mining structures included in property,
plant and equipment and amortisation of mining rights
As explained in note 3, mining rights and mining structures are
amortised or depreciated using the units of production method based
on the actual production volume over the total proven and probable
reserves of the coal mine concerned.
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Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)
Depreciation of mining structures included in property,
plant and equipment and amortisation of mining rights
(continued)

Proven and probable coal reserves estimates are estimates of the
quantity of coal that can be economically and legally extracted from
the Group’s mining properties, which are determined according
to an independent technical review report prepared by an external
specialist with the consideration of recent production and technical
information of each mine. However, the mining rights were granted
for terms of 20 years (2020: 20 years). The management of the
Group is of the opinion that the Group will be able to continuously
renew the mining rights and the business licences without significant
costs. Accordingly, the Group has used the proven and probable
reserves as a basis of estimation for the useful lives of its mining
rights.

Fluctuations in factors including a variation on recovery rates
or unforeseen geological or geotechnical perils may render the
management of the Group to change the production plan, resulting

from a revision on the estimates of coal reserves.

Because the economic assumptions used to estimate reserves
change from period to period, and because additional geological
data is generated during the course of operations, estimates of
reserves may change from period to period. Changes in reported
reserves may affect the Group’s financial results that depreciation
and amortisation charged to profit or loss may change where such
charges are determined by the units of production basis, or where
the useful economic lives of assets change. The carrying amount of
mining rights was RMB866,191,000 (2020: RMB902,103,000) and
the carrying amount of mining structures included in the property,
plant and equipment was RMB643,322,000 (2020: RMB476,651,000)
as at 31 December 2021. The amortisation of mining rights and
depreciation of mining structures for the year ended 31 December
2021 amounted to RMB35,912,000 (2020: RMB38,238,000) and
RMB17,338,000 (2020: RMB15,071,000), respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)
Estimated useful life of machinery included in property,
plant and equipment

Machinery included in property, plant and equipment are depreciated
over their useful economic lives after taking into account their
estimated residual values. The assessment of estimated useful lives
is a matter of judgement based on the experience of the Group’s
management, taking into account factors such as technological
process, conditions of machinery and changes in market demand.
Useful lives are periodically reviewed for appropriateness. The
carrying amount of machinery included in property, plant and
equipment was RMB522,079,000 (2020: RMB430,663,000).

Useful lives of mining rights

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives of
22 to 44 years (2020: 23 to 45 years) for its mining rights based on
the proven and probable reserves. However, the mining rights were
granted for terms of 20 years (2020: 20 years). The management
of the Group is of the opinion that the Group will be able to
continuously renew the mining rights and the business licences
without significant costs. Accordingly, the Group has used the
proven and probable reserves as a basis of estimation for the useful
lives of its mining rights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key

Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the valuation
performed by independent professional valuers. The determination
of the fair value involves certain assumptions of market conditions
which are set out in note 14. In relying on the valuation report, the
directors of the Company have exercised their judgement and are
satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the current
market conditions. Changes to these assumptions, including the
potential risk of any market violation, policy, geopolitical and social
changes or other unexpected incidents as a result of change in
macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions implemented
by many countries, increased complexity in international trade
tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/or mortgage
requirements, or other unexpected incidents would result in changes
in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and the
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of the Group’s
investment properties is RMB51,600,000 (2020: RMB52,700,000).

Fair value measurement of contingent consideration
payables

As at 31 December 2021, contingent consideration payables
amounting to RMB631,631,000 (2020: RMB511,072,000) are
measured at fair value which is determined based on significant
unobservable inputs using valuation techniques. Judgement
and estimation are required in establishing the relevant valuation
techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Whilst the Group
considers these valuations are the best estimates, the ongoing
COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in greater market volatility
and may cause further disruptions to the investees businesses,
which have led to higher degree of uncertainties in respect of the
valuations in the current year. Changes in assumptions relating to
these factors could result in material adjustments to the fair value of
these instruments. See notes 28 and 36 for further disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)
Provision for restoration costs

Provision for restoration costs has been estimated by the
management of the Group based on current regulatory requirements
and is discounted to present value. The management of the Group
estimated this liability for final reclamation and mine closure based
on detailed calculations of the amounts and timing of future cash
flows that a third party may be required to perform the required
work. However, significant changes in the regulatory requirements,
timing of performance of reclamation activities or discount rate will
result in changes to the amount of provision from period to period.
The provision is reviewed regularly to properly reflect the present
value of the obligation arising from the current and past mining
activities. The carrying amounts of provision for restoration costs
was RMB44,974,000 (2020: RMB43,028,000).

Revenue and Segment Information

Revenue

Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received and
receivable from the sales of goods and services provided by the
Group to related party/external customers, net of related taxes, for
the year.

The following is the disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers:

Types of goods and services EmkREER

R —BF T ER -

Recognised at a point in time:

Sales of coal products: SHE B REMD |

- Raw coal — A

— Clean coal —FER

- Middling coal —HK

— Sludge coal — ek
Sales of coalbed methane gas HEKER
Geographical market i i

The PRC i
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Revenue and Segment Information (continued)
Revenue (continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Sales of coal products and coalbed methane gas

For sales of coal products and coalbed methane gas, revenue is
recognised when the control of goods is transferred, being when the
goods are delivered to the customer’s specific location. A receivable
is recognised by the Group when the goods are delivered to the
customers as this represents the Group’s right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is required
before payment is due. The customers have neither rights of return
nor rights to defer or avoid payment for the goods once they are
accepted by the customers upon receipt of goods. The contracts
signed with the customers are short-term and fixed price contracts.

All revenue contracts are for period of one year or less. As permitted
by HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

Segment information

The Group’s operation is solely derived from the production and
sales of coal products and coalbed methane gas. For the purpose
of resources allocation and performance assessment, the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM?”) (i.e. the chief executive officer)
reviews the overall results and financial position of the Group as a
whole prepared based on same accounting policies set out in note 3.
Accordingly, the Group has only one single operating segment and
no further analysis of this single segment is presented.

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue are all derived from the PRC based on
the location of the customers and the Group’s non-current
assets, excluding financial assets, of RMB2,543,402,000 (2020:
RMB2,190,621,000) are located in the PRC and of RMB4,215,000
(2020: RMB2,736,000) are located in Hong Kong, respectively, by
physical location of assets.
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N B B E A P PR b A M 2 2 30 3R
BFRE - MASEEEEMRCEE
AHERBEE(TEESREE)P
AR #2,543,402,0007T (20204F = A
R #2,190,621,0007T ) fir FA 7 B &2 A
E# 4,215,000 7T (2020 : AR
2,736,0007T) (I &S ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021F12A31B ILFE
5. Revenue and Segment Information (continued) 5. W@k oIER @
Segment information DEER
Information about major customers BT ZEFHIER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding year contributing RAEEHERTRRE10% A 894
over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as follows: EEEREPKELNT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Customer A =FA 419,708 N/ANE A
Customer B =FB 247,582 169,952
Customer C ZFC 569,556 214,898
Customer D ZFED N/ATE A # 375,719
Customer E EFE N/ATIE A * 301,365
9 The customer did not contribute over 10% of total sales of the Group ’ RAERFE  ZEFLEAAEHE
during the relevant year. SHEMRTEERI10%IA L ©
* No revenue attributed from the relevant customer. * KB P WA BT -
6. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments 6. ESZREEHM
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments @ ESERTBRERM
The emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the HRASENERC N SEN
Company by entities comprising the Group are as follows: RAREZOHHD
Mr. Lam Mr. Punnya Ms. Cheung
Mr.Sun M. Wang Mr.Li Chik Shun, Mr. Yu Mr.Yu  Mr.Fong Niraan ~ SuetTing, ~ Mr. Wang
Mr. Yu Dawei Shize  Xuezhong ~ Marcus  Zhilong Xiao  WaiHo  DeSiva Samantha  Xiufeng Total
Punnya
Niraan
FEE BAREE IHERE ZERRE WEERE RTERE  RBRE PEERE DeShati REEZT IFBEE &t
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARMTE ARSTR ARATR ABBTR ARMTR ABMTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTE ARMTR ARMTX
(note i)
(5]
Year ended 31 December 2021 HEN 51231 BILER
Fees e 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 299 299 299 200 1,797
Other emoluments: At -
Salaries and other benefits e REER 899 899 899 1,381 2538 399 399 = = = = 414
Retirement benefits schemes RIVBRIFBIER
contributions 19 - 19 20 20 17 17 - - - - 112
Total emoluments Faick 1,018 999 1,018 1,501 2,658 516 516 299 299 299 200 9,323
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE
. == [ == .
6. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments 6. EESRESHM@
(continued)
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments () ESRTBEAREHE)
(continued)
Mr. Lam Mr. Punnya Ms. Cheung
Mr.Sun Mr. Wang Mr.Li -~ Chik Shun, Mr. Yu Mr.Yu  Mr.Fong Nraan ~ SuetTing, ~ Mr. Wang
Mr.Yu Dawei Shize  Xuezhong ~ Marcus  Zhilong Xao ~ WaiHo  DeSiva Samantha  Xiufeng Total
Punnya
Niraan
REE BAGRE THERE ZERRE WBERE AXERE  ABRE FERNE DeShatE REBRT IABRE @t
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'O00  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARMTT ARMTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
(note i)
(MzH)
Year ended 31 December 2020 HE00F12A31 ALLER
Fees ik 188 188 188 188 188 188 188 32 32 32 200 2,482
Other emoluments: At -
Salaries and other benefits FEREMET 812 812 812 1,491 2,655 312 312 = = = - 7,206
Retirement benefits schemes
contributions RINEREEIES 14 - 13 2 2 13 1 - - - - %
Total emoluments &g 1014 1,000 1,018 1,701 2,865 513 511 32 32 32 200 9783
Notes: BifeE
(i) Mr. Yu is also the chief executive officer of the Group. His 0} REENAREBITHR
remuneration disclosed above included those for services H oo EREFMEER
rendered by him as Chief Executive Officer. E 7% 77 B 42 2 89 AR 755 B

% o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

6. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments

(continued)

(@)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)

The emoluments of executive directors stated above were
for their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The emoluments of
independent non-executive directors stated above were for
their services as directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director of the
Company waived or agreed to waive any remuneration in any
of the year. No remunerations were paid by the Group to the
directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office in any
of the year.

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year are all directors (2020: four directors), details of whose
emoluments are set out in note 6(a) above. Details of the
remuneration of the highest paid employees who are neither
a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

e REAMET
RIRERIFT B

Salaries and other benefits
Retirement benefits schemes
contributions

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021F12H31H LFE

6. EEREEFMN@E

(@)

(b)

ES TR (@)

PR TESFHEREEE
BARE RAEBEEBNIRS
s fif o BB IFRITES
FMRAREERRRAIES
R ARFS S

REMFE  LEELARRA]
B F N KR B E AT (5% A
MR - REEIWEFARA
EENFHMIEARSIIMAR
& B3 DA 5 B B B 22 )
SAESBERA(E -

& & 5
FAREEREESEF AT
BB E (20205 : (UHEE)
BRAEFHRFFEESIN £
FizE6(a) - BRAZ = # AL (L
FERDNREFHATEHAEH) K
FEEBET

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T
- 1,435

- 16

- 1,451
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMEImAME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

6. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments 6.

(continued)

(o) Employees’ emoluments (continued)
The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the

following bands is as follows:

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

1,500,001 7 %2,000,0007 7T

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office in any of the

year.

7. Other Income/Other Gains and Losses 7.

Other income

Bank interest income

Government grant (Note i)

Rental income from Guizhou Bangda Energy
Development Co., Ltd. (“Bangda”) (Note ii)

Rental income from subleasing (Note ii)

Insurance claim
Others

Other gains and losses
Fair value change of investment properties

(note 14)

Loss on disposal/written-off of property,
plant and equipment
Net exchange gain (loss)

HAKA

SRTTABUA

BT B (BT )

KB EMFEERFEARAA
(T3 ) rE S A (Bt &)

PN=Eavii kit NG Al

PRERIE B

HAft

Hitol s & B8
REMEN R EZES(HE14)

HEME - BiERRENER
HEWZE -« B N R AR
BEE 3¢ Wk (5 1R) 738

BENEEEHFMN @

(b)

1& S 5B (1)
WIEARARES B EFHBERN
THER = ESEE N
™~

2021 2020
Number of Number of
employees employees
EEAH EEAH

1

MNEREMAER  AEBELE
A o 4 B =0 8 A S S A
AW IMAREEHR AR
5 BBy B R B S M R BB 4

f& o

HabW A H bk 2 & &5
B
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFIT
911 4,946
5,721 24,289
1,101 1,101
- 2,457
- 1,239
5,563 1,258
13,296 35,290
(1,100) (30)
(441) (2,383)
3,476 62)
1,935 (2,475)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

7. Other Income/Other Gains and Losses (continued)

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, government
grant mainly represents grants received by the Group upon meeting
production volume target of coal products and coalbed methane
gas and safety requirement set by the local government. During the
year ended 31 December 2020, government grant of RMB448,024
was recognised in respect of COVID-19-related subsidies, of which
RMB388,024 relates to Employment Support Scheme provided by
the Hong Kong government.

(ii) The amounts represent fixed lease payments received under
operating leases.

8. Finance Costs

Unwinding of discount on restoration costs 18 2Rk 28527 # @]
ERIRZEERAFE
RITIEARFE

H A B H]E
HEE BN

Interest on discounted bills
Interest on bank borrowings
Interest on other borrowings
Interest on lease liabilities

Less: Interest capitalised in construction in & : FEE2 LIZEYEAMEH &
progress

During the year ended 31 December 2020, borrowing costs
capitalised on the general borrowing pool and are calculated by
applying a capitalisation rate of 1% per annum to expenditure on
qualifying assets.

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12A31H ILEE

HAWK A, E i s % 5

1€

i

(i)

(ii)

)

HZE20214 K%2020F12 A31H It
FE - BIHPEEREAEERE
FCES MR AT FIT a8 ST A o B R I
EBREEBERLTERTEATKER
R B) - B E2020412 A318 It
F£F - 5tCOVID-1948 i BLHER
BT B AR 448,0247C @ &
AR #388,024 704 & BB BT
AR IS -

FHSBEELEHERTELRERE
HEFIR -

E MR

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBETT
1,946 1,861
1,539 554
19,532 5,675

= 13,577

31 110
23,048 21,777

= (554)

23,048 21,223

HZE2020F12A31HIEFE » — K&
HHERNMAERR A EBRAEF1%
MENEFRFAREREERY °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021

A ZE2021F12 831 HIEFE
9. Profit before Taxation 9. KR¥ANEF
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETTT

Profit before taxation has been arrived at BRAR DR FIAEHER (FEA) -
after charging (crediting):

Auditor’s remuneration % EREMEN & 2,117 2,170
Directors’ emoluments (note 6) EE=HM(H6) 9,323 9,783
Other staff costs: EAth 8 TR ¢

Salaries and other allowances e R E AL ERL 221,768 206,357

Retirement benefits schemes contributions  E/RIEFIET 2% 36,151 20,437
Less: Capitalised in construction in progress J& : fEi2 T2 &AL (100,690) (20,840)
Less: Capitalised in inventories B FEERE (89,031) (146,801)
Total staff costs B TR ANE%E 77,521 68,936
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BEREETE

equipment 83,307 80,451
Less: Capitalised in inventories " FEEARL (73,309) (69,931)

Total depreciation of property, plant and FIATTHAZOYIE - BE

equipment included in administrative RRETERRE

expenses 9,998 10,520
Amortisation of mining rights PR G 35,912 38,238
Less: Capitalised in inventories " FEEARL (35,912) (38,238)

Total amortisation of mining rights included 5t ATTIER R =2 HERAEHE 2 35 42 %8
in administrative expenses = -

Inventories recognised as an expense RRFXNEE 622,916 686,600
Gross rental income from investment WEMERS WAL
properties (1,101) (3,558)
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred B FAEEESWARIREYZFT
for investment properties that EENEELERY
generated rental income during the
year - 2,723

(1,101) (835)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Taxation Charge

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”):

- current year —ARFE

— underprovision in prior years —RAFEERETRE
Deferred tax credit (note 18) RIER IR S (F13E18)
Taxation charge TIEX

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
subsidiary in Hong Kong has no assessable profits for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT and Implementation Regulation
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is
25%. Subject to certain conditions on preferential tax treatment,
the applicable tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 15% for the year
ended 31 December 2021. On 26 May 2021, Guizhou Jiutai Bangda
Energy Development Co., Ltd. &/ A R H Z g2 RH Z B R A A
(“Jiutai Bangda”) obtained an approval notice from the relevant
authority, which approved Jiutai Bangda as being engaged in
encouraged industry in the western region. Furthermore, the income
derived from its coal refinery business accounted for more than 60%
of its gross income in 2021 as stipulated in the Announcement of
the Ministry of Finance, the State Taxation Administration and the
National Development and Reform Commission on Continuing the
Enterprise Income Tax Policies for the Large-Scale Development of
Western China (“Announcement No. 23 [2020]”). The profits from are
therefore subject to preferential tax treatment and the applicable tax
rate for the calendar year ended 31 December 2021 was 15%.

RS (TREMSR)

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BZ20215F12A31ALLFE
BIEX H

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTT
119,937 144,251

2,911 -
(13,190) (5,346)

109,658 138,905

R E BB A RN M E 5 R EE

B R S RS U v
B o

BERFBM R EMEEERDEMSG
BUOEB IR - AR E H E B A A
WX 525% c EREE TEED
BREBIEHET - PEIMBARINEZE
2021512 A31A L FE 2 ERARE A
15% ° 12021F5H26H + EM AR
HERAZERAR(TARHE])
WEIEME R IERN  REASR
BEANEEIHEOSBENEESE -
BEAN - PA20214F - BN T B
MMEBUAB0% A E - FE B EED -
MBRD BRERAEZERLTE
ABARRABECEMEHBRENRE
([[20204F]58235% 1) 2 #5E » Bt
S afA =B EEHBHEE &
£2021F12 A1 B L EFREAR R
B15% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AN
e

BT ERRTRE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

10.

11.

Taxation Charge (continued)

The taxation charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit
before taxation as follows:

BR A A

Profit before taxation
Taxation at PRC EIT rate of 25%
BIAEIR

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax 1~ A 174 5 5% KT 75 2 25
purposes

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax DA RINA TR IS5 2
purposes
Underprovision in respect of prior years RBAFERETR

Income tax at preferential tax rates REBEWETERNEN

FABRIBEX M

Taxation charge for the year

Dividends

Proposed final dividend of HK3.75 cents

(2020: HK3.75 cents) per share (20204 : 3.75/81l)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 of HK3.75 cents
(2020: HK3.75 cents) per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount
of HK$60,000,000 (2020: HK$60,000,000), has been proposed by
the directors of the Company and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting. The final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 has been paid
during the year.

10.

BPBARAEHRRE25%H

11.

kB R EAR B NR3. 758

FIE S H @)

FRBIA HEERBATE NSRRI T

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKET T ARET T
411,428 484,385
102,857 121,096
84,192 21,401
(345) (3,592)
2,911 =
(79,957) =
109,658 138,905
i E

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
49,056 53,154

R|EHRZE - RARESZEM
HZE2021612 A31 B L FE IR K
B% B3P ® AR 8.75/5 Il (2020 4F :
3.75%1l) + & 5% %8 /360,000,0007%
7t (20204F : 60,000,000/87T) @ B
RN EERE NS EiE - LBE
2020F12 A31 A L FE M 5 AR B

BERFAIRRM °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
R BTSRRI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021F12A31ALLFE
12. Earnings per Share 12. BRER
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share RARIHEEANEBHERERNREER
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following FIRE T Y BB E -
data:
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMET T AREET T
Earnings: B

Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings FIR & & S E AR T &9 & F
per share (profit for the year attributable (RAFHEB ANEEFEART])

to owners of the Company) 301,770 345,480
’000 000
TR TFhR
Number of shares: IRDERE -
Weighted average number of ordinary ARFTESRERBT L @R
shares for the purpose IS
of calculating basic earnings per share 1,600,000 1,600,000
No diluted earnings per share was presented for both years as there A MEFEE T EE TS E LR
were no potential ordinary shares in issue for both years. B - W E S E 3 A 2 5| AR EE

BRI



1068 Perennial Energy Holdings Limited & 3 3B 80 RIERAR D 5

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021

EHZE20214F12A31 B L E
13. Property, Plant and Equipment 13. )% - BMERRXME
Office and
Construction Mining electronic Motor  Leasehold Leased
inprogress  Buildings  structures  Machinery  equipment  vehicles land  properties Total
HAR
HRIE BT REREY BE ETRE HEPEH  HELfh  REME h
RMB'000  RMBO00  RMB'000  RMBIOO0  RMB'000  RMBO00  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARET:R
C0sT AR
At 1 January 2020 1202051 318 15310 140055 400856 584654 16693 23223 13,99 915 1,203,146
Additions e 140212 26578 52125 11728 7488 2698 28778 - 31513
Transfer LT (114881) 21,301 76,741 16,839 - - - - -
Disposal/written-off e /i - (1,140) = (7,784) = (177) = = 9,101)
At 31 December 2020 120205124318 40641 186794 520722 TI0967 24181 B4 49T 915 1,569,182
Additions RE 290,102 415 - 18273 341 2791 - 382 430,208
Transfer ag (197,004) 1584 184,009 11411 - - - - -
Disposal/written-off HE /i (1,455) (47 - (7.541) (478) (135) - (4081) (13,735
At 31 December 2021 120215127318 132284 188746 713731 84750 24046 28400 41977 8901 1,985,655
DEPRECIATION it
At 1 January 2020 120201 A1A - 4585 38000 235351 8749 13087 3015 4053 326810
Provided for the year Ende - 6,325 15,071 50,607 2,365 2238 434 3411 80451
Eliminated on disposal/ HE /i
written-off - (167) - (5,654) - (49) - - (5,869)
At 31 December 2020 120205123318 - %0743 53071 280304 M1i14 15247 3449 7464 401392
Provided for the year MR - 6277 17338 52210 2482 2431 817 1692 83307
Eliminated on disposal/ e/ HiEE L
written-off = (33) - (7,089) (464) (123) - (4081)  (11,784)
At 31 December 2021 120215124318 - 3697 70409 325491 13182 17555 4266 5075 472915
CARRYING AMOUNTS KEE
At 31 December 2021 20215127318 132284 151750 643322 522079 10914 10845 377Md 382 1512740

At 31 December 2020 12020%512A318 40,641 156,061 476,651 430,663 13,067 10,497 38,528 1692 1,167,790
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress and mining structures, are depreciated on
a straight-line basis after taking into account their estimated residual
values, at the following rates per annum:

3.33% to 5%
6.7% to 20%
10% to 20%
10% to 20%
Over the shorter of estimated

Buildings

Machinery

Office and electronic equipment
Motor vehicles

Leasehold land useful life and the lease term
Over the shorter of estimated
Leased properties useful life and the lease term
The leasehold land represents the payments for land use rights
which are under medium-term lease (i.e. 40 to 50 years) in the PRC.

The buildings are situated on the leasehold land in the PRC.

The mining structures include the main and auxiliary mine shafts and
underground tunnels. The construction in progress comprises mainly
the main and auxiliary mine shafts and underground tunnels in the
course of construction and machinery under installation.

Depreciation are provided to write off the cost of the mining
structures using the units of production method based on the actual
production volume over the total proven and probable reserves of
the coal mine concerned. The mining structures have estimated
useful lives of 22 to 44 years (2020: 23 to 45 years) based on the
proven and probable reserves of the coal mine concerned.

The legal titles of the buildings, with aggregate carrying value of
RMB151,430,000 (2020: RMB155,177,000) as at 31 December 2021,
have not been granted by the relevant government authorities and
the relevant titles are still under application. In the opinion of the
management of the Group, taking into account of the PRC lawyer’s
legal opinion, all the risks and rewards of ownership of the buildings
have been transferred to the Group.

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

13. Y% BENRE @)

Bt REEtERER - DAYE - BE
RETEE (2 TIE RARIEEEY IR
SN AB BRI A T FRITE -

BF 3.33% =5%

R 6.7%Z=20%

WAREFHRE 10%E20%

T ) =5 8 10%220%

TAE 1 st Al e A B K
TAHnERE

Gizh=¢7ES flsT Al A B R
AN REE

HE TP R HEE(B405 =
504 )8 T L b AR

v

ZERFRRPEEE L

p=1ll

RIEWE Y B T8 i Mo T
B ERIRIEBEMINHNEIEH
B Rt BRI IA M e R eyt -

REBERNZE K ARERE
BERESNEEBRMNARITE - MU
SRR LY BN o 1RIR B B
ENEERMREHEENE - EEHE
Y 5T Rl & A 4F A A22 F 444F (2020
& 1 23F45%F) o

M2021F12A318 - REBEAA
R #151,430,0007T (20204F : AR
155,177,0007T ) BVIE FOA R F#E m R
ERRRE BT R - AR
FERFEP - &t P BEEMAEEE
RFAEEREBEERE BFHMAE
WETEER K EHE SR EAEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

13. Y% - BENKRZRE @
AEBEAEEA
BREEE AW - e R E)

13. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
The Group as lessee
Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant and equipment)

Leasehold Leased
land properties Total
FHE L HEWE HET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKETTT AREETIT ARBFIT
As at 31 December 2021 R2021F12831H
Carrying amount BREE 37,711 3,826 41,537
As at 31 December 2020 7202012831 H
Carrying amount BREE 38,528 1,692 40,220
For the year ended HZ2021F12H31H
31 December 2021 LEFE
Depreciation charge TEER 818 1,692 2,510
Capitalised in inventories BFEEAL (818) = (818)
- 1,692 1,692
For the year ended B Z2020F12A318
31 December 2020 ILEE
Depreciation charge HEEHR 434 3,411 3,845
Capitalised in inventories FEERE (434) - (434)
- 3,411 3,411
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Total cash outflow for leases HER ML B 1,855 3,654
Additions to right-of-use assets EEFREEE 3,826 =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant and equipment)
(continued)

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its operations.
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of three years
(2020: three years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several buildings. The Group is the
registered owner of these property interests, including the underlying
leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
these property interests. The leasehold land components of these
owned properties are presented separately only if the payments
made can be allocated reliably.

Investment Properties

The Group leases out office premises under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for an initial period
of 3 years (2020: 3 years), with unilateral rights to extend the lease
beyond initial period held by lessees only.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase
the property at the end of lease term.

AFE
720201 A1H

FAIR VALUE
At 1 January 2020
Fair value changes recognised to profit or loss

At 31 December 2020

Fair value changes recognised to profit or loss JiNei=End

At 31 December 2021

1202012 H31H
REAFEEY

R2021F12831H

13.

14.

REOATFELD

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

Y% - R KRR E @)
REBEAEEBAE)
ERREE(HAYE  BERSE)
(48)

NREEE  AEERLLBARS
ERDZ - FETTHEALOHNERE
H 5 HA = 42 (20004 : =4F) - FALE
HIRERBEREREE - UREEE
TR R G - RET RS R
BT 5 A MO R B+ 2 B A
AWEEE LT A NI
£ -

N AEBERETRT - AKH
RRENEER(BREERBELT)
MEBEREAA - CHRKREZEMERE
BN —IRERK - ZEBBYEDN
HET IS EHE S EH M REER 52
DENERTBILZS

REWZE

AEBBESCLHSEARAZTME
WEHEAKBAE - ZEHE—RVF
ABHE=F(2020%F : =F) & EAHEA
BHEREBHARTREVIATELE

HAMAEEHNEEERE BN
EEEE  BMAKBYAREBRHEHE
RHFTEHMSNERKR - HEA OB
TEERGREEERE SAEAR
HHERREEA R EREE -

Owned
properties
BB
RMB’000
ARBTFT

52,730
(30)

52,700
(1,100)

51,600
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BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

14.

Investment Properties (continued)

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured
using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

The fair value of investment properties as at 31 December 2021
and 2020 have been arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out
by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, independent qualified
professional valuer not related to the Group.

The fair value of investment properties was determined based on
the direct comparison approach assuming sale of each of these
properties in existing state and by making reference to comparable
sales transactions as available in the relevant market and adjusted
for differences in the location and condition. There has been no
change on the valuation technique used during the year ended 31
December 2021.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is their current use. At the end of
the reporting period, the management of the Group works closely
with the independent qualified professional valuer to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs into the model. Where
there is a material change in the fair value of the assets, the causes
of the fluctuations will be reported to the management of the Group.

14.

RE Y #)
AEERBLLARERFURREAS
HAEB A BB B YRR A
FEBRHE  CHERAEBEE
R

20214 2020512 A318 « &Y
ENTEE R EARE E &R
B A B EE A ER IR SRR
BIAARAREITHEERE -

KEMELNTFEEBEBEEELEER
BURBREHESEZSEMERE
WP ZRBAT IS ESRR & LR
ERGETE UHMNERKINER
FLAFHE - HZE2021F12A31 8 IEF
B PrERR e ERMT RS -

REEHR B E R TER - MERK
ReRsERRRERE REHREH
R AEEEEERBYIABEREE
MEMBEAE - URZENERD
BEDERBARE - WEERATE
BHEBEREY  KBEHBAAEE
EEERS -
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Investment Properties (continued)
Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable input

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in
the determination of fair values for investment properties and

unobservable inputs used in the valuation models.

Date of valuation

fhE A

31 December 2021

2021124318

31 December 2020

2020F12 4318

The carrying amount of the Group’s investment properties is a level
3 fair value measurement. There were no transfers into or out of level

Fair value

Fair value hierarchy  Valuation techniques
NHE ATERR AER

RMB’000

ARBTT
51,600 Level 3  Direct comparison approach
51,600 E=fh ERUBZA
52,700 Level 3  Direct comparison approach
52,700 E-fh EREHBZA

3 fair value measurement during both years.

The owned properties are stated in the PRC.

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12 A1 B IEFE
14. REYZE @)
ERRABRTIHERARE
ETAFESENER
TREFIREEREMFE R FEMB
EERIM R A ERXAERAO T ATE
R AHIE ©
Unobservable Range of Relationship of
inputs significant inputs  inputs to fair value
aAgEE/
TABERAYE EXBAREHEE ATENER
(i) Discounting  Discounting factors The lower the
factors on ranging from 3%  discounting
location and t0 30% factor, the higher
condition the fair value
) MERKRE HRERENT AR R - 8
RRZ 3%Z%30% ATEES
(i) Adjusted RMB3,096 - The higher the
transaction RMB6,273 per adjusted
price square meter transaction price,
the higher the fair
value
i) HRERH  BYHRARE THERH
(B 3,0067TF EUER
AE#6,2737C ATEES
() Discounting  Discounting factors The lower the
factors on ranging from5%  discounting
location and t0 30% factor, the higher
condition the fair value
0 FERKRE BERENT AR R - 8
RR% 5%%30% ATHEES
(i) Adjusted RMB3,269 - The higher the
transaction RMB6,446 per adjusted
price square meter transaction price,
the higher the fair
value
(i) &BEXS  BIARAEE  EFERS
Bk 3,269L% EUER
AR%6,4467T ATEES
FEBREMEFNRAERE=R
FEGE - Fmﬂif ﬁﬁ@ki
BHE=QAFEFE -

BEMEMLRPHE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

15. Mining Rights

COST

At 1 January 2020
Addition

At 31 December 2020 and 2021

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION

At 1 January 2020
Charge to profit or loss

At 31 December 2020
Charge to profit or loss
At 31 December 2021

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 31 December 2021

At 31 December 2020

15.

DS

720201 A1H
ANE (FiEE16)

M20204F K2021512 H31H

RETH#H

7202041 A1H
BBk

202012831 H

SECEEilES

R2021F12F31H

BRMEE
R2021F12A831H

72020412 H31H

The mining rights represent the rights for the mining of coal reserves

located in Hongguo Town and Yanchang Village, Panzhou County,

Guizhou Province, the PRC. The mining rights have average

remaining legal lives of 18 years (2020: 19 years) but in the opinion

of the management of the Group, the Group will be able to renew

the mining rights and business licences without incurring significant

costs.

PRIERE

RMB’000
ARBT T

160,386
824,941

985,327

44,986
38,238

83,224
35,912

119,136

866,191

902,103

PR AR 18 B R A 7 A B & M A RN
SAAT SR SA I 3F 35 A0 A KR Ik 1 2 A0 4
B o RIEREFHBR T EEFRA18F
(20204 : 195F) - EASEETEER
B REE KRS R R R SRS ET
AR BRI BB E £ B AR °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Mining Rights (continued)

Amortisation are provided to write off the cost of the mining rights
using the units of production method based on the actual production
volume over the total proven and probable reserves of the coal mine
concerned.

The Group has pledged mining right with carrying amounts of
RMB55,624,000 (2020: RMB57,925,000) to secure other bank
borrowings granted to the Group.

Acquisition of Mining Right and Related Assets
On 4 November 2019, Jiutai Bangda, an indirectly wholly-ownded
subsidiary of the Company, entered into sale and purchase
agreement with #8 % ¥ 35 48 3 R )8 £ 7% (Pan County Yangchang
Village Xiejiahegou Coal Mine) and & /H{EEKRE B R A F] (Guizhou
Dejia Investment Co., Ltd.) (collectively referred to as the “Vendors”)
pursuant to which, Jiutai Bangda has conditionally agreed to
purchase, and Vendors have conditionally agreed to sell a target
underground coal mine located in Panzhou City, Guizhou Province
(the “Target Mine”), together with assets related to the Target Mine
at a total consideration of RMB1,100,000,000 (the “Acquisition”) with
a profit guarantee arrangement as set out in note 29. The Acquisition
was completed on 1 January 2020.

In accordance with HKFRS 3 Business Combinations, the Group
determined that no integrated set under the Acquisition is capable
of being conducted and managed as a business and concluded that
the Acquisition is an acquisition of assets.

Assets recognised at the date of acquisition:

Property, plant and equipment M - BWE KREE

Mining right PRAEE
Other receivables HAb FEUFRIA

15.

16.

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

PRUERE (@)
EERABNEE R G REIRE
B S L AR BAUAEHRE - 1
Y SRR ORCA o

REEE #EME A R ¥55,624,000
TR (2020F 0 AR
57,925,0007T ) A - AERE T AL
BREADIRITHE °

WEE SRR R HEEE
M2019F11 48 » AR RINEEE
N EPNS VE i e
SOMBEREEENEERERR AT
(HFBIER DL EEHE - Bt
ARHEBGHREEE  mMEHE
BHEREHSMRE MG MR B
TR B R - ERHEE
EHBEEENEE  BREAARE
1,100,000,0007C ([ W iE=1E ) » &
i sE20FT S E FIRE - WESEHEER
20201 A1 B/ °

AEBERREBVHREFINRFF
AU EEWEERR T Y EREAES
ERES—BEXFEERERE  BRA
WEEE TR WS — IR A E -

WS B BRRER N B E ¢

RMB’000
ARETTT

160,716

824,941
69,343

1,055,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

16. Acquisition of Mining Right and Related Assets  16. WEBRIEERIEEEE @)

(continued)

The fair value of consideration as at 1 January 2020 consists of the M20206F1 A18 - REMAFESE
below: T3 &8
RMB’000
ARBFIT
Cash consideration paid BENBEERE 560,000
Contingent consideration payable (note 29) FERTER AR E (PH7E29) 495,000
1,055,000
17. Restricted Bank Deposits 17. ZRFIRITER
The restricted bank deposits are amounts held in a bank under the PR R 1T RIS AR 58 P B AR B AT
requirement of the relevant government authority of the PRC in R TERRBRENRITFENS
respect of environmental rehabilitation. The amounts will be released o2 HEZMRBEBLUARRTRET
at the cessation of mining activities or closure of mines if and only EREBRNER - AIZZFBHER
if the environmental rehabilitation work of the relevant mines meets 1R E BRI E Bk B PR LU B AR BR © %
government’s requirements. Such deposits are classified as non- EFEREDBERIERDEE - XR
current assets. The restricted bank deposits carried interest at il SR1 T SIRIR 1T T 35 A% 0.38[F
prevailing market rate of 0.38% (2020: 0.38%) per annum. (20204 : 0.38[E2 )T & °
Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31 December BEAEE20214F 202012 4318 1E

2021 and 2020 are set out in note 36. FEREF AR F BT EE36 ©
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A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

EZE20214F12A81BILFE
Deferred Tax 18. ELEBIIE
The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised IATARAEE BT REHEARSE
by the Group and the movement thereon, during the current year BRNEBRCEHBEE(BR) R
and prior reporting period. HEg) o
Fair value
adjustment
on property,
Accelerated plant and
tax equipment,
depreciation prepaid lease Undistributed Revaluation
and payments and profits of of investment
amortisation mining rights subsidiaries properties Total
nE HER
i BAHE
MEFENE  FENRGEE RAEH
R WATERE WEA = ER RENEBAH &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTIL N S ARBTT ARBTTL
At 1 January 2020 1202051 A1H (49,859) 26,199 9,477 2,210) (35,347)
Credit to profit or loss FABR 3,541 1,797 - 8 5,346
At 31 December 2020 720206124318 (46,318) 27,996 ©477) (2,202) (30,001)
Credit to profit or loss iAER 10,542 2,378 = 215 13,190
At 31 December 2021 12021512318 (35,776) 30,369 (9,477) (1,927) (16,811)
MiEE : 9% - BB REE  ENEEHE

Note: The temporary difference from the fair value adjustment on property,
plant and equipment, prepaid lease payments and mining rights
are mainly arisen from the Assets Transfer that these assets are
transferred to Jiutai Bangda with reference to the their fair values
estimated by an independent qualified professional valuer not related
to the Group. Such fair value adjustments result in an increase in
tax bases of Jiutai Bangda. For the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, the Group did not recognise such fair value
adjustments as these assets are measured at cost model. Thus, a
deductible temporary difference is arisen from the difference between
the carrying amount of these assets and their tax bases.

VAT RUBEHE RO A B F B S 2 R
TEERAEEREL  MRTE
EE2EVERBOBUAERE
EAEMGEZEEENATER
ERTARHE - ARATERE
BHAFZHOBEELMN - RimE
SEPBHREKRE  ARREEER
PRAEAEE - AR E I ERER
ERANFERAR - At - AIHE
REFREZSEAENRAERR
MEZ HHZERR °
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

18. Deferred Tax (continued)
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances
for financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax liabilities FERIEE F

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiary
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been
provided for in these consolidated financial statements in respect
of temporary differences attributable to certain retained profits
of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to RMB1,013,714,000 (2020:
RMB700,216,000) as at 31 December 2021, as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not be reversed in the
foreseeable future. As at 31 December 2021, a deferred tax liability
of RMB9,477,000 (2020: RMB9,477,000) has been recognised in
respect of undistributed profits of subsidiaries in the PRC amounting
to RMB94,770,000 (2020: RMB94,770,000).

19. Inventories

Coal products W R E
Auxiliary materials and spare parts R

18.

19.

EIERLIE (40)
RAREARBRRENEITE - &
FEEHELERSECEE - 1L
T ARERHRE B o2 BEFER
BAHT -

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBETT

(16,811) (30,001)

BIEREIREMERE © 5200841
A18 8 - REME A RZE AR
wAE IR SNBSS - 455
BRERLAFN20215F12 A31 A
M8 A RE TRE &S B R =
%8 A FR#1,013,714,000 7T (20204 :
AR#700,216,0007T ) {E L EEFi 18
Bl R AN S B B S ) B A
EZREMER  MEREZEAETEN
A 7E B R B E o 72021412 A 31
B ANEEZTBEMBRRERD KR
A R #94,770,000 7T (20204 : A
[R#£94,770,0007T) BERELERIE & (&
AR #9,477,0007T (20204 : ARKE
9,477,0007T) °

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T

6,500 3,414
44,659 25,965

51,159 29,379
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Trade and Bills Receivables

Trade receivables B S EWGRIE
Bills receivables e =
Total st

As at 1 January 2020, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to RMB92,874,000.

As at 31 December 2020, included in trade receivables are
RMB73,000 and RMB873,000 due from Bangda and Guizhou Yue
Bang Integrated Energy Co., Ltd. (“Yuebang”), respectively. Bangda
is 90% owned by Mr. Yu, and Yuebang is an associate of Bangda.

The Group allows credit period of 0-30 days to its trade customers.
All bills receivables are matured within one year (2020: within
one year). The following is an ageing analysis of trade and bills
receivables net of impairment losses presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period. For customers who used
bank bills to settle their trade receivables upon the expiry of the
initial credit period, the ageing analysis of bills receivables at the end
of the reporting period was based on the date of the Group’s receipt
of the bills from the customers.

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

B 5 RIGRE R ERRE

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
137,042 105,961
255,961 169,100
393,003 275,061

R2020F1 A1H @ REABHFTEERN
B Z 08 A A R#92,874,0007T °

202012 A31H » EHREWFIBE
FEoOREKFEREMNBBLERS R
EREERAR(EFR]) ARKT3,000
TR AREES73,0007T © FERRILE
WBE0% R - MEFHAPBEZHE
NG

REEGETHESEFPHEERRIE
30H - FTARKEEAN —FANEH
(20204 : —5FA) c L TTARS]RE
HRIRBZA 27 E FRBGRER
FEUW IR ANBR R E BB R BRER D AT ©
HEARTEREEVREERME
MESBRKRZENRTFEME  REH
HHREREEORR D TIZRARE
EERFPWERERBSTHE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

20. Trade and Bills Receivables (continued)

Trade receivables E S EWRIE
0-30 days 0£30H
31-90 days 31290H
91-180 days 91£180H
181-365 days 1812365H

Bills receivables JEW IR
0-30 days 0£30H
31-60 days 31260H
61-90 days 61290H
91-120 days 91£120H
121-180 days 1212180H
181-365 days 1812365H

Total

20. BEZREKWFIEREKREZE

(#8)
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
132,911 76,385
3,687 22,971
- 6,545
444 60
137,042 105,961
135,000 32,600
15,200 72,000
- 25,500
65,261 24,000
29,930 15,000
10,570 -
255,961 169,100
393,003 275,061
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Trade and Bills Receivables (continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will assess the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines its credit limits. Credit
sales are made to customers with a satisfactory trustworthy credit
history. Credit limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly.
Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have good
settlement records.

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying balance
of RMB4,131,000 (2020: RMB29,576,000) which are past due as at
the report date. Out of the past due date balances, RMB444,000
(2020: RMB504,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default since the management of the Group are of
the opinion that the balances are still considered recoverable due to
the management’s historical experience.

The Group applies simplified approach to provide for ECL prescribed
by HKFRS 9. To measure the ECL of trade and bills receivables,
trade and bills receivables have been assessed individually. Taking
into account the financial condition of the customers and historical
settlement pattern with no history of default in the past and the
forward-looking information (such as future coal price and gross
domestic product growth (“GDP”) in the PRC), the management of
the Group considers the trade and bills receivables are at lower risk
under internal credit rating assessment and the probability of default
of the counterparties was low. The Group applied ECL rate of 0.1%
(2019 : 0.1%) on trade and bills receivables. Thus, the loss allowance
provision of the trade and bills receivables as at 31 December 2021
and 2020 was insignificant. There were no credit-impaired trade
and bills receivables as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. In this
regard, the management of the Group considers that the credit risks
on trade and bills receivables are significantly reduced. The gross
carrying amount of trade and bills receivables as at 31 December
2021 is RMB393,003,000 (2020: RMB275,061,000).

Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 are set out in note 36.

20.

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

BEZRWRIEREREE
(#8)

RENERFIEP 2R AEEHE
AHMEEEEPHNEEERIATEAR
ER#E - AE AMERNAZEER
B R PR ERMERE - RTEPH
EERBATHER - MEBHITK
BENE S EKRIEAES RIFEHERC

R20215E12 A31 8 - E W HKIEAE
BIEIRE 4 82 858 A K% 4,131,000
J0(2020%F : AR#29,576,0007T) 2
FEURER SR » TR B HAR A HY - @
HisERRE R - AR #444,0007T (2020
£ AR¥504,0007T) B #HI90 H 5k
KE - HEARAEBERERE &
REBEBELR  ZEEHEA/MD
ATYRE - R TR AEA o

AEBEABBARFRESNS
HREERFEORMEIANTEREES
B R =BFRBREREKE
B BZ2RNIEREREEEEE
BIFHE o &5t KRB P BB ISk R EH
RBEREENDHENBTLEEEREN
LA K2 BT 4 B Rt (an A B R 2R ok (B
BRBENEERE(TEANEERBE]
BE) AEBEEERA  BER
EEERTE - B EBGRIERE
WEEBERRRAER  RZEFELD
A REERIR - AEEAE HRUGK
TH N e W E R F A 0.1% (2020 4F -
0.1% ) MTEHAEEBEEEX - Ft » »
20214 2202012 531H » B5[E
Wk e & BN SRR M B iB B B N &
X o 1220214 2020412 A31H
WEEERENE Z ERFIE R ER
ZE -t AEBEEEREES
BURHRIEREREENEERBE R
g PR 1K - 4202112 831H * B 5
FEWRIE R FEREBRNRERERA
R #393,003,0007T (20204 : AR
275,061,0007T) °

ARAE E20214 %20205E12 8318 1E
F R ET AN FIBET M FES6
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

20.

21.

Trade and Bills Receivables (continued) 20.

Transfers of financial assets

The followings were the bills receivables as at 31 December 2021
and 2020 that were transferred to banks by discounting bills
receivables on a full recourse basis. As the Group has not transferred
the significant risks and rewards relating to these bills receivables,
it continues to recognise the full carrying amount of the bills
receivables and has recognised the cash received on the transfer
as secured bank borrowings (see note 27). These financial assets
and financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost in consolidated

statement of financial position.

Carrying amount of transferred assets

Carrying amount of associated liabilities

Deposits, Prepayments and Other Receivables 21.

Deposits to suppliers of purchasing
auxiliary materials and spare parts

Government grant receivables

Rental deposits

Other receivables, prepayments and
deposits

Deposit for purchase of property, plant and

equipment
Deposit for acquisition of mining rights
(note)

Classified as:
Non-current
Current

EERAEREE
AR EREE

BE@HN LB RERZS
P& MR I 4 B

Heme

HitseFIR - RN IR RZS

BEME  BEMRENZE

WEERIERERIZ (P 5E)

B RIRRIBER EKREE
(%)

EHEZESRIEE
K20214F & 2020F12 A31H * AT
FEW R BRI 2 B REXE AR IR EIL
SR ANERETIRIT - ARASKET
MERHZERIEEEANENR
SR Bl NHEERERZSERRE
BH2EEREE - Wi e E AT
rIR e ERAE ERBRITER(RME
27) - ZESMEBEERERBERGS
BB AR R R S AN B B ©

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT ARMET T
171,650 81,500
(171,015) (80,864)

Be s ENTCEREMmE
eS|

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMF T ARMBTT
10,271 10,198

1,470 1,470

494 509

8,775 5,577

26,520 9,564

90,566 61,200

138,096 88,518

117,580 71,273

20,516 17,245

138,096 88,518
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Deposits, Prepayments and Other Receivables

(continued)
Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 are set out in note 36.

Note: On 9 December 2020, Jiutai Bangda, an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a closure quota transfer
agreement in respect of the production quota of Guizhou Chinalco
Hengtaihe Mining Co., Ltd. Shuicheng County Panlong Township
Panlong Coal Mine (& /N # #2318 2= & 1% 3£ A BR A & 7K 9 54 1 38 40 1%
#E /& 7% ) (“Panlong Coal Mine”) with Guizhou Ruomuzi Investment
and Development Co., Ltd (“Ruomuzi”) at a cash consideration
of RMB72,000,000. The deposit (85% of consideration) for the
acquisition of production quota of RMB61,200,000 has been paid
during the year ended 31 December 2020. According to the closure
quota transfer agreement, Jiutai Bangda is required to pay the
remaining 15% of the consideration within 5 days upon obtaining the
approval from the Energy Bureau of Guizhou Province (the “Energy
Bureau”) regarding the transfer, which has been paid during the
year ended 31 December 2021. On 24 May 2021, Jiutai Bangda has
entered into another closure quota transfer agreement in respect of
the production quota of Panlong Coal Mine with Ruomuzi at a cash
consideration of approximately RMB18,566,000, which has been
paid during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Bank Balances and Cash

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held and short term bank
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. As at 31
December 2021, the bank balances carried interest at prevailing
market rate of 0.0% to 1.7% (2020: 0.3% to 1.75%) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 are set out in note 36.

21.

22.

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31ALLFE

%Be - ANFEREMmE
WK IE ()

£ Z=20214F K%2020F12 A31H L E
BB (B ST S IR A 336 ©

BfifaE : 7202012 A9R » AR AIEESR
BB RARARPBEREMNEAT
RERBARETATNTEART])
REMPIREREBEERARK
YR SR 0 B D B T ([ W R )
WA ERZ VAR SEER
& HaREARARKET2,000,000
TC o WIEAERENZREARE
61,200,0007T (R EH85% ) B A EL
2020512 A31B IEFEEL A -
BIR AR IR T E R - ARBE
BREBEMNARRER(ERD])
ERAEENILERSA AT HRE
M5 T15% @ I 2 REE20214F
12 A31 B IEFE (T ° 1202145
R248 - AZ=FPEEENRTFohERE
HER EERIZR] L5 —H#RE
T EG S ReRENAARE
18,566,000 7T + I B 74 & = 2021
F12A31ALLFEX T -

IRITHBRRIASE
RITHEBERSPEMBEERE IR
FHA A=A KA R EERITE
Ko R2021F12 A31 8 @ iRITEH
RIS FRENT0.0EE.7E
(20204 : 0.3[EFE1.75/F )5t & ©

ARIEE20215F % 202012 5318 1+
F R EFENFBET M FES6
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AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

23. Trade Payables

Trade payables B SN FRIE

As at 31 December 2021, included in trade payables are
RMB985,000 (2020: nil), RMB2,219,000 (2020: nil) and
RMB1,334,000 (2020: nil) due to Bangda, Panzhou Hongda
Integrated Energy Co., Ltd (“Panzhou Hongda”) and Yue Bang,
respectively. Panzhou Hongda is an associate of Yuebang.

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days. The
following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

0-30 days 0£230H
31-60 days 31260H
61-180 days 61%2180H
181-365 days 1812365H
Over 365 days tBiB365H

23.

B 5 RN

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREETT

81,688 65,518

RK2021F12831H - ESEMNFIER
FEDRIEMIE - BINTALELRE 8
BAERABI(TRMNAZED REAAR
#985,0007T (20204F : &) « ARME
2,219,000t (20204 : &) &k AR
1,334,0007T(20204F : &) o BINATE
=1-Eild s T/NC]

BEEMNTHEENR/RWR - RE
iﬁ%ﬂﬁiﬂﬁ HZEAHZEINNE ZEN
RIEFRERDMTAAT

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT

21,744 12,963
8,558 8,814
28,156 19,883
14,359 10,907
8,871 12,951

81,688 65,518
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Other Payables and Accrued Charges

Staff costs payable JERTE TR
Transportation cost payable JE B SR A

Payables for acquisition of property, plant  WEE¥I% - = K& ENFUE

and equipment
Payables for acquisition of mining rights YRR IR R (T SRR

Other tax payables E b T IE

Government grants received in advance  TEUR B T4 B (BT 3E)
(note)

Accrued repair and maintenance fee [EEtHEIE RIREER

Other payables and accrued charges E i T RRIE R FE AT B

Note: As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, government grants received
in advance represent grants received with unfulfilled conditions on
meeting production volume target of coal products.

These balances were accounted in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 4.

Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities — current A

>
J

s
|
=
R

Sales of coal products BREmS

As at 1 January 2020, contract liabilities amounted to RMB1,747,000.
For the contract liabilities as at 31 December 2020 of RMB190,000,
the entire balances are recognised as revenue during the year ended
31 December 2021.

The Group sells coal products to customers. Payment received
in advance that are related to the sales of coal products not yet
delivered to customers are deferred and recognised as contract
liabilities. Revenue is recognised when coal products are delivered
to customers.

24.

25.

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

Hitt R FERETER

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT

33,769 29,993
8,738 22,594
64,641 12,020
10,635 10,635
19,314 4,949
10,390 5,940
2,980 4,269
9,268 10,365
159,735 100,765

MI5E : 720214 KX202012H31H * &
W R AT Bh R M R ER R EE B
I E A B UER A T B ©

B BFARIB M 4P E 5K

N T
BRAE

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBETTT

9,197 190

M20206F1 A18 - HABAARE
1,747,0007T ° BtELZ20204F 12 A 31
HIEFEZz &K 8 EAKR%190,000
T EEHREEREE2021F12 A 31
HIEFERR AN

AEERTFPHERRER  HinAR
KN FEFHRREmMHERBHNE
WHRBEAELE S AERREHNEE -
WENRRERRZN TEPRER
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

26.

Lease Liabilities

FENREFIA
—FN

Lease liabilities payable:
Within one year
Within a period of more than one year but
not more than two years

R—FALENZ MR EHRE A

Within a period of more than two years but FARFIA_HERZRAFHEA

no more than five years

1218 A NEER K
GlasRBEE)

Less: Amount due for settlement within 12

months shown under current liabilities

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 121 A& &ZE XK (F AIEREEE)

shown under non-current liabilities

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

As at 31 December 2021 7®2021%12A31H

72020912 A31H

As at 31 December 2020

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease
liabilities is 1.8% (2020: 3.15%).

26. HESE

As at As at

31 December 31 December
2021 2020

420214 HR20204F
12831H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREETTT

1,251 1,824

1,275 -

1,300 -

3,826 1,824
(1,251) (1,824)

2,575 -

A SEEEN T NI EE

FHEMAEAEHSAT

RMB’000

ARBT T

3,826

1,824

HHEaEERMNEFHESER
F=E 51.8% (20204F : 3.15%) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021F12A31B ILFE

27. Bank Borrowings 27. RITER
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TF T ARBETTT

Bank borrowings from factoring of bills RIBASEBRERWEIREN

receivables with full recourse (note 20) S IRITIER(MFE20) 171,015 80,864
Other bank borrowings HEMIRITER 351,000 296,000
522,015 376,864

Secured B 522,015 376,864
2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETTT

The Carrying amounts of the above EAERZ BREEZAR N5 HR
borrowings are repayable™: EiE
Within one year —F LR 221,015 125,864
Within a period more than one year but —F A FRE T HIE
not exceeding two years 211,000 45,000
Within a period more than two years but R LA E LA T BAfE
not exceeding five years 90,000 206,000
522,015 376,864
Less: amounts due within one year shown i : —SFARZIHIFIR -
under current liabilities FItERBBE (221,015) (125,864)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities  FI{EIERB) & &EFXIE 301,000 251,000
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out * B E S RE T IRIE B SR ek PSR X

in the loan agreements. R B A o
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27.

Bank Borrowings (continued)

Secured bank borrowings from factoring of bills receivables with
full recourse refers to discounting of bank acceptance bills received
from the customers of the Group with fixed interest rate while
the significant risks and rewards from the bills receivables are
substantially retained by the Group. The effective interest rate of the
secured bank borrowings from factoring of bills receivables with full
recourse is approximately 1% to 2% per annum (2020: 2% to 3%
per annum) during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Other bank borrowings represented (i) RMB251,000,000 (2020:
RMB296,000,000) secured borrowings from Bank of Guiyang Co.,
Ltd. in the PRC carrying interest at 5.5% per annum with a pledge
of certain mining rights, and repayable in two instalments (RMB45
million on 20 December 2022 and RMB206 million on 15 August
2023); and (i) RMB100,000,000 (2020: nil) as at 31 December 2021
represented secured borrowings from Bank of Guiyang Co., Ltd
in the PRC carrying interest of 5.5% per annum with a pledge of
certain mining rights, and repayable in three instalments (RMB5
million on 20 December 2022, RMB5 million on 20 December 2023
and RMB90 million on 20 May 2024).

27.

SR1T 8 TR (#)
REAZHMEREEREREMER
RITIE IR E A B B A AR AR S
EEFPRERITRLER - mEMK
ZBRNEER R R ERB AR D B
EERE - FE2021F12A31HILF
B REAZHERERKEERERN
BERITEBEIRNERFFNZOR/I%E
2%(2020%F : BF2%ZE3%) °

H A 3R1T &5 ()7 B (7 B (5 3R 1T
BNDERATEABERERAR
#& 251,000,000 7t (2020 F : A R
296,000,0007T ) - & F A E55[F 5+
B UETHREEAER - WERM
HIR(E 2 (7 2022F12 5208 A R ¥
45H BT & 2023F8 150 AR
206 E & 7T) ¢ K (i)fA2021F12 431 H
2 H M ERITIE A K #100,000,0007T
(2020 : T ) g B B ZIR1TAR
MERAREBABERER - RFF
KE5EFE LB THRBEE AER -
78R = B {E &R (72022412 A 20
HAR#SEET + 12023512 H20
HARB5H BT k202445 H20H
AREEQBHETT) °
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Contingent Consideration Payables

In respect of the Acquisition, cash considerations of
RMB180,000,000 is expected to be paid in each of the three
years ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023, totaling
RMB540,000,000 (the “Remaining Consideration”). In addition,
Jiutai Bangda and the Vendors have entered into a profit guarantee
arrangement, pursuant to which the Vendors guarantee to the
Jiutai Bangda that each of the audited net profit of the year ended
31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 generated by the Target Mine
shall not be less than RMB150,000,000 (the “Benchmark Profit”). In
the event where any of the audited net profit of the year ended 31
December 2020, 2021 or 2022 is less than the Benchmark Profit, the
Vendors shall pay compensation(s) to Jiutai Bangda, subject to an
overall cap of RMB300,000,000. Likewise, in the event where any
of the audited profit of the year ended 31 December 2020, 2021 or
2022 generated by the Target Mine is greater than the Benchmark
Profit, Jiutai Bangda shall pay bonus(es) to the Vendors, subject to
an overall cap of RMB300,000,000.

The contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at 31
December 2021 and 2020 by an independent qualified professional
valuer based on the expected present value of the Remaining
Consideration adjusted by any excess or shortfalls between the
Benchmark Profit and the projected net profit generated by the
Target Mine using discounted cash flow method.

As at 1 January 2020 7202041 A1H

Addition i

Fair value change of contingent consideration
payable recognised in profit or loss

As at 31 December 2020
Repayment

72020512 H31H
Fair value change of contingent consideration
payable recognised in profit or loss

As at 31 December 2021 2021F12 H31H

28.

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

A RE
FUEEIEM 5 - 78 B & = 2021
F 2022 F %2023 12 A31 8 1t
—EAFEEFRAINRERBEAR
# 180,000,000 L - A X B AR
540,000,0007T ([ &8 N(E ) © o -
ABRFEBRE HEIY 7w MRE B
& Bl BARARBERE

Z 20204 - 20214 }20224 12 A 31
HiE =A% E % FOEEZMARHT
L A R #150,000,000 7T ( [ £ %5
F1) o8& Z=20204 - 20214 22022
F12 A31 B 1IE = EF E AR —FHK
BIRMAFORELERF - EHARA
RHEXNFEESE  ZaREA/A
R #300,000,0007T ° [Ftk - it B 124
B & E20204F -+ 2021 4F 22022 4
12 A31 B IE=EFEE A —FMESE
KBTI RRERERF - ARFHiE
MEAZNES  HaRESARE
300,000,000 °

JE S S SR E 722021 4F 122020412 A
BIMBZAVERBEYEEREEME
BEFABRIRIR @R A ERB TREZ
T8 HRTR (B K ph B 20 ) 6 B AR BB P
EEREZEN 2 BEME LTS 2
CREFAEMETZ o

RMB’000
ARBTT

495,000

RBRERZBNIARERFEE

16,072

511,072
(187,959)

PIR R TR AR AT (E S

308,518

631,631
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28.

29.

Contingent Consideration Payables (continued)

Non-current JEED
Current D

Provision for Restoration Costs

At the beginning of the year REA)
Additional provisions in the year FRFEINEE
Unwinding of discount RRIR B[]

At the end of the year RER

In accordance with the relevant PRC rules and regulations, if any
damage is caused to cultivated land, grassland or forest as a result
of exploration or mining activities, mining enterprises must restore
the land to a condition appropriate for use by reclamation, re-
planting trees or grasses or such other measures, as appropriate,
after the mining has been completed. The Group provides for the
present obligation of the costs of the restoration.

The provision for restoration costs has been determined by
the management of the Group based on their estimates for the
restoration upon the closure of the mine sites.

28.

20.

FEAF SRR ()

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T

378,095 326,011
253,536 185,061
631,631 511,072

B AR
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TT ARBETTT

43,028 38,912
- 2,255
1,946 1,861
44,974 43,028

RIBHBEMERSRANFOER - W
B AR E B R IR B E & D
EEE - RIRBERVANRES
RZBBFZE - EFEEBARLET
HEMEBEEFES L IREE A AR
B8 o REBEERANE R B E5
TR -

ERRARECARNEEEEEKE
ESRMR K EHERNMEFEE
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30. Share Capital

31.

Details of the Company’s shares are disclosed as follows:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each &XE(E0.015 L) FifAX

B ¢
R202051 A18 - 20204
K2021412H31R

Authorised:
At 1 January 2020,
31 December 2020 and 2021

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31ALLFE

BETRAR :
7202091 A1H * 202045
20214125318

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2020,
31 December 2020 and 2021

Retirement Benefit Schemes

The employees of the Group are members of a state-managed
retirement benefit scheme operated by the local government. The
Group is required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The Group also participates in the MPF Scheme established under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes at the
lower of HK$1,500 per month or 5% of the relevant payroll costs to
the MPF Scheme.

The contributions to the retirement benefit scheme of the Group
during of the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are
disclosed in notes 6 and 9, respectively.

30. WA
RABIHRMOFFIBREAT ¢
Number Equivalent
of shares Amount amount
RAEE o) HER
HK$°000 RMB’000
FAT ARBT T
10,000,000,000 100,000 87,208
1,600,000,000 16,000 14,136
31. EAREFREE

AEENRE R BTELNEK
EHRAREHEEINKE - AEEA
AR AR N E IR E B Hr e M AR R
—BAHETHS - ARBEMNREHRE
T o AREFEKREIFENE—F
ERMELFTRERNHER

RNEB 2 HEIB RS EATESEE
BBIK KRS T8 - BTESFTE
EBERASBEENARZRAE  BX
AAZHNESIEE - XAEEIZREA
1,5007% 7T 3 48 B 5 & A AN EY5% (LARR
1RE R%E)RRIES B o

J
|

ANEE RN E E20214F % 2020412 A 31
Bt FERRREFETEIE D BIR
MIET6 Mo -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

32. Related Party Transactions
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with its related
parties during the year:

Name of related company Nature of transactions
2] NCIREE REME
Bangda Logistics service expense
iz W RIS R 2
Rental income
GEEAUON
Coal washing processing expense
SRR N TR 52
Yuebang Sales of coalbed methane gas
B3 HEKER
Purchase of electricity
BE
Panzhou Hongda Sales of coalbed methane gas
BINALE HEKER
Purchase of electricity
BE

The above transactions were transacted at prices agreed between
the parties.

32. BMARE

BESMBERRATREEIN - RA
FE - AEBEBEEBBTAUATRS

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T
3,656 3,291
1,101 1,101
8,302 7,536
1,988 2,553
4,756 5,474
1,093 -
6,558 -
Ll R 5 AE TR R BT -
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33.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Related Party Transactions (continued) 32.
Compensation of key management personnel

The key management personnel of the Group included 7 executive
directors of the Company (2020: 7 executive directors of the
Company). Details of whose emoluments are set out in note 6(a).

Other members of key management personnel included 8 employees

(2020: 7 employees) for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
remuneration of these 8 members (2020: 7 members) during the year

is as follows:

Short-term employee benefits 5 HR B & T

Bonus 1EAT

Post-employment benefits B2 18T

Operating Leasing Arrangement 33.

The Group as lessor

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

Within one year

—FR

Leases are negotiated for lease term of three years.

Capital Commitments

Capital expenditure in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and

equipment and mining rights contracted
for but not provided in the consolidated

financial statements

34.

B YE - BE MR IR
EATHMBRINER S SRR R
BHEARF

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31ALLFE

BEE R R 5 (@)
AREEASHE
AEEFERBEEABBEARA]
tRHITEE(2020F : AR A
tRHTES) - BENTHFR
H M FE6(@) o B & 2021 F 12 5
BMIHIEFE  BREEAEMNH
Bk B B 3\ & & 8 (2020 F :
tE2EB) - R ZNBKE
(20204 : £HAE)MEFIZAT

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARHETF T ARBT5E
3,782 3,268
604 966
103 51
4,489 4,285
KEEE
AEBEABHAA
RSN EREXENT
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARMETIE
1,101 1,101
LT = ERET AR -
B AGHRIE
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF T ARMTE
17,680 10,800

193
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35. Capital Risk Management 35. EXREKERE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be REEEBEEAR  UBERAEEG
able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return HRERE  RRTEREBEEBRK
to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity EmiEeR RN R AREEF RS AE
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains from prior year. e NBAFE  AEERNEEREK
HRFADE -
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt balance and REE R E AR EBITES S h R E
equity balance. Equity balance consists of equity attributable to miE c MaABRBASEER AR
owners of the Group, comprising share capital and reserves. ISR - BIERA R -
The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on an AEEERERESFRIBELRRE
on-going annual basis. As part of this review, the management of o ERZIERIN—HS  AEE
the Group considers the cost of capital and the risks associated BEREEZREARNA REZIEERR
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the AR EE - BEAEEEEENER
management of the Group, the Group will balance its overall capital BE AEESXNRE  EAFE
structure through the payment of dividends, new capital injection as RRFBATHER - FEUt T E RS,
well as the issue of new debt. ANBERE o
36. Financial Instruments 36. €T H
Categories of financial instruments R T A5
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFIT
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at amortised cost B ATT EC SMEE 593,823 439,157
Financial liabilities TREE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHENAGTTE2eRAasE 699,965 502,265
BRATESFEEEZFH T ABRZ SR
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BB 631,631 511,072

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and bills
receivables, deposits and other receivables, restricted bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, amounts due to related parties,
trade payables, other payables and accrued charges, bank
borrowings, lease liabilities and contingent consideration payables.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.

TREREERBEREEK

AEENTESHTAREE FRK
FENEWRE - 2e REAmRERK
B XBHIRITER - RIOTEHRKR
Be  ENBEBIFE BHRNER
R HftENFELESER - RIT
AR - HER BN REMNHARE -
ZETBRTANFBEREMEHRE -
%% R T EARREA R R Ranfk
R SRR ABERESINT
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Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to its
lease liabilities (note 26) and bank borrowings (note 27). The Group is
also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to its restricted
bank deposits and bank balances (notes 17 and 22).

The Group currently does not have interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group closely monitors its
exposure to future cash flow interest rate risk as a result of change
on market interest rate and will consider hedging changes in market
interest rates should the need arise.

No sensitivity analysis is provided on restricted bank deposits and
bank balances as the management of the Group considers that the
interest rate fluctuation on bank balances are minimal.

Foreign currency risk

Certain bank balances, deposits and other receivables, other
payables, lease liabilities and other borrowings are denominated
in HK$, the currency other than the functional currency of the
respective group entities, at end of the reporting period. Other than
disclosed below, the Group has limited foreign currency exposure as
both sales and costs were denominated in the functional currency of
respective group entities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

36.

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

ﬁl"ﬂIE—(na
eREMREEBERBER(E)
11755 [ %
N
REEGEBEEEEMFE26) A KRIR
TE R (MY aE27) M R 2 T E A X
% o REE T E R REIRITIFR K
RITAERR (P RE17 %2 22) ME ERIA € 7%
ENEEE -

RSB IR B R EORBR o A
m AREEEERYEREAMEST
XEHMIIREEENRKRERE

MEERR - WA R E BT
B REE) -

BERZRBBITERRRITHERE
HERELIN - RESAEEEIEE
RIBIRITREBRHY R IR BT /)N

SN R B
NEWMEHKR - B TRITESR - Be
R E A EUGRIE - B fh eI RIE - A
EaEREMETAST(IESEE
BRI EENEE)E - BRT XA
WEEIN  BREERKARGUEE
EEENIEEEEEHE - AEEM
EZHINEREER o

7N 5% (B35 B 3 SMEE SR BRER o A
o AREEREEERINERRI A
REFRREBEINERINERR
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HE

36.

202112 A1 B ILFE

Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s HK$ denominated monetary
assets and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting period as
follows:

Bank balances RITAERR

Deposits and other receivables R RH M FERGRIR
Other payables HAb T 5RIE

Lease liabilities HEAE

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis of strengthening 5% in functional currency
of the Company (i.e. RMB) against HK$ resulted in a decrease in
post-tax profit of RMB55,000 (2020: a increase in post-tax profit
of RMB156,000) during the year ended 31 December 2021. For a
5% weakening of RMB against HK$, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the results.

5% is the sensitivity rate used and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and bills
receivables, deposits and other receivables, restricted bank deposits
and bank balances as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. The carrying
amounts of financial assets at amortised cost stated in subheading
of “categories of financial statements” of this note represented the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
assets which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade and bills receivables

At 31 December 2021, the Group had a concentration of credit risk
as the top three trade debtors accounted for approximately 78%
(2020: 93%) of its total trade receivables. The management of the
Group regularly visits these customers to understand their business
operations and cash flows position and follows up the subsequent
settlement from the counterparties. In this regard, the management
of the Group considers that this credit concentration risk has been
significantly mitigated.

In order to minimise the credit risk on trade and bills receivables,
the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the management of the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end
of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group applies simplified
approach and always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and bills
receivables on individual basis. Taking into account the financial
condition of the customers and historical settlement pattern with
no history of default in the past and the forward-looking information
(such as future coal price and GDP in the PRC), the management of
the Group considers the trade and bills receivables are at lower risk
under internal credit rating assessment and the probability of default
of the counterparties was low. The Group applied ECL rate of 0.1%
on trade and bills receivables. Thus, the loss allowance provision of
the trade and bills receivables as at 31 December 2021 and 2020
was insignificant. There were no credit-impaired trade and bills
receivables as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. In this regard, the
management of the Group considers that the credit risks on trade
and bills receivables are significantly reduced. The gross carrying
amount of trade and bills receivables as at 31 December 2021 is
RMB393,003,000 (2020: RMB275,061,000).
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36.
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Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables, the management of the
Group makes periodic collective assessment as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables based on
historical settlement records and past experience. The management
of the Group believes that there is no material credit risk inherent in
the Group’s outstanding balance of deposits and other receivables.
For the purposes of internal credit management, the Group uses
past due information to assess whether the credit risk of deposits
and other receivables has increased significantly since initial
recognition. There is no overdue balances on deposits and other
receivables as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. In the opinion of the
management of the Group, the risk of default by the counterparties
is not significant and the Group assesses that the ECL on these
balances are insignificant. Thus, the Group assessed 12m ECL on
deposits and other receivables. The loss allowance provision of the
deposits and other receivables as at 31 December 2021 and 2020
was insignificant. There were no credit-impaired deposits and other
receivables as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. In this regard, the
management of the Group considers that the credit risk on deposits
and other receivables is significantly reduced. The gross carrying
amount of deposits and other receivables as at 31 December 2021 is
RMB?7,226,000 (2020: RMB4,239,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Restricted bank deposits/bank balances

The credit risk on restricted bank deposits and bank balances of
the Group is limited because the counterparties are banks with
good reputation and no history of default in the past and no loss
allowance provision for restricted bank deposits and bank balances
was recognised. The Group has limited exposure to any single
financial institution. The Group recognised 12m ECL on restricted
bank deposits and bank balances and the gross carrying amounts of
restricted bank deposits and bank balances as at 31 December 2021
are RMB12,740,000 (2020: RMB20,254,000) and RMB180,854,000
(2020: RMB139,603,000), respectively.

There were no significant increase in credit risk on these financial
assets and credit-impaired financial assets as at 31 December 2021
and 2020.

Other than the credit risk management policy stated above, the
Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of
asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
on an ongoing basis. To assess whether there is significant increase
in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on
an asset at the end of the reporting period with the risk of default
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

The Group accounts for credit risk by appropriately providing for
ECL on a timely basis. In calculating the ECL rates, the Group
considered historical loss rates for each category of receivables and
adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data.
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36. Financial Instruments (continued) 36. £RiT A
Financial risk management objectives and policies SRR EE B ZEREBCR (&)
(continued)
Liquidity risk BB TR
In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and REEBRDESRR  AEBERR
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by ERAEBETEERAAENE S X
the management of the Group and also considered the unutillised REFEWKTE - TZE B2 EE2021
credit facility granted from a bank to the Group of RMB204,000,000 F12A31BE —MRTRFAEE X
(2020: RMB304 million) as at 31 December 2021 to finance its FAEERIEREAR204,000,0007T
operations and mitigates the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. (20204 : AR¥304B&ETT) ' A B
HEBRHESTEMRESRERD
VR -
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual TRFMAEBIFTESHBEENR
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have TENEEER - ZEFRBIIREAR
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial SEAENRORERHY  ZE@E
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be BEOREBRRERERE - TRERE
required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash FMEREESHESRE o
flows.
Effective Total Total
interest 1-3 4-12 1-5  undiscounted carrying
rate months months years cash flow amount
- LE =z AERES
ERE =faR TR BER ikt FEAE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET R ARETR ARET R ARETR ARET T
As at 31 December 2021 20215124318
Trade payables BHRERFE NATER 81,688 - - 81,688 81,688
Other payables and accrued charges ~ E M FVARE:FER NATER 96,262 = = 96,262 96,262
Bank borrowings HER 42 30,700 193,621 331,002 556,023 522,015
Lease liabilities HERE 18 239 1,074 2,626 3,939 3,826
Contingent consideration payable GRENRE NATER - 253,536 378,095 631,631 631,631
208,889 448,231 712,623 1,369,743 1,335,422
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Financial Instruments (continued) 36.
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

£RT B @)
SREREE B EREE(#)

Liquidity risk (continued) B E (1
Effective Total Total
interest 1-3 4-12 -5 undiscounted carrying
rate months months years cash flow amount
-z nz -z AT
BRI = T=fA RER RELE BHEE

% RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARRTL  ARMTR  ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR

As at 31 December 2020 7202012 A31H

Trade payables B 5 IR NATER 65,518 - - 65,518 65,518
Other payables and accrued b fEATFIE K BT
charges M NATER 50,883 - - 50,883 50,883
Bank borrowings RITER 49 47,364 56,500 332,982 436,846 376,864
Lease liabilities HEER 32 337 1517 - 1,854 1,824
Contingent consideration HAERR(E
payable NATEF - 185,061 326,011 511,072 511,072
173,102 243,078 658,993 1,075,173 1,015,161

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair value
for financial reporting purposes. The management of the Company
determines the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair

value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data
to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available,
the Group engages independent qualified valuers to perform the
valuation. The management of the Company works closely with
the independent professional external valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

BAVEFENEREERESR
RENAFE

AEEETERMIARMBREM =
BAFEANE - ARRERERTEE
B ER R B ABBIEATERE -

fAET AER - AREERERNE
B L AmIS R BRI - T aeE
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BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE
36. Financial Instruments (continued) 36.
Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial liabilities that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis
Financial liabilities Fair value as at Fair value
at FVTPL 31 December hierarchy
RATEGFEEHE
AEHZSREAE M2ANBZAFE  ApEER
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBTT
Contingent 631,631 511,072 Level 3
consideration F=
payable
FERTSAKAE
Note:  An increase in the discount rate used in isolation would result

in a decrease in the fair value measurement of the contingent
consideration payable and vice versa; while an increase in
the projected revenues and profits used in isolation would
result in an increase in the fair value measurement of the
contingent consideration payable, and vice versa.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements is set out
in note 28.

TRIT B
RAFEFENEHEERTH
BENAFEGE
() AEEEHERATETEZ
SHAENATE

Valuation

technique Key input

fR{E LT TE#WAYE

Discounted cash

flow method was
used to capture

Discount rate of
3.2% (2020:
3.8%) (Note)

the present value fHIR*E3.2%

of the expected (2020% :
future economic 3.8%) (Ffi&E)
benefits that will

flow out of the Projected

Group arising from
the contingent
consideration
payable, based

on an appropriate
discount rate.

RIBESERRBREER

REIRIR BRI AR
BN AR ES
BeRh AL
Z BRI
@mZBE -

GEE

revenues and

profits (Note)
TE RIS ER K2 g A

(i)

PREMBREER LTt e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(continued)

(ii) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are
not measured at fair value on a recurring basis
The management considers that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair
values.

Share Option Scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 15 November 2018
for the primary purpose of providing incentives to any directors
(including executive directors and independent non-executive
directors), full-time or part-time employees and potential employees
of the Group and any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents and
advisers who the directors of the Company considers, in its sole
discretion, has contributed or shall contribute to the Group (“Eligible
Participant”).

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Option Scheme:

(i) On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme
and the requirements of the Listing Rules, the directors of the
Company shall be entitled to, at its absolute discretion and
on such terms as it deems fit, grant options to any Eligible
Participant.

(i) The maximum number of options in respect of which might
be granted under this Share Option Scheme must not exceed
10% of the aggregate of the shares in issue on the date
the shares commence trading on the Stock Exchange. The
maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted was 160,000,000 shares, respectively 10% of
issued share capital of the Company on the date the shares
commence trading on the Stock Exchange. The overall limit
on the number of shares which shall be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted, and yet to be exercised,
under the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 30% of the
shares in issue from time to time.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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37. Share Option Scheme (continued)

(il

(vi)

The total number of shares issued, and to be issued, upon
exercise of the options granted to each Eligible Participant
(including both exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in any twelve months period shall not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue.

The period within which the shares shall be taken up under
an option shall be a period to be notified by the directors of
the Company to each grantee at the time of making an offer,
which shall be determined by the directors of the Company
in its absolute discretion at the date of grant of the relevant
option, but such period shall not expire later than 10 years
from the date of grant of the relevant option.

An option shall remain open for acceptance by the Eligible
Participant concerned for a period of the date on which
the letter containing the offer is delivered to the Eligible
Participant. HK$1 is payable by the grantee to the Company
on acceptance of the offer of the option.

The subscription price shall be such price determined by
the directors of the Company at its absolute discretion and
notified to the Eligible Participant in the offer at the time of
the offer, and shall be no less than the highest of:

a. the official closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant of the relevant option;

b. the average of the official closing prices of the shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the relevant option;
and

@ the nominal value of a share.

No share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under

the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2021

and 2020 nor outstanding as at the end of the reporting period.
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Movement on Group’s Liabilities arising from 38. MEERHELANEESE
Financing Activities g
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from TRAFMAEEREZDMEENE
financing activities, including both cash and non- cash changes. BEY  BEAERIFRCED - F
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash BRBMEENEBERBEEREIR
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s REERENAEBEERERER
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing RO EAREEHHEERENAE
activities.
Dividend Lease Bank
payable liabilities borrowings Total
ERE HESE RITHER @z
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2020 12020%1 A1H - 5,028 211,426 216,454
Financing cash flows (Note) BERLRE (M) (36,59) (3,314) 200,632 160,722
Transfer on discounted bills with recourse ~ REABRERBEE
fraaf - - (55,000) (55,000)
Finance costs recognised BRRRENA - 110 19,806 19,916
Dividend declared BERRE 36,596 - - 36,596
At 31 December 2020 20205128317 - 1,824 376,864 378,688
At 31 December 2020 12020%12A31H - 1,824 376,864 378,688
Financing cash flows (Note) BARS RS (F) (53,154) (1,855) 205,580 150,571
Transfer on discounted bills with recourse ~ RELBRENRZE
RER - - (81,500) (81,500)
Finance costs recognised EERRERA - 31 21,071 21,102
Lease modification BEET - 3,826 - 3,826
Dividend declared BEERHRE 53,154 - - 53,154
At 31 December 2021 20215128317 - 3,626 522,015 525,841
Note: The financing cash flows represented the payment of dividend, Mzt ®MEBEBRSREEIARE - EEHR

repayment of lease liabilities, net of repayment of borrowings and

new borrowings raised.

EaE  MREEERLFEE
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39.

Particulars of Subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

W2 R &

Directly held:

HERE :

Coal & Mines International
Resources Limited

Indirectly held:
[EERE
HongKong Resources
BRRDER

Subsidiaries of HongKong
Resources:

BERTERONEL A -

Jiutai Bangda

AFHE

Guizhou Fu Bangda
Consultancy Services
Co., Ltd

ENE A=A RS
BRAR

All the companies comprising the Group have adopted 31 December

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
MR,

BR 3R
HEERER

BVI, limited
liability company
RERUHS -
BRAA

Hong Kong,
limited liability
company

& ARAT

PRC, limited
liability company

HE - BRAA

PRC, limited
liability company
RE - BRAE

as their financial year end date.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during the
year or at the end of the year.

Issued and fully paid

capital/registered
capital

BRITRARE
X/ ERER

United States
Dollars 10,000
10,0003 7T

HK$1
1787T

RMB590,000,000
NG
590,000,000

RMB100,000
AR #100,0007T

RIERR - AAFIMER RS

39. MEBLAFE
s
Shareholding/equity

interest attributable to
owners of the Company

at 31 December
MM2A31 BNALAF
2N A Y
2021 2020
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities

TEEK

Investment holding
REPER

Investment holding

REER

Exploration and mining
of coking coal and
coal refinery in the
PRC

RABBETTER R K
FERIA R B RS

Management services
support for the
group entities and
investment holding

AEEEREHERER
T3k R AR

FrEHEKRAEENARHERH12A
1B AERBEFLEH -

PR A RN F A FEREITEM

BB -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Statement of Financial Position and Reserves

of the Company

Non-current assets
Investment in a subsidiary
Property, plant and equipment
Amount due from a subsidiary

Current assets
Prepayments and other receivables
Bank balances

Current liabilities
Accrued charges and other payables
Amount due to a subsidiary

Net current (liabilities) assets

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

FRBEE
RE—FHRBAR
UE 5 T=INE S

FE W —FRIFfT B 2 B RIR

REBEE
TAI IR R B A FE A IR
RITHEER
nREEE

FEST B A R HLA B 50R

FEAS —FEIFT B A Bl 3RIR

nE(RE)EEFRE

EEFE

BEXKf#E

A MR M E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31ALLFE

BABARR R AN R 5

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREET T
388,330 388,330
257 396

= 3,987
388,587 392,713
209 209
4,155 7,523
4,364 7,732
2,394 2,416
46,362 _
48,756 2,416
(44,392) 5,316
344,195 398,029
14,136 14,136
330,059 383,893
344,195 398,029
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR B MBI A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2021F12A31 B IEFE

40. Statement of Financial Position and Reserves 40.

of the Company (continued)
Movement of reserves of the Company

MBARRRRA R B
()

ARTDHESD

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
IR 1E Z5tEE #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARMET T AREET T

At 1 January 2020 20201 A1H 480,355 (36,180) 444175
Loss and total comprehensive FABEREEASEE

expenses for the year - (23,686) (23,686)
Dividend recognised as distribution #5257k 2 % 8. (36,596) - (36,596)
At 31 December 2020 2020512831 H 443,759 (59,866) 383,893
Loss and total comprehensive FABBRREZHER 25

expenses for the year - (680) (680)
Dividend recognised as distribution #2457k 2 B8 (BizE11)

(note 11) (53,154) - (53,154)
At 31 December 2021 72021412 H31H 390,605 (60,546) 330,059

41. Pledge of Assets 41. EEEH

The Group’s bank borrowings had been secured by the pledge of
the Group’s assets and the carrying amounts of the respective assets
are as follows:

Mining Rights FRuEfE
Bills receivables R =%

AEENRITERBAEEEEL R
TEER - AREEZREEWNT

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT

55,624 57,925
171,650 81,500

227,274 139,425




Results ¥&
Revenue Wz

Profit before taxation &7 A%

Taxation charge THRIEZ

Profit and total FRRA &
comprehensive 2HE AR
income

for the year

Profit and total VAR &7 FEAS S R A
comprehensive MEEWRALRE :
income for the year
attributable to:

— Owners of the S N/NEIL =N
Company

— Non-controlling — IR AE RS
interests

Assets and liabilites EEREE
Total assets BEEE
Total liabilities BEBE
Net assets EEFE
Non-controlling FEFERR A

interests

Equity attributable to A A EHA A
owners of (LR
the Company
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
L FHBEHRE

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A1BLEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFT ARETFT AREETTT ARETTT
1,541,399 1,402,604 812,145 719,412 627,006
411,428 484,385 309,794 256,808 260,612
(109,658) (138,905) (91,773) (73,693) (77,197)
301,770 345,480 218,021 183,169 183,415
301,770 345,480 218,021 176,243 82,799
- - - 6,926 100,616
301,770 345,480 218,021 183,169 183,415

As at 31 December

M128318

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFT ARETT ARET T ARET T
3,237,621 2,675,408 1,677,341 1,399,101 1,098,372
(1,469,877) (1,156,280) (467,097) (406,878) (632,949)
1,767,744 1,519,128 1,210,244 992,223 460,423
- - - - (214,827)
1,767,744 1,519,128 1,210,244 992,223 245,596
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SUMMARY OF MINE PROPERTIES
BRI AR

Hongguo Coal Mine

ARER
Location g Panzhou City
BT
Equity interest held by the Group AEE T RE 100%
Mining area (sq.km.) REEE(TADE) 3.0225
Number of mineable coal seams AREEESE 17
Permitted annual production capacity (tonnes) 57 A] 24 (1) 600,000
Licence holder TAERRBA Jiutai Bangda
ARHE
Mining right licence validity period R TR A January 2019 -
January 2039
2019F1AZ
2039F1A
Coal reserve mine life KR EERNRILSH Approximately
32 years
4325

Resource data under the JORC Code BRIEJORCRAIMEN S RELE

Summary (as at 31 December 2021)" (R2021F128318)0
Measured resources (kt) RAERE(TRE) 17,585
Indicated resources (kt) B RS (TH) 7,800
Inferred resources (kt) TS R=(TH) 13,000
Reserve data under the JORC Code BIEJORCRAIMEN AR HE
Summary (as at 31 December 2021)® (R2021%F128318)"

Proved reserves (kf) HERE(TH) 13,115

Probable reserves (kt) PR GAE (T ) 5,910

Baogushan Coal Mine

BAWLRR

Panzhou City
BN

100%

2.4736

17

600,000

Jiutai Bangda
ARFE
January 2019 -
January 2039
2019F1AZ
2039517
Approximately
44 years
K446

10,662
24,700
7,000

7,832
18,790

Xiejiahegou Coal Mine

HRTRRR

Panzhou City
B

100%

1.0135

19

450,000

Jiutai Bangda
AEHE
January 2021 -
September 2039
2019F1 A%
2039F1A
Approximately
22 years
#9225

15,908
10,350

10,018
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SUMMARY OF MINE PROPERTIES (Continued)
Ry B (%)

The table below sets out the typical quality of the clean coal and middling TERETIAT R R B A L IR A REE &

coal from Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan Coal Mine: H—REE
Clean Coal® Middling Coal®
BEe FRR©
Ash content on a dry basis (%) BZIRIFIN ) (%) 10.7 36.7
Volatile content on a dry and ash free BrIR R BN 30 (%)
basis (%) 33.3 27.1
Total sulfur content on a dry basis (%) B IR D 48 (%) 0.4 0.9
Caking index RhAEIERN 89.9 N/A
Total moisture (%) KD 48 = (%) 10.5 11.8
Net calorific value on an as received ERFTR B B A S EVE
basis (kcal/kg) (FR/F7=) N/A T 3,944
The table below sets out the typical quality of the clean coal and middling TR BB EEN SR LR E
coal from Xiejiahegou Coal Mine: H—REE :
Clean Coal® Middling Coal®
byeld FRIEe
Ash content on a dry basis (%) BZIRIF IR 5 (%) 10.4 N/A i
Volatile content on a dry and ash free B2 1% N IR B 25 55 (%)
basis (%) 21.0 16.3
Total sulfur content on a dry basis (%) SLIRBEIR D B E(%) 0.5 N/A “TNiE
Caking index FHEETEE 86.0 N/A N
Total moisture (%) KD HBE (%) 12.6 10.2
Net calorific value on an as received ER AT E E R FRVE

basis (kcal/kg) (F+=/F=) N/A i@ 3,899
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SUMMARY OF MINE PROPERTIES (Continued)
BRI ()

Notes:

1)

@

®)

The resource and reserve data are estimated by Dr. C. S. Kong of Ravia and
have been carried out in accordance with the JORC Code.

The clean coal produced from Hongguo Coal Mine and Baogushan Coal Mine
are mostly 1/3 coking coal whereas the clean coal produced from Xiejiahegou
Coal Mine are mostly coking coal. The above typical quality of clean coal is
based on the average of clean coal delivered to the customers in 2021.

The above typical quality of middling coal is based on the average of middling
coal delivered to the customer in 2021.

There was no exploration activity for the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2021, and that the Group has incurred
approximately RMB622.9 million (2020: approximately RMB686.6
million), being the cost of sales, for the mining production activities
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

ZEARENFERIERIEENTEKE
TRIZFJORCIRAETTIAA

AT SRR I B L T T A 7 O MR KD
DRVBER - H FON BRI NS
BAMAOBER - LR —REEE
R2021FAMEF RN IFERFHERH -

Bt R —REEER2021 FRAEF R
NEFEERFE ©

AREEREE2021F12A31B ILEE
WA ES) - A E R & Z=2021
FI2A A I FEHRRBEETEE
S E R AR K A R 8 622.97T (2020
F HARKG86.6HETT) ©
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